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PART I
Item 1.

Business of Textron

Business Segments
We are a global multi-industry company with operations in five business segments — Bell, Cessna, Fastening Systems, Industrial and
Finance. Our business segments include operations that are unincorporated divisions of Textron Inc. or its subsidiaries and others that are
separately incorporated subsidiaries.
Bell Segment
The Bell segment is comprised of Bell Helicopter and Textron Systems.
Bell Helicopter
Bell Helicopter is one of the largest suppliers of helicopters, tiltrotors, and helicopter-related spare parts and services in the world. Bell
Helicopter manufactures for both military and commercial applications. A commercial tiltrotor model is also in development. Bell Helicopter’s
revenues accounted for approximately 18%, 16% and 14% of our total revenues in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
Bell Helicopter supplies advanced military helicopters and support (including spare parts, support equipment, technical data, trainers, pilot
and maintenance training, component repairs, aircraft modifications, contractor maintenance and field and product support engineering services)
to the U.S. Government and to military customers outside the U.S. Bell Helicopter is one of the leading suppliers of helicopters to the
U.S. Government and, in association with The Boeing Company, the only supplier of military tiltrotors. Bell Helicopter makes sales to non-U.S.
military customers only with the concurrence of the U.S. State Department.
Bell Helicopter is teamed with The Boeing Company to develop, produce and provide life cycle support for the V-22 Osprey tiltrotor aircraft
for the U.S. Department of Defense. Tiltrotor aircraft are designed to provide the benefits of both helicopters and fixed-wing aircraft. The
Department of Defense continues to support the V-22 program via Acquisition Decision Memorandums that recorded the results of Defense
Acquisition Board meetings in May and July 2003. Through Production Lot 8, the U.S. Government has procured seventy-six V-22 aircraft. An
expanded V-22 flight test program is currently under way.
Bell Helicopter is engaged in the engineering and manufacturing development stage of the H-1 upgrade program for the U.S. Marine Corps.
This program will produce an advanced attack and a utility model helicopter, the AH-1Z and UH-1Y, which are uniquely designed to have 84%
parts commonality, which meets the U.S. Government intent to reduce operational life cycle costs. In December 2003, Bell Helicopter received a
contract from the U.S. Government to furnish six UH-1Y aircraft and three AH-1Z aircraft for Low Rate Initial Production (LRIP) Lot 1.
Bell Helicopter is also a leading supplier of commercially certified helicopters to corporate, offshore petroleum exploration and development,
utility, charter, police, fire, rescue and emergency medical helicopter operators.
Bell Helicopter is a member of Bell/ Agusta Aerospace Company, L.L.C., a joint venture with Agusta, a leading helicopter manufacturer
based in Italy, for the design, manufacture, sale and customer support of a commercial tiltrotor, the BA609, and a new medium twin-engine
helicopter, the AB139. BA609 development is progressing. Ground run testing of the BA609 commenced in December 2002 and the aircraft
achieved its maiden flight on March 7, 2003, in helicopter mode. The aircraft is now undergoing manufacturing modification to add equipment
and upgraded software for additional flight testing to be conducted beginning in the third quarter of 2004. The AB139 received IFR certification
from the Italian
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airworthiness authorities in June 2003, and U.S. Federal Aviation Administration certification is planned for June 2004.
Bell Helicopter supports helicopter operators by providing off-the-shelf spare parts from strategically located distribution centers throughout
the world and real time technical services through an extensive network of technical personnel. Bell Helicopter also engineers, manufactures and
distributes spare parts for helicopters made by other original equipment manufacturers.
In the light and medium helicopter market segments, Bell Helicopter has two major U.S. competitors and one major European competitor.
Bell Helicopter markets its products around the world through its own sales force and through independent representatives. Price, financing
terms, aircraft performance, reliability and product support are significant factors in the sale of helicopters. Bell Helicopter has developed the
world’s largest distribution system to sell and support helicopters, serving customers in over 100 countries.
Textron Systems
Textron Systems is a primary supplier to the defense and aerospace markets. Textron Systems manufactures “smart” weapons, airborne and
ground-based surveillance systems, aircraft landing systems, hovercraft, search and rescue vessels, armored vehicles and turrets, reciprocating
piston aircraft engines, and aircraft and missile control actuators, valves and related components. Textron Systems is involved in supplying the
U.S. Air Force with some of its premier smart weapons as prime contractor for the Sensor Fuzed Weapon (SFW) and is a subcontractor to The
Boeing Company for tail actuation systems on the Joint Direct Attack Munition (JDAM). Textron Systems also holds a primary systems
integrator role on the U.S. Army’s Future Combat System for unattended ground systems and sensors. While Textron Systems sells most of its
products directly to U.S. customers, it also sells an increasing number of products in over 35 other countries through a growing, global network
of sales representatives and distributors.
Actuation products for the aerospace, defense and industrial markets are sold under trade names of HR Textron and APCO. Specialty marine,
land vehicle, and turret products are sold under the trade names of Textron Marine & Land Systems and Cadillac Gage. Weapons, surveillance,
and landing systems are sold under the Textron Systems name. Reciprocating piston aircraft engines are sold under the Lycoming name directly
to general aviation airframe manufacturers and in the aftermarket through domestic and international distributors. Lycoming also is the exclusive
supplier of engines for Cessna’s product line of new single engine aircraft.
Cessna Segment
Based on unit sales, Cessna Aircraft Company is the world’s largest manufacturer of general aviation aircraft. Cessna currently has four
major product lines: Citation business jets, single engine turboprop Caravans, Cessna single engine piston aircraft and after-market services.
Cessna’s revenues accounted for approximately 23%, 31% and 25% of our total revenues in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
The family of business jets currently produced by Cessna includes the Citation CJ1, Citation CJ2, Citation Bravo, Citation Encore, Citation
Excel, and Citation X. The Citation X is the world’s fastest business jet with a maximum operating speed of Mach .92. By the end of 2003,
Cessna had delivered its 4,064th business jet. Under development are the mid-size Citation Sovereign, the light-size Citation CJ3 and entry-level
Citation Mustang. First customer deliveries are scheduled in early 2004 for the Citation Sovereign and late 2004 for the Citation CJ3. First
customer deliveries of the Citation Mustang are anticipated in late 2006. In the second quarter of 2004, Cessna will begin deliveries of the XLS,
which is a faster, longer-range, modernized version of the Excel, and the 2004 Citation X, which has an improved interior design.
The Cessna Caravan is the world’s best selling utility turboprop. Through the end of 2003, more than 1,413 Caravans have been sold by
Cessna since the first Caravan was delivered in 1985. Caravans are offered in four models: the Grand Caravan, the Super Cargomaster, the
Caravan Floatplane and the
3
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Caravan 675. Caravans are used in the U.S. primarily to carry overnight express package shipments. International uses of Caravans include
humanitarian flights, tourism and freight.
Cessna now has six models in its single engine piston product line: the four-place 172 Skyhawk, 172 Skyhawk SP, 182 Skylane and Turbo
182 Skylane, and the six-place 206 Stationair and T206 Turbo Stationair. By the end of 2003, Cessna had delivered 4,915 single engine piston
aircraft since deliveries were restarted in 1997.
Reliability and product support are significant factors in the sale of these aircraft. The Citation family of aircraft is supported by 11 Citation
Service Centers owned and operated by Cessna, along with authorized independent service stations and centers in more than 16 countries
throughout the world. The Cessna-owned Service Centers provide customers 24 hour a day service and maintenance. Cessna Caravan and single
engine piston customers receive product support through independently owned service stations and 24 hour a day spare parts support through
Cessna.
Cessna markets its products worldwide primarily through its own sales force, as well as through a network of authorized independent sales
representatives, depending upon the product line. Cessna has several competitors in the business jet market. Cessna’s aircraft compete with other
aircraft that vary in size, speed, range, capacity, handling characteristics and price.
Cessna engages in the business jet fractional ownership market through a joint venture with TAG Aviation S.A., a worldwide aircraft
management and charter enterprise. This joint venture, called CitationShares, began in late 2000. Initially, it offered shares of Citation aircraft
for operation east of the Rocky Mountains. It has now expanded to the entire contiguous United States.
Fastening Systems Segment
Our Fastening Systems segment, Textron Fastening Systems (TFS), offers a full range of fastening technologies — which include fasteners,
engineered assemblies and automation equipment — to global customers in the aerospace, automotive, computer, construction, electronics,
electrical equipment, industrial equipment, non-automotive transportation, telecommunications and white good markets. Its customers are global
and regional original equipment manufacturers, contract producers, component manufacturers and distributors. TFS provides products, services
and solutions that simplify manufacturing processes and maximize efficiencies resulting in lower total system costs to its customers. Revenues of
TFS accounted for approximately 18%, 16%, and 14% of our total revenues in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
TFS is headquartered in Troy, Michigan, and has facilities located in the following 17 countries: Australia, Austria, Brazil, Canada, China,
France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, Singapore, Spain, Taiwan, the U.K. and the U.S.
During the past year, TFS has reorganized its previously separate businesses into one unified global operation. TFS also has migrated to the
single global Textron Fastening Systems brand from its previous 27 product and business brands, although it also continues to use several of its
older brands. This branding strategy is intended to provide clarity to TFS’s worldwide customers while preserving some of the product trade
names that are well known to them.
TFS produces engineered threaded fasteners, fastening automation and installation tools, cold formed components, engineered and laser
welded assemblies, blind fastening systems and metal stampings. TFS’s Full Service Provider approach integrates its product offering with such
supply chain management services as vendor managed inventory programs, plant provider programs and global sourcing. TFS provides a wide
range of design and engineering services to its customers, and also derives a portion of its revenue from licensing selected intellectual property
assets to third parties.
TFS has hundreds of competitors in the global fastener market, in essentially three tiers: global multinationals with a global market presence,
typically strong in a market or in one or more product lines; mid-sized regionals with some global activity but primarily focused on regional
market; and small local firms with a limited range within a particular product category. Competition is based primarily on price,
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quality, delivery, service, support and reputation. In addition, larger customers of fastening systems and engineered assemblies primarily tend to
procure products and services from the larger suppliers. TFS’s broad range of products and customers and markets reduces its risk of a business
loss that would have a material adverse effect on Textron.
Industrial Segment
The Industrial Segment is comprised of our E-Z-GO, Jacobsen, Kautex, and Tools & Components businesses. On August 1, 2003, Textron
sold the OmniQuip telehandler business to JLG Industries, Inc., completing the divesture of all product lines of the OmniQuip business acquired
by Textron in 1999.
E-Z-GO
E-Z-GO designs, manufactures and sells golf cars and off-road utility vehicles powered by electric and internal combustion engines under the
E-Z-Go name, as well as multipurpose utility vehicles under the E-Z-Go and Cushman brand names.
E-Z-GO’s commercial customers consist primarily of golf courses, resort communities and municipalities, as well as commercial and
industrial users such as airports and factories. E-Z-GO’s off-road utility vehicles and golf cars are also sold into the consumer market. Sales are
made through a network of distributors and directly to end-users. Many of E-Z-GO’s sales are financed through Textron Financial Corporation.
E-Z-GO has two major competitors for golf cars, and a number of smaller competitors for utility vehicles. Competition is based primarily on
price, quality, product support, performance, reliability and reputation.
Jacobsen
Jacobsen designs, manufactures and sells professional turf maintenance equipment, lawn care machinery and specialized industrial vehicles.
Major brand names include Ransomes, Jacobsen, Cushman, Ryan, Steiner, Brouwer, Bunton and Bob-Cat.
Jacobsen’s commercial customers consist primarily of golf courses, resort communities and municipalities, as well as commercial and
industrial users such as airports, factories and professional lawn care services. Sales are made through a network of distributors and directly to
end-users. Many sales are financed through Textron Financial Corporation.
Jacobsen has two major competitors for professional turf maintenance equipment and a number of smaller competitors for specialized
industrial vehicles and professional lawn care machinery. Competition is based primarily on price, quality, product support, performance,
reliability and reputation.
Textron’s Energy and Williams business reports through the Jacobsen management structure. Energy and Williams designs and
manufacturers hydraulic pumps, cylinders, and valves for a variety of agricultural and industrial equipment applications. Energy and Williams
faces competition from a number of large and small competitors based primarily on price, quality, product support, performance, reliability and
reputation.
Kautex
Kautex, headquartered in Bonn, Germany, is a leading global manufacturer of blow-molded fuel systems and other blow-molded parts for
automobile original equipment manufacturers and other industrial customers throughout Europe, North America, South America and parts of
Asia. Kautex manufactures fuel systems for Japanese OEMs through a majority-owned joint venture in Japan. Through a wholly owned
subsidiary in Shanghai, China, Kautex supplies the growing Chinese market. In North America, Kautex also produces metal fuel systems and
engine camshafts for the automotive market and automatic assembly machines and systems, perishable tools and abrasives, and hydraulic
components for industrial
5
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markets. In Germany, Kautex produces plastic containers and sheeting for household and industrial uses. Kautex also manufactures windshield
and headlamp washer systems.
Revenues of Kautex accounted for approximately 15%, 12% and 9% of our total revenue in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Kautex has a number of competitors worldwide, some of whom are owned by the automotive original equipment manufacturers that
comprise Kautex’s targeted customer base. Competition is typically based on a number of factors including price, quality, reputation, prior
experience and available manufacturing capacity.
Textron Tools & Components
Textron Tools & Components includes our Greenlee and Fluid & Power businesses.
Greenlee consists of Greenlee, Klauke, Tempo and InteSys. Greenlee, Klauke, and Tempo manufacture powered equipment, electrical test
and measurement instruments, hand and hydraulic powered tools, and electrical and fiber optic connectors under the Greenlee, Fairmont, Klauke
and Tempo brand names. The products are principally used in the electrical construction and maintenance, telecommunications and plumbing
industries, and are distributed through a global network of sales representatives and distributors, and also directly to home improvement retailers
and original equipment manufacturers. InteSys Technologies manufacturers injection-molded components and assemblies for
telecommunications and other markets. The Greenlee businesses face competition from numerous manufacturers based primarily on price,
quality, performance, reliability, delivery and reputation.
Fluid & Power consists of four business units: Engineered Products, Hydrocarbon Processing Products, Polymer Systems and Standard
Products. Engineered Products manufactures and designs industrial gears, mechanical and hydraulic transmission systems, gear motors, and gear
sets under the David Brown brand name. Hydrocarbon Processing Products designs and manufactures industrial pumps for the oil, gas,
petrochemical and desalinization industries under the David Brown Union Pump and David Brown Guinard Pump brands. Polymer Systems
designs and manufactures industrial pumps, extrusion equipment and screen changers for the polymer industry under the Maag brand name.
Standard Products designs and manufactures industrial gears and gear sets, double enveloping worm gear speed reducers, screwjacks and
hydraulic products under the Benzlers, Cone Drive, Radicon and David Brown Hydraulics brands. These products are sold to a variety of
customers, including original equipment manufacturers, governments, distributors and end-users. Fluid & Power faces competition from other
manufacturers based primarily on price, quality, product support, performance, reliability, delivery and reputation.
Finance Segment
Our Finance segment consists of Textron Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries. Textron Financial Corporation is a diversified
commercial finance company with core operations in six segments:
• Aircraft Finance provides financing for new and used Cessna business jets and piston-engine airplanes, Bell helicopters, and other general
aviation aircraft;
• Asset-Based Lending provides asset-based loans to smaller middle-market companies that manufacture or distribute finished goods and
provides factoring arrangements for freight companies and utility service providers;
• Distribution Finance offers inventory finance programs for dealers of Textron manufactured products and for dealers of a variety of other
household, housing, leisure, agricultural and technology products;
• Golf Finance makes mortgage loans for the acquisition and refinancing of golf courses and provides term financing for E-Z-Go golf cars
and Jacobsen turf care equipment;
6
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• Resort Finance extends loans to developers of vacation interval resorts, secured primarily by notes receivable and interval inventory; and
• Structured Capital engages in tax-oriented, long-term leases of large-ticket equipment and real estate, primarily with investment grade
lessees.
Textron Financial Corporation’s other financial services and products include transaction syndication, equipment appraisal and disposition,
and portfolio servicing. Some of these ancillary services are offered through Asset Control LLC and TBS Business Services, Inc.
Textron Financial Corporation’s financing activities are confined almost exclusively to secured lending and leasing to commercial markets.
Textron Financial Corporation’s services are offered primarily in North America. However, Textron Financial Corporation finances Textron
products worldwide, principally Bell helicopters and Cessna aircraft.
In 2003, 2002 and 2001 Textron sales financed by Textron Financial Corporation were $0.8 billion, $1.1 billion and $1.3 billion,
respectively. Textron also received proceeds in those years of $56 million, $104 million and $62 million from the sale of equipment from its
manufacturing operations to Textron Financial for use under operating lease agreements.
The commercial finance businesses in which Textron Financial Corporation operates are highly fragmented and extremely competitive.
Textron Financial Corporation is subject to competition from various types of financing institutions, including banks, leasing companies,
insurance companies, commercial finance companies and finance operations of equipment vendors. Competition within the commercial finance
industry is primarily focused on price, terms, structure and service.
Textron Financial Corporation’s largest business risk is the collectibility of its finance receivable portfolio. During 2003, and excluding
transactions for which Textron Financial Corporation has recourse to Textron (and for which allowance for loan losses are established at the
manufacturing level), nonperforming assets, which include nonaccrual finance receivables and repossessed assets, decreased $52 million to 2.8%
($162 million) of finance assets from 3.4% ($214 million) at December 28, 2002. The most significant component of the decrease in 2003 relates
to a $43 million decline in liquidating portfolios. Textron Financial Corporation estimates that nonperforming assets will generally be in the
range of 2% to 4% of finance assets depending on economic conditions. The allowance for losses on receivables as a percentage of nonaccrual
finance receivables was 78% at January 3, 2004, compared to 82% at December 28, 2002. The decrease in the percentage in 2003 reflects
management’s assessment of the adequacy of collateral values supporting the changes in nonaccrual finance receivables.
Backlog
Information regarding our backlog of government and commercial orders at the end of the past two fiscal years is contained on pages 19
through 21 of our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders. These pages are incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Approximately 54% of our total backlog of $7.5 billion at January 3, 2004, represents orders which are not expected to be filled within our
2004 fiscal year. At January 3, 2004, approximately 93% of the total government backlog of $1.9 billion was funded.
U.S. Government Contracts
In 2003, 14% of our consolidated revenues were generated by or resulted from contracts with the U.S. Government. U.S. Government
business is subject to competition, changes in procurement policies and regulations, the continuing availability of Congressional appropriations,
world events, and the size and timing of programs in which Textron may participate.
Our contracts with the U.S. Government generally may be terminated in whole or in part at the convenience of the U.S. Government or if we
are in default. If the U.S. Government terminates a contract for convenience, we normally will be entitled to payment for unreimbursed costs of
performance for work
7
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done under the contract plus profit on those costs, adjusted to reflect any rate of loss had the contract been completed, plus termination costs. If,
however, the U.S. Government terminates a contract for default, generally: (a) we will be paid an agreed-upon amount for manufacturing
materials delivered and accepted, for the protection and preservation of property, and for partially completed products accepted by the
U.S. Government; (b) the U.S. Government will not be liable for our costs with respect to unaccepted items and will be entitled to repayment of
advance payments and progress payments related to the terminated portions of the contract; and (c) we will be liable for excess costs incurred by
the U.S. Government in procuring undelivered items from another source.
Research and Development
Information regarding our research and development expenditures is contained on pages 66 through 67 of our 2003 Annual Report to
Shareholders. These pages are incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Patents and Trademarks
We own, or are licensed under, numerous patents throughout the world relating to products, services and methods of manufacturing. Patents
have been of value in the past and are expected to be of value in the future. However, the loss of any single patent or group of patents would not,
in our opinion, materially affect the conduct of our business.
We also own trademarks, trade names and service marks that are important to our business. Some of these trademarks, trade names and
service marks are used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including: APCO; AB139; BA609; Bell Helicopter; Benzlers; Bob-Cat; Boesner;
Brouwer; BSK; Bunton; Cadillac Gage; Caravan 675; Caravan Floatplane; Cessna; Cessna Aircraft Company; Cessna Caravan; Citation Bravo;
Citation CJ1; Citation CJ2; Citation CJ3; Citation Encore; Citation Excel; Citation Mustang; CitationShares; Citation Sovereign; Citation X;
Citation XLS; Cone Drive; Cushman; David Brown; David Brown Guinard Pumps; David Brown Hydraulics; David Brown Union Pumps;
Energy and Williams; E-Z-GO; Fairmont; Grand Caravan; Greenlee; HR Textron; InteSys Technologies; Jacobsen; Kautex; Klauke; Lycoming;
Maag; Radicon; Ransomes; Ryan; 172 Skyhawk; 172 Skyhawk SP; 182 Skylane; 206 Stationair; Steiner; Super Cargomaster; T206 Turbo
Stationair; Tempo; Textron; Textron Fastening Systems; Textron Financial Corporation; Textron Marine & Land Systems; Textron Systems;
Turbo 182 Skylane; V-22 Osprey; these marks and their related trademark designs and logotypes (and variations of the foregoing) are
trademarks, trade names or service marks of Textron Inc., its subsidiaries, affiliates, or joint ventures.
Environmental Considerations
Our operations are subject to numerous laws and regulations designed to protect the environment. Compliance with these laws and
expenditures for environmental control facilities have not had a material effect on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.
Additional information regarding environmental matters is contained on pages 31 through 32 of our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders. These
pages are incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Employees
At January 3, 2004, we had approximately 43,000 employees.
Available Information
We make available free of charge on our Internet website (http://www.textron.com) our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Our corporate governance guidelines, business conduct guidelines and the charters of the Audit Committee, the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and the
8

Table of Contents
Organization and Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors also are available on our website and are available in print to any
shareholder upon request to our Corporate Secretary at 40 Westminster Street, Providence, Rhode Island 02903.
Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other oral and written statements made by Textron from time to time are
forward-looking statements, including those that discuss strategies, goals, outlook or other non-historical matters; or project revenues, income,
returns or other financial measures. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the statements, including the following: (a) the extent to which Textron is able to
achieve savings from its restructuring plans; (b) uncertainty in estimating the amount and timing of restructuring charges and related costs;
(c) changes in worldwide economic and political conditions that impact interest and foreign exchange rates; (d) the occurrence of work
stoppages and strikes at key facilities of Textron or Textron’s customers or suppliers; (e) government funding and program approvals affecting
products being developed or sold under government programs; (f) cost and delivery performance under various program and development
contracts; (g) the adequacy of cost estimates for various customer care programs including servicing warranties; (h) the ability to control costs
and successful implementation of various cost reduction programs; (i) the timing of certifications of new aircraft products; (j) the occurrence of
further downturns in customer markets to which Textron products are sold or supplied or where Textron Financial Corporation offers financing;
(k) changes in aircraft delivery schedules or cancellation of orders; (l) the impact of changes in tax legislation (including the expiration of “bonus
depreciation” provisions scheduled to end in 2004); (m) Textron’s ability to offset, through cost reductions, raw material price increases and
pricing pressure brought by original equipment manufacturer customers; (n) the availability and cost of insurance; (o) pension plan income
falling below current forecasts; (p) Textron Financial Corporation’s ability to maintain portfolio credit quality; (q) Textron Financial
Corporation’s access to debt financing at competitive rates; and (r) uncertainty in estimating contingent liabilities and establishing reserves
tailored to address such contingencies.
Item 2.

Properties

On January 3, 2004, we operated a total of 119 plants located throughout the U.S. and 88 plants outside the U.S. Of the total of 207 plants,
we owned 109 and the balance were leased. In the aggregate, the total manufacturing space was approximately 36.8 million square feet.
In addition, we own or lease offices, warehouse and other space at various locations throughout the U.S. and outside the U.S. We consider
the productive capacity of the plants operated by each of our business segments to be adequate. In general, our facilities are in good condition,
are considered to be adequate for the uses to which they are being put, and are substantially in regular use.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

Two identical lawsuits purporting to be class actions were filed in 2002 in the United States District Court in Rhode Island against Textron
and certain present and former officers of Textron and Bell Helicopter by Textron shareholders suing on their own behalf and on behalf of a
purported class of Textron shareholders. A consolidated amended complaint alleges that the defendants failed to make certain accounting
adjustments in response to alleged problems with Bell Helicopter’s V-22 and H-1 programs and that the company failed to timely write down
certain assets of its OmniQuip unit. The complaint seeks unspecified compensatory damages. Textron filed a Motion to Dismiss the consolidated
amended complaint on March 26, 2003, and that motion currently is pending. Textron believes the lawsuit is without merit and intends to
continue to defend it vigorously.
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Two identical lawsuits, purporting to be class actions on behalf of Textron benefit plans and participants and beneficiaries of those plans
during 2000 and 2001, were filed in 2002 in the United States District Court in Rhode Island against Textron, the Textron Savings Plan and the
Plan’s trustee. A consolidated amended complaint alleges breach of certain fiduciary duties under ERISA, based on the amount of Plan assets
invested in Textron stock during 2000 and 2001. The complaint seeks equitable relief and compensatory damages on behalf of various Textron
benefit plans and the participants and beneficiaries of those plans during 2000 and 2001 to compensate for alleged losses relating to Textron
stock held as an asset of those plans. Textron’s Motion to Dismiss the consolidated amended complaint was granted on June 24, 2003. Plaintiffs
filed a notice of appeal of the dismissal with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Circuit on July 23, 2003, and that appeal currently is
pending.
We are subject to actual and threatened legal proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business. These proceedings include claims
arising from private transactions, government contracts, product liability, employment and environmental, safety and health matters. Some of
these legal proceedings seek damages, fines or penalties in substantial amounts or remediation of environmental contamination. Under federal
government procurement regulations, certain claims brought by the U.S. Government could result in our suspension or debarment from U.S.
Government contracting for a period of time. On the basis of information presently available, we believe that these legal proceedings will not
have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.
Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the last quarter of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10K.
Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth certain information concerning our executive officers as of February 26, 2004. All of our executive officers are
members of our Management Committee and Transformation Leadership Team.
Name

Age

Lewis B. Campbell
John D. Butler

57
56

Ted R. French
Mary L. Howell

49
51

Steven R. Loranger
Terrence O’Donnell

52
59

Current Position with Textron Inc.

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer; Director
Executive Vice President Administration and Chief Human
Resources Officer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President Government, Strategy Development and
International, Communications and Investor Relations
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Mr. Campbell joined Textron in September 1992 as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. He was named Chief Executive
Officer in July 1998 and appointed Chairman of our Board of Directors in February 1999. Mr. Campbell served as President and Chief Operating
Officer from January 1994 to July 1998, and reassumed the position of President in September 2001. Mr. Campbell has been a Director of
Textron since January 1994, and is Chairman of our International Advisory Council.
Mr. Butler joined Textron in July 1997 as Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer, and became Executive Vice
President Administration and Chief Human Resources Officer in January 1999.
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Mr. French joined Textron in December 2000 as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Textron Inc. and assumed the
additional position of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Textron Financial Corporation in January 2004. Prior to joining Textron,
Mr. French served as President, Financial Services and Chief Financial Officer for CNH Global NV, which was created through the 1999 merger
of Case Corporation and New Holland NV. Prior to the merger, he spent 10 years with Case Corporation in various executive positions.
Ms. Howell has been Executive Vice President Government, Strategy Development and International, Communications and Investor
Relations since October 2000 and serves on our International Advisory Council. Ms. Howell joined Textron in 1980 and became an Executive
Vice President in August 1995.
Mr. Loranger joined Textron as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer in October 2002. Prior to joining Textron,
Mr. Loranger spent 21 years at Honeywell, most recently serving as President and Chief Executive Officer of Honeywell Engines, Systems and
Services.
Mr. O’Donnell joined Textron as Executive Vice President and General Counsel in March 2000. Mr. O’Donnell is a Senior Partner in the
Washington, D.C.-based law firm of Williams & Connelly, which he first joined in 1977. From 1989 to 1992, he served as General Counsel of
the Department of Defense.
PART II
Item 5.

Markets For the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our Common Stock is traded on the New York, Chicago and Pacific Stock Exchanges. At January 3, 2004, there were approximately 19,000
holders of Textron Common Stock. The information on the price range of Textron’s Common Stock and dividends paid per share appearing
under “Common Stock Information” on page 69 of our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
On October 22, 2003, pursuant to our practice of issuing 1,000 shares of our Common Stock to each new non-employee Director, we issued
1,000 shares of our Common Stock to R. Kerry Clark upon his joining our Board of Directors. On January 2, 2004, 20,000 shares of a retention
award previously granted to Ted R. French, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, vested, resulting in the issuance of 10,850
shares of our common stock to him after withholding 9,150 shares for payment of the related tax liability. The issuances of these shares to
Mr. Clark and Mr. French were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933 pursuant to the exemption afforded by section 4(2) of that Act for
transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. Other unregistered issuances of shares of our common stock during the fiscal year
ended January 3, 2004, were reported in our previously filed Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.
Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The information appearing under “Selected Financial Information” on page 70 of our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders is incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis,” appearing on pages 16 through 33 of our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders is incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

“Quantitative Risk Measures,” appearing on page 31 of our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders is incorporated by reference into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The consolidated financial statements, together with the report thereon of Ernst & Young LLP dated January 29, 2004, and supplementary
information contained in our 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders and the Financial Statement Schedules, as listed in the Index to Financial
Statements and Financial Statement Schedules attached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are incorporated herein by reference.
Item 9.

Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

We have carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and the participation of our management, including our Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer (our “CEO”) and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (our “CFO”), of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Act”) as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in providing reasonable assurance that (a) the information required to be disclosed by us
in the reports that we file or submit under the Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and (b) such information is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth fiscal quarter of the fiscal year covered by this
report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART III
Item 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information appearing under “Audit Committee,” “Nominees for Director,” “Directors Continuing in Office,” “Corporate Governance,”
“Code of Ethics” and “Section 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders
to be held on April 28, 2004, is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Information regarding our executive officers is contained in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The information appearing under “Compensation of Directors,” “Report of the Organization and Compensation Committee on Executive
Compensation,” “Executive Compensation” and “Performance Graph” in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held on April 28, 2004, is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information appearing under Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Holders,” “Security Ownership of Management,” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2004, is incorporated
by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information appearing under “Transactions with Management and Others” in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2004, is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information appearing under “Fees to Independent Auditors” in the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
on April 28, 2004, is incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

a) Financial Statements and Schedules
The consolidated financial statements, supplementary information and financial statement schedules listed in the accompanying Index to
Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Exhibits

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
NOTE:

NOTE:
10.1A
10.1B
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Textron as filed January 29, 1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 1998.
By-Laws of Textron. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended January 1, 2000.
Indenture dated as of December 9, 1999, between Textron Financial Corporation and SunTrust Bank (formerly known
as Sun Trust Bank, Atlanta) (including form of debt securities). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment
No. 2 to Textron Financial Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-88509).
Indenture dated as of November 30, 2001, between Textron Financial Canada Funding Corp. and SunTrust Bank,
guaranteed by Textron Financial Corporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 1 to Textron
Financial Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-108464).
Support Agreement dated as of May 25, 1994, between Textron Inc. and Textron Financial Corporation. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron Financial Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form 10.
Instruments defining the rights of holders of certain issues of long-term debt of Textron have not been filed as exhibits
because the authorized principal amount of any one of such issues does not exceed 10% of the total assets of Textron
and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Textron agrees to furnish a copy of each such instrument to the Commission
upon request.
Exhibits 10.1 through 10.16 below are management contracts or compensatory plans, contracts or agreements.
Annual Incentive Compensation Plan for Textron Employees. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 1995.
Amendment to Annual Incentive Compensation Plan for Textron Employees. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 1999.
Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives.
Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives, as amended.
Supplemental Retirement Plan for Textron Key Executives.
Survivor Benefit Plan For Textron Key Executives, as amended.
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Exhibits

10.6A
10.6B
10.6C
10.6D
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10A
10.10B
10.11A
10.11B
10.11C
10.11D
10.11E
10.12A
10.12B
10.13A
10.13B
10.14

Textron 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“1994 Plan”). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Textron’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 2, 1994.
Amendment to 1994 Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9B to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended January 2, 1999.
Amendment to 1994 Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 1999.
Amendment to 1994 Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8D to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended January 1, 2000.
Textron 1999 Long Term Incentive Plan (2003 Restatement). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Textron’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2003.
Form of Indemnity Agreement between Textron and its directors and executive officers. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit A to Textron’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders on April 29, 1987.
Deferred Income Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Textron and John D. Butler dated July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 1998.
Restricted Stock Equivalent Award granted to John Butler on January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Lewis B. Campbell dated July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 1998.
Retention Award granted to Lewis B. Campbell on December 14, 1995. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16B to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 1995.
Retention Award granted to Lewis B. Campbell on June 1, 1999. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13C to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2000.
Retention Award granted to Lewis B. Campbell on January 1, 2001, and revision of vesting schedule for the Retention
Award granted on June 1, 1999. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14D to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2000.
Amendments to Retention Awards granted to Lewis B. Campbell. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14D to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2001.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Ted R. French dated December 21, 2000. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15A to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2000.
Retention Award granted to Ted R. French on January 1, 2001. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15B to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2000.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Mary L. Howell dated July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 1998.
Restricted Stock Equivalent Award granted to Mary L. Howell on January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Steven R. Loranger dated February 6, 2003. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2003.
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Exhibits

10.15A
10.15B
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
12.1
12.2
13
21
23
24
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Employment Agreement between Textron and Terrence O’Donnell dated March 10, 2000. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2000.
Restricted Stock Equivalent Award granted to Terrence O’Donnell on January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 2002.
Director Stock Awards. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.
5-Year Credit Agreement dated as of April 1, 2002, among Textron, the Banks listed therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank
as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2003.
364-day Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2002, among Textron Inc., the Banks listed therein and JPMorgan Chase
Bank as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2003.
Amendment to 5-Year Credit Agreement and 364-day Credit Agreement.
364-Day Credit Agreement dated July 28, 2003, among Textron Financial Corporation, the Banks listed therein, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron Financial
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on August 26, 2003.
Five-Year Credit Agreement dated July 28, 2003 among Textron Financial Corporation, the Banks listed therein, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textron Financial
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on August 26, 2003.
Computation of ratio of income to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends of Textron Manufacturing.
Computation of ratio of income to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends of Textron including all
majority-owned subsidiaries.
A portion (pages 15 through 70) of Textron’s 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders.
Certain subsidiaries of Textron. Other subsidiaries, which considered in the aggregate do not constitute a significant
subsidiary, are omitted from such list.
Consent of Independent Auditors.
Power of attorney.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. 1350.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. 1350.

b) Reports on Form 8-K
On October 15, 2003, we submitted a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting historical results from 1998 through the second quarter of 2003
recast to reflect the sale of our OmniQuip business.
On October 16, 2003, we submitted a Current Report on Form 8-K incorporating, under Items 9 and 12, our October 16, 2003, press release
announcing our third quarter 2003 earnings.
On December 17, 2003, we submitted a Current Report on Form 8-K incorporating, under Item 9, our December 16, 2003, press release
announcing revised earnings estimates for 2003.
The above Reports are not deemed “filed” for the purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not incorporated by
reference herein or in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report
on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 27th day of February 2004.
TEXTRON INC.
Registrant
By:

/s/ TED R. FRENCH
Ted R. French
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below on this 27th
day of February 2004, by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated:
Name

Title

/s/ LEWIS B. CAMPBELL

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

Lewis B. Campbell
*

Director

H. Jesse Arnelle
Director

*
Kathleen M. Bader
*

Director

Teresa Beck
*

Director

R. Kerry Clark
*

Director

R. Stuart Dickson
*

Director

Ivor J. Evans
*

Director

Lawrence K. Fish
*

Director

Joe T. Ford
*

Director

Paul E. Gagné
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Name

Title

*

Director

John D. Macomber
*

Director

Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG
*

Director

Brian H. Rowe
*

Director

Sam F. Segnar
*

Director

Martin D. Walker
*

Director

Thomas B. Wheeler
/s/ TED R. FRENCH

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Ted R. French
/s/ RICHARD L. YATES

Vice President and Controller
(principal accounting officer)

Richard L. Yates
*By:

/s/ MICHAEL D. CAHN
Michael D. Cahn
Attorney-in-fact
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TEXTRON INC.
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Item 15(a)
2003 Annual Report
to Shareholders Page

Report of Independent Auditors
Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the years in the three-year
period ended January 3, 2004
Consolidated Balance Sheets at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for each of the years
in the three-year period ended January 3, 2004
Statements of Cash Flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
January 3, 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Business Segment Data
Supplementary Information (Unaudited):
Quarterly Data for 2003 and 2002

34
35
36
37
38-39
40
15
69

All schedules are omitted because the conditions requiring the filing thereof do not exist or because the information required is included in the
financial statements and notes thereto.
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EXHIBIT LIST
Exhibits

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
NOTE:

NOTE:
10.1A
10.1B
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6A
10.6B
10.6C
10.6D
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10A

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Textron as filed January 29, 1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 1998.
By-Laws of Textron. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended January 1, 2000.
Indenture dated as of December 9, 1999, between Textron Financial Corporation and SunTrust Bank (formerly known
as Sun Trust Bank, Atlanta) (including form of debt securities). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment
No. 2 to Textron Financial Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-88509).
Indenture dated as of November 30, 2001, between Textron Financial Canada Funding Corp. and SunTrust Bank,
guaranteed by Textron Financial Corporation. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 1 to Textron
Financial Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-108464).
Support Agreement dated as of May 25, 1994, between Textron Inc. and Textron Financial Corporation. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron Financial Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form 10.
Instruments defining the rights of holders of certain issues of long-term debt of Textron have not been filed as exhibits
because the authorized principal amount of any one of such issues does not exceed 10% of the total assets of Textron
and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Textron agrees to furnish a copy of each such instrument to the Commission
upon request.
Exhibits 10.1 through 10.16 below are management contracts or compensatory plans, contracts or agreements.
Annual Incentive Compensation Plan for Textron Employees. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 1995.
Amendment to Annual Incentive Compensation Plan for Textron Employees. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 1999.
Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives.
Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives, as amended.
Supplemental Retirement Plan for Textron Key Executives.
Survivor Benefit Plan For Textron Key Executives, as amended.
Textron 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“1994 Plan”). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Textron’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 2, 1994.
Amendment to 1994 Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9B to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended January 2, 1999.
Amendment to 1994 Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 1999.
Amendment to 1994 Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8D to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended January 1, 2000.
Textron 1999 Long Term Incentive Plan (2003 Restatement). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Textron’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 28, 2003.
Form of Indemnity Agreement between Textron and its directors and executive officers. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit A to Textron’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Shareholders on April 29, 1987.
Deferred Income Plan for Non-Employee Directors. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Textron and John D. Butler dated July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 1998.
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Exhibits

10.10B
10.11A
10.11B
10.11C
10.11D
10.11E
10.12A
10.12B
10.13A
10.13B
10.14
10.15A
10.15B
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20

Restricted Stock Equivalent Award granted to John Butler on January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Lewis B. Campbell dated July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 1998.
Retention Award granted to Lewis B. Campbell on December 14, 1995. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16B to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 1995.
Retention Award granted to Lewis B. Campbell on June 1, 1999. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13C to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2000.
Retention Award granted to Lewis B. Campbell on January 1, 2001, and revision of vesting schedule for the Retention
Award granted on June 1, 1999. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14D to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2000.
Amendments to Retention Awards granted to Lewis B. Campbell. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14D to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2001.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Ted R. French dated December 21, 2000. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15A to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2000.
Retention Award granted to Ted R. French on January 1, 2001. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15B to
Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2000.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Mary L. Howell dated July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended October 3, 1998.
Restricted Stock Equivalent Award granted to Mary L. Howell on January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 2002.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Steven R. Loranger dated February 6, 2003. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2003.
Employment Agreement between Textron and Terrence O’Donnell dated March 10, 2000. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 1, 2000.
Restricted Stock Equivalent Award granted to Terrence O’Donnell on January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 of Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 30, 2002.
Director Stock Awards. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Textron’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 28, 2002.
5-Year Credit Agreement dated as of April 1, 2002, among Textron, the Banks listed therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank
as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2003.
364-day Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2002, among Textron Inc., the Banks listed therein and JPMorgan Chase
Bank as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Textron’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended March 29, 2003.
Amendment to 5-Year Credit Agreement and 364-day Credit Agreement.
364-Day Credit Agreement dated July 28, 2003, among Textron Financial Corporation, the Banks listed therein, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Textron Financial
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on August 26, 2003.
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Exhibits

10.21
12.1
12.2
13
21
23
24
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Five-Year Credit Agreement dated July 28, 2003 among Textron Financial Corporation, the Banks listed therein, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Textron Financial
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on August 26, 2003.
Computation of ratio of income to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends of Textron Manufacturing.
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EXHIBIT 10.2
DEFERRED INCOME PLAN FOR TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
This Plan has been established for the benefit of designated Textron Key Executives to secure their goodwill, loyalty, and achievement and to
attract and retain persons of outstanding competence.
This Plan is restated and effective as of January 1, 2002.
ARTICLE I -- DEFINITIONS
In this document, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Article, unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly
provided:
1.01 "Beneficiary" means the person or persons entitled under this Plan to receive Plan benefits after a Participant's death.
1.02 "Benefits Committee" means the Benefits Committee of Textron.
1.03 "Board" means the Board of Directors of Textron.
1.04 "Compensation" means base salary, annual incentive compensation, cash distributions for performance share units under a long term
incentive compensation plan, and any other item designated as Compensation under this Plan by the Benefits Committee or its designee.
1.05 "Deferral Period" means for a Participant (1) any complete months remaining in the calendar year in which she becomes a Key Executive,
and (2) each succeeding calendar year in which she is a Key Executive.
1.06 "Deferred Income" means any Compensation the receipt of which is deferred under this Plan.
"Automatic Deferred Income" means amounts in excess of 100% of a Participant's Annual Incentive Compensation Target, as defined in Section
4.01(a) of the Annual Incentive Compensation Plan for Textron Employees, in the years following a Participant's fifth full year of participation
in this Plan, but only if the Participant has not achieved or maintained a Minimum Stock Ownership Level.
"Discretionary Deferred Income" means additional contributions made at Textron's discretion to any account maintained for a Participant under
this Plan.
"Elective Deferred Income" means amounts elected by the Participant to be deferred under this Plan.
1.07 "Determination Date" means the last day of each calendar month.
1.08 "Fund Election Agreement" means an agreement in a form prescribed by the Benefits Committee or its designee, by which a Participant
elects the funds that will be used to determine earnings on Deferred Income.

1.09 "Interest" means interest computed under Article III of this Plan.
1.10 "Key Executive" means an employee of a Textron Company who has been and continues to be designated as a Key Executive under the
Plan by Textron's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer.
1.11 "Participant" means a Key Executive who is participating in this Plan pursuant to Article II and, unless the context clearly indicates to the
contrary, a former Participant who is entitled to benefits under this Plan.
1.12 "Participation Agreement" means an agreement in a form prescribed by the Benefits Committee or its designee, by which a Participant
elects to defer the receipt of Compensation pursuant to this Plan.
1.13 "Plan" means this Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives, as amended and restated from time to time.
1.14 "Stock Ownership" means Textron shares obtained through open market purchases and stock option exercises, shares in the Textron
Savings Plan, stock units in the Deferred Income Plan and in the Supplemental Benefits Plan; and any other share or share equivalent approved
by the Board as qualified stock ownership.
"Minimum Stock Ownership Level" means a dollar value of Textron shares that equals or exceeds as of the end of the third quarter each year:
PARTICIPANT
----------CEO/COO
Other TLT Members
Other Corporate Officers
All Other Key Executives

MINIMUM STOCK OWNERSHIP LEVEL
----------------------------5 times base salary
3 times base salary
2 times base salary
1 times base salary

1.15 "Textron" means Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor of Textron Inc.
1.16 "Textron Company" means Textron or any company controlled by or under common control with Textron.
1.17 "Textron Employment" means employment with a Textron Company. Leaves of absence for such periods and purposes as are approved by
Textron and transfers of employment within or between Textron Companies shall not be deemed interruptions of Textron Employment.
1.18 "Total Disability" has the same meaning under this Plan as in the Textron Master Retirement Plan with respect to any Participant at the date
his Textron Employment ends.
ARTICLE II -- PARTICIPATION AND DEFERRED INCOME
2.01 A Participant indicates his choices under this Plan for a Deferral Period by filing a Participation Agreement and, if applicable, a Fund
Election agreement with the Benefits Committee or its designee within the time specified by that committee or designee.
2.02 For any complete calendar months remaining in the calendar year in which a Participant becomes a Key Executive, she may defer up to
100% of her Compensation otherwise payable during those months. For any subsequent Deferral Period, a Participant may defer up to 25% of
her base salary, and up to 100% of her Compensation other than base salary, otherwise payable

during that period. (For purposes of this 25% limitation, "base salary" includes any base salary the receipt of which by the Participant is deferred
under the Textron Savings Plan or this Plan.) A Participant may not defer any Compensation which she has earned at the time she files her
Participation Agreement relating thereto.
2.03 The Benefits Committee may, at a Participant's request but in its sole discretion, suspend in whole or in part a Participant's commitment
under any Participation Agreement for such time as it may deem necessary upon a finding that the Participant has suffered a severe financial
hardship.
2.04 If at any time a Participant shall cease to be a Key Executive, his Participation Agreements and Deferral Periods shall terminate at that time
and no further Deferred Income shall be withheld from his Compensation.
2.05 No Deferred Income, Interest or dividends shall be payable to a Participant while he is employed by a Textron Company.
2.06 Textron shall withhold for taxes or other reasons as required by law.
ARTICLE III -- PARTICIPANT'S ACCOUNTS, INTEREST, AND EARNINGS
3.01(a) For record-keeping purposes only, Textron shall maintain a Moody's Account, a Stock Unit Account and an Interest Account, as is
necessary, for each Participant who has Deferred Income under this Plan.
(b) Textron may in its sole discretion from time to time make additional contributions to any account maintained for a Participant. These
additional contributions, if any, may be subject to a vesting schedule set by the Benefits Committee.
(c) The existence of these accounts shall not require any segregation of assets.
(d) Amount deferred as Elective Deferred Income and Automatic Deferred Income shall always be 100% vested.
3.02 The Moody's Account shall reflect a Participant's investment in an interest-bearing account.
(a) The Moody's Account shall be adjusted as of each Determination Date and shall consist of (1) the balance of the Account as of the
immediately preceding Determination Date, (2) amounts of Deferred Income credited to the Account in the intervening month, and (3) Interest
earned since the immediately preceding Determination Date based on one-twelfth of the applicable interest rate(s) described in Sections 3.03 or
3.04 on the average daily balance of the Account (or portion thereof) during the intervening month; reduced by (4) any distributions from the
account (or portion thereof) during the intervening month.
(b) The interest rates applicable to the Moody's Account shall be either the Moody's Rate or the Moody's Plus Rate.
3.03 The Moody's Rate shall be the average for the calendar month in which the applicable Determination Date falls of the Moody's Corporate
Bond Yield Index as published by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (or any successor thereto), or, if such monthly yield is no longer published, a
substantially similar average selected by the Benefits Committee. For Participant deferrals made prior to 2002, the crediting rate shall not be less
than 8% per year.

3.04(a) The Moody's Plus Rate applicable on a Determination Date to any portion of the Moody's Account which is attributable to Deferred
Income deferred before 1988 shall be the average described in Section 3.03, plus three percentage points. The crediting rate shall not be less than
11% per year for deferrals made prior to 1988.
(b) The Moody's Plus Rate applicable on a Determination Date to any portion of the Moody's Account which is attributable to deferrals from
1988 through 2001 shall be the average described in Section 3.03, plus two percentage points. The crediting rate shall not be less than 10% per
year for deferrals made from 1988 through 2001.
(c) For deferrals made on or after January 1, 2002, the Rate on the Determination Date shall be the Moody's Rate.
3.05 The Stock Unit Account shall consist of stock units, which are fictional shares of Textron Common Stock, accumulated and accounted for
under this Plan for the sole purpose of determining the cash amount of any distribution on account of this portion of Deferred Income.
Notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary, 100% of Automatic Deferred Income shall be deferred to the Stock Unit Account.
3.06 The Stock Unit Account shall be adjusted as of each Determination Date and shall consist of the stock units (1) in the account as of the
immediately preceding Determination Date, (2) credited under Section 3.07 and 3.08 during the intervening month, and (3) credited under
Section 3.09 during the intervening month.
3.07(a) To the extent that a Participant puts Elective Deferred Income in the Stock Unit Account, the amount initially credited to her Account
shall equal 110% of such Compensation deferred on or after January 1, 2002.
(b) The amount in excess of 100% of the Elective Deferred Income is the "Textron Company Contribution." A Participant's right to receive the
Textron Company Contribution, as adjusted under Section 3.09, shall become nonforfeitable according to this schedule:
(1) 50% on December 31 of the calendar year in which that Elective Deferred Income otherwise would have been paid to him, but only if his
Textron Employment continues on that December 31; and
(2) the remaining 50% on the next December 31, but only if his Textron Employment continues on that next December 31.
(c) A Participant's right to receive her Textron Company Contribution shall be nonforfeitable in the event her Textron employment ends because
of disability or death.
(d) A Participant's right to receive her Textron Company Contribution shall become nonforfeitable according to the above schedule if a
Participant ends employment when she is at least 55 with ten or more years of Textron service, or is at least age 60, or has completed 20 or more
years of Textron service.
3.08 With respect to deferrals into this Plan of amounts from the Annual Incentive Compensation Plan for Textron Employees and the Long
Term Incentive Plan for Textron Employees, Textron shall credit stock units to a Participant's Stock Unit Account, equal to the number of shares
the deferred amount could have purchased at the "Current Value" of a share of Textron Common

Stock. The Current Value is defined in Section 3.07 of the Long Term Incentive Plan for Textron Employees. With respect to deferrals into this
Plan of any other amounts, each month Textron shall credit stock units to a Participant's Stock Unit Account equal in number to the number of
shares of Textron Common Stock that the deferred amount could have purchased at a price per share equal to the average of the composite
closing prices of Textron Common Stock, as reported in The Wall Street Journal for the month the contribution is credited.
3.09 From time to time, Textron shall credit Stock Units to a Participant's Stock Unit Account equal in number to the number of shares of
Textron Common Stock that would have been allocated on account of dividends to the Participant's Stock Unit Account as of that date, based on
the average of the composite closing prices of Textron Common Stock, as reported in The Wall Street Journal for the month in which the date of
record occurs.
3.10 The number of Stock Units credited to a Participant's account under this Article III shall be adjusted, without receipt of any consideration by
Textron, on account of any recapitalization, stock split, stock dividend or similar increase or decrease affecting Textron Common Stock, as if the
Stock Units were actually shares of Textron Common Stock.
3.11 The Interest Account shall be established when the benefits relating to a Participant's Stock Unit Account become due to the Participant
under Article IV. A Participant who has terminated her Textron employment may, after a period of 30 days, subject to the provisions of Section
16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, once each calendar quarter, elect to transfer, in 10% increments, effective the first calendar day of the
month following the minimum notice of three business days, any amount in her Stock Unit Account to her Interest Account.
(a) Any transfer made shall be made in cash and shall be in an amount equal to the product of (x) the Current Value of Textron Common Stock
on the date on which the stock units are converted and transferred to the Interest Account, times (y) the number of whole and fractional stock
units which are nonforfeitable.
(b) As used in the Plan, the current value of a share of Textron Common Stock on any date shall be the average of the composite closing prices,
as reported in The Wall Street Journal, for the first ten trading days of the effective month.
(c) Interest on amounts in the Interest Account will be credited monthly at the Moody's rate. Stock units transferred related to deferrals made
prior to January 1, 2002, shall have a minimum rate of 8%.
ARTICLE IV -- BENEFITS
4.01 If a Key Executive's Textron Employment ends other than by death or for less than acceptable performance (1) at or after age 62, or (2) as a
result of Total Disability, the amount credited to his Moody's Account at the Moody's Plus Rate, the amount in his Stock Unit Account which is
then nonforfeitable according to Section 3.07, and the amount in his Interest Account, shall be distributed in accordance with Article V.
4.02 If a Participant's Textron Employment ends because of death, the benefit distributed pursuant to Article IV shall be the sum of the amount
credited to her Moody's Account (computed at the Moody's Plus Rate), and the amount in her Stock Unit Account.
4.03 If a Key Executive's Textron Employment ends other than as described in
Section 4.01 or a Participant's Textron Employment ends other than as described in Section 4.02, the amount

credited to his Moody's Account computed at the Moody's Rate (unless the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer of
Textron in their sole discretion approve computation at the Moody's Plus Rate), the amount in his Stock Unit Account which is then
nonforfeitable according to Section 3.07, and the amount in his Interest Account, shall be distributed in accordance with Article V.
4.04 In the event of a Change in Control as defined in Section 9.03, the amount credited to her Moody's Account computed at the Moody's Plus
Rate, the amount in her Stock Unit Account and the amount in her Interest Account shall be distributed in accordance with Article V.
4.05 Benefits shall be payable to a Participant or Beneficiary under only one
Section of this Article IV.
ARTICLE V -- PAYMENT OF BENEFITS
5.01 The Benefits Committee or its designee shall choose in its sole discretion the methods in Section 5.02 by which benefits payable under
Article IV shall be distributed, after considering any method of payment requested by the Participant or by the Beneficiaries entitled to receive
the benefits. However, if the current value of a Participant's Deferred Income Plan Accounts is $25,000 or less at termination, such Participant's
accounts shall be paid in a single sum.
5.02 After benefits relating to a Participant's Moody's Account, his Stock Unit Account and his Interest Account become payable under Article
IV, Textron, upon the written instructions of the Benefits Committee or its designee, shall distribute the benefits in accordance with any one of
the following methods:
(a) Payment in a single sum; or
(b) Payment in a number of annual installments, each payable as soon as practicable after the end of each successive calendar year. For
Participants terminating after December 31, 2001, the number of installments shall not exceed the lesser of 15 or life expectancy of the
Participant. For Participants who terminate on or before December 31, 2001, installments shall not exceed the life expectancy of the payee or his
primary Beneficiary (whichever is greater) determined as of the date on which the benefits first became payable. The annual installments shall be
calculated in a manner which provides substantially equal annual installments, or shall be calculated each year by dividing the unpaid amount of
the benefits as of January 1 of that year by the remaining number of unpaid installments; or
(c) Payment through a combination of the foregoing methods.
5.03(a) For Participants who terminate prior to January 1, 2002, Plan benefits payable under Section 5.02 shall begin to be paid not later than
February 15 of the first calendar year which begins after the date on which (1) the final payment of the Participant's Compensation is scheduled
to be made, or (2) the Participant attains or would have attained age 65, whichever is later. For Participants who terminate on or after January 1,
2002, Plan benefits under
Section 5.02(2) shall begin to be paid in January following the year the Participant terminated, or sixty days after termination of employment,
whichever is later.
(b) Plan benefits are paid from a Moody's Account in accordance with Section 5.02(2) or 5.02(3), amounts (if any) described in Section 3.04
shall be paid first from 3.04(c), and will be paid from 3.04(b) next, and lastly from 3.04(a).

5.04 Notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary, the amount then credited to the Moody's Account, Stock Unit Account and Interest
Account of each Key Executive shall become due and payable immediately upon a Change in Control as defined in Section 9.03.
5.05 Distributions under this Article V shall be made on a pro-rata basis from each account in which there is an amount.
ARTICLE VI -- BENEFICIARIES
6.01 A Participant may designate one or more Beneficiaries to receive Plan benefits payable on the Participant's account after his death. A
Beneficiary may designate one or more Beneficiaries to receive any unpaid Plan benefits to the extent this designation does not contravene any
designation filed by the deceased Participant through whom the Beneficiary himself claims under this Plan. Beneficiaries shall be designated
only upon forms made available by or satisfactory to the Benefits Committee or its designee, and filed by the Participant or Beneficiary with that
committee or designee.
6.02 At any time prior to his death, a Participant or Beneficiary may change his own designation of Beneficiary by filing a substitute designation
of Beneficiary with the Benefits Committee or its designee.
6.03 In the absence of an effective designation of Beneficiary, or if all persons so designated shall have predeceased the Participant/Beneficiary
or shall have died before the complete distribution of Plan benefits, the balance of Plan benefits shall be paid to the Participant/Beneficiary's
surviving spouse or, if none, to the Participant/Beneficiary's issue per stirpes or, if no issue, to the executor or administrator of the
Participant/Beneficiary's estate.
6.04 If a Participant's Compensation or a Plan benefit is community property, any designation of Beneficiary shall be valid or effective only as
permitted under applicable law.
6.05 If a Plan benefit is payable to a minor or person declared incompetent or to a person incapable of handling the disposition of his property,
the Benefits Committee may direct Textron to pay such Plan benefit to the guardian, legal representative or person having the care and custody
of such minor, incompetent or person. The Benefits Committee may require proof of incompetency, minority, incapacity or guardianship as it
deems appropriate prior to distribution of the Plan benefit. Such distribution shall completely discharge the Benefits Committee and any Textron
Company from all liability with respect to such benefit.
ARTICLE VII -- UNFUNDED PLAN
7.01 Benefits to be provided under this Plan are unfunded obligations of Textron. Nothing contained in this Plan shall require Textron to
segregate any monies from its general funds, to create any trust, to make any special deposits, or to purchase any policies of insurance with
respect to such obligations. If Textron elects to purchase individual policies of insurance on one or more of the Participants to help finance its
obligations under this Plan, such individual policies and the proceeds therefrom shall at all times remain the sole property of Textron and neither
the Participants whose lives are insured nor their Beneficiaries shall have any ownership rights in such policies of insurance.
7.02 This Plan is intended to provide benefits for a select group of management employees who are highly compensated, pursuant to Section 110
of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

ARTICLE VIII -- PLAN ADMINISTRATION
8.01 Textron shall be the plan administrator of this Plan and shall be solely responsible for its general administration and interpretation. Textron
shall have all such powers as may be necessary to carry out the provisions hereof. Textron may from time to time establish rules for the
administration of this Plan and the transaction of its business. Subject to Section 8.04, any action by Textron shall be final, conclusive and
binding on each Participant and all persons claiming by, through or under any Participant. Textron (and any person or persons to whom it
delegates any of its authority as plan administrator) shall have discretionary authority to determine eligibility for Plan benefits, to construe the
terms of the Plan, and to determine all questions arising in the administration of the Plan, and shall make all such determinations and
interpretations in a nondiscriminatory manner.
8.02 Textron may employ or engage such agents, accountants, actuaries, counsel, other experts and other persons as it deems necessary or
desirable in connection with the interpretation and administration of this Plan. Textron shall be entitled to rely upon all certifications made by an
accountant selected by Textron. Textron and its committees, officers, directors and employees shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered or
omitted by them in good faith in reliance upon the advice or opinion of any such agent, accountant, actuary, counsel or other expert. All action so
taken, suffered or omitted shall be conclusive upon each of them and upon all other persons interested in this Plan.
8.03 Textron may require proof of the death or Total Disability of any Participant, former Participant or Beneficiary and evidence of the right of
any person to receive any Plan benefit.
8.04 Claims under this Plan shall be filed in writing with Textron. If a claim is denied wholly or in part, it shall be denied within a reasonable
time after its filing in a writing delivered to the claimant with the reasons for the denial, citations to pertinent provisions of the Plan, a description
of any additional material or information to be furnished by the claimant and the reasons therefor and an explanation of the Plan's claim review
procedure. If the claimant wishes further consideration of his claim, he or his authorized representative shall submit to Textron, within 90 days
after his claim has been denied, a written request for reconsideration. Such claimant or his authorized representative may review pertinent
documents and submit issues and comments in writing. Within 60 days after receiving the request for reconsideration (120 days if additional
time is required), Textron shall communicate its decision to the claimant in writing, stating the reasons for its decision and referring to pertinent
Plan provisions.
8.05 Textron shall withhold from benefits paid under this Plan any taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by law.
ARTICLE IX -- MISCELLANEOUS
9.01 Unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly provided, each use in this Plan of the masculine or feminine gender shall include the
other and each use of the singular number shall include the plural.
9.02 No amount payable at any time under this Plan shall be subject in any manner to alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge or
encumbrance of any kind unless specifically approved in writing in advance by the Benefits Committee or its designee. Any attempt to alienate,
sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber any such benefit, whether presently or subsequently payable, shall be void unless so
approved. Except as required by law, no benefit payable under this Plan shall in any manner be subject to garnishment, attachment, execution or

other legal process, or be liable for or subject to the debts or liability of any Participant or Beneficiary.
9.03 Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the Board or its designee shall have the right to amend, modify, suspend or terminate this
Plan at any time by written ratification of such action; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, suspension or termination:
(a) Shall reduce the amount credited to any Moody's Account, Stock Unit Account or Interest Account immediately before the effective date of
the amendment, modification, suspension or termination; or
(b) Shall be made to Article V or this Section 9.03 following a Change in Control.
If after a Change in Control any claim is made or any litigation is brought by a Participant or Beneficiary to enforce or interpret any provision
contained in this Plan, Textron and the "person" or "group" described in the next following sentence shall be liable, jointly and severally, to
indemnify the Participant or Beneficiary for the Participant's or Beneficiary's reasonable attorney's fees and disbursements incurred in any such
claim or litigation and for prejudgment interest at the Bankers Trust Company prime interest rate on any money award or judgment obtained by
the Participant or Beneficiary.
For purposes of this Plan, a "Change in Control" shall occur if (i) any "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act")) other than Textron, any trustee or other fiduciary holding Textron Common Stock
under an employee benefit plan of Textron or a related company, or any corporation which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders
of Textron in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Textron Common Stock, is or becomes (other than by acquisition from
Textron or a related company) the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Act) of more than 30% of the then outstanding voting
stock of Textron, or (ii) during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board (and
any new director whose election by the Board or whose nomination for election by Textron's stockholders was approved by a vote of at least
two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for
election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof, or (iii) stockholders of Textron approve a merger or
consolidation of Textron with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of Textron
outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the
surviving entity) more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Textron or such surviving entity outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (iv) the stockholders of Textron approve a plan of complete liquidation of Textron or an
agreement for the sale or disposition by Textron of all or substantially all of Textron's assets.
9.04 This Plan shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.
9.05 Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between any Participant and any Textron Company, or to
suggest or create a right in any Participant to be continued in employment as a Key Executive or other employee of any Textron Company.
9.06 Textron, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer, and the Benefits Committee may impose such other lawful
terms and conditions on participation in this

Plan as deemed desirable. The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Human Resources Officer and members of the Benefits Committee may
participate in this Plan.

EXHIBIT 10.3
SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PLAN FOR TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
This Plan has been established for the benefit of designated Textron Key Executives to provide the benefits that would have been payable under
Textron qualified plans except for limitations imposed under the Internal Revenue Code.
This Plan is restated and effective on and after January 1, 2002.
ARTICLE I -- DEFINITIONS
In this document, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Article, unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly
provided:
1.01 "Benefits Committee" means the Benefits Committee of Textron.
1.02 "Board" means the Board of Directors of Textron.
1.03 "Compensation" means base salary, accrued annual incentive compensation, performance units, and performance share units, whether or not
deferred under the Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives or the Textron Deferred Income Plan for Executives. However, for any
Key Executive who is first awarded performance share units after October 26, 1999, performance share units shall not be included in
Compensation. For Key Executives who are members of the Textron Pension Plan for Cessna Employees, compensation shall mean "Final
Average Monthly Salary" as defined in Section 2.01(a) of that plan. "Final Average Monthly Salary" shall include incentive compensation paid
by Textron and shall exclude long-term incentive compensation and shall be calculated without regard to Statutory Limits or deferrals.
Compensation does not include any award under the Textron Quality Management Plan or the Supplemental Bonus Plan for Textron Financial
Corporation Executives.
1.04 "Deferral Plans" means the Textron Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives and the Textron Deferred Income Plan for
Executives, as amended and restated from time to time.
1.05 "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
1.06 "Included Plan" means a Textron defined benefit or defined contribution plan specifically designated by the Management Committee under
Article V.
1.07 "Key Executive" means an employee of a Textron Company who has been and continues to be designated as a Key Executive under the
Plan by Textron's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer.
1.08 "Management Committee" means the Management Committee of Textron.
1.09 "Participant" means a Key Executive who is participating in this Plan pursuant to Article II and, unless the context clearly indicates to the
contrary, a former Participant who is entitled to benefits under this Plan.

1.10 "Pension Plan" means the Bell Helicopter Textron Retirement Plan, the Textron Pension Plan for Cessna Employees, the Textron Master
Retirement Plan or an Included Plan that is a defined benefit plan.
1.11 "Plan" means this Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives, as amended and restated from time to time.
1.12 "Savings Plan" means the Textron Savings Plan, as amended and restated from time to time.
1.13 "Statutory Limit" means any limit on benefits under, or annual additions to, qualified plans imposed by Section 401(a)(17) or 415 of the
Internal Revenue Codes of 1954 or 1986, as amended from time to time.
1.14 "Supplemental Shares" means fictional shares of Textron common stock accumulated and accounted for under this Plan for the purpose of
determining the cash value of distributions and transfers from a Participant's supplemental savings account.
1.15 "Textron" means Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor of Textron Inc.
1.16 "Textron Company" means Textron or any company controlled by or under common control with Textron.
ARTICLE II -- PARTICIPATION
2.01 A Key Executive shall participate in this Plan if (1) her benefits under a Pension Plan, or (2) the annual additions to her accounts under the
Savings Plan or any Included Plan that is a defined contribution plan, or (3) both such benefits and such additions, are limited by one or more
Statutory Limits. In addition, a Key Executive shall participate in this Plan if her receipt of any compensation is deferred under the Deferral
Plans.
ARTICLE III -- SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION BENEFITS
3.01 Textron shall pay on account of each Participant who begins to receive payments under one or more of the Pension Plans the amount, if
any, by which (1) the normal, early or vested retirement pension that would have been payable on the Participant's account under the Pension
Plans, using Compensation as defined in this Plan, exceeds (2) the normal, early or vested retirement pension calculated under the Pension Plans
on the Participant's account.
3.02 Textron shall pay to the beneficiary designated by the Participant under each Pension Plan the amount, if any, by which (1) the death benefit
that would have been payable under that Pension Plan on the Participant's account using Compensation as defined in this Plan exceeds (2) the
death benefit which is actually payable under that Pension Plan on the Participant's account. For the purposes of this Section, the term "death
benefit" shall include any period certain death benefit and any surviving spouse benefit provided by a Textron Company at its sole cost through a
Pension Plan.
3.03 In the event Textron transfers the liability of a Pension Plan on account of a Participant to another qualified plan, the supplemental pension
or death benefits under Sections 3.01 and 3.02, respectively, shall be determined as of such transfer, unless otherwise decided by Textron in its
sole discretion.

ARTICLE IV -- SUPPLEMENTAL SAVINGS BENEFITS
4.01 Textron shall maintain a supplemental savings account and a fixed income account for each Participant who participates in the Savings Plan
for making credits, payments, and transfers described in this Article.
4.02 Textron shall, as of the end of each calendar month, credit Supplemental Shares to each supplemental savings account, equal to the lost
employer contribution for the month divided by the average of the composite closing prices of Textron common stock, as reported in The Wall
Street Journal for the month. The lost employer contribution for the month shall be equal to the Participant's Savings Plan eligible compensation
for the month times the Participant's Savings Plan election percentage (not to exceed 10%) times 50%, less the employer contribution made to
the Participant's Savings Plan account for the month.
4.03 Textron shall, in each calendar quarter, credit Supplemental Shares to a Participant's supplemental savings account equal in number to the
number of shares of Textron common stock that would have been allocated on account of dividends to the Participant's supplemental savings
account as of that date, based on the average of the composite closing prices of Textron common stock, as reported in The Wall Street Journal
for the month in which the date of record occurs.
4.04 Amounts in the fixed income account shall earn the same rate of interest that is earned under the Savings Plan fixed income account, or as
determined by the Benefits Committee.
4.05 A Participant who has terminated her Textron employment may, after a period of 30 days, subject to the provisions of Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, once each calendar quarter, elect to transfer, in 10% increments, effective the first calendar day of the month
following the minimum notice of three business days, any amount in her supplemental savings account to her fixed income account. The cash
value transferred will be determined by multiplying the current value of Textron common stock by the number of whole and fractional
Supplemental Shares in her supplemental savings account as of the end of the month in which the election is made times the percentage being
transferred. If any portion of a Participant's accounts under the Savings Plan shall be forfeited, a proportionate part of the Participant's
Supplemental Shares also shall be forfeited. The current value of a share of Textron common stock at any date shall be the average of the
composite closing prices, as reported in The Wall Street Journal, for the first ten trading days of the effective month.
4.06 The number of Supplemental Shares credited to a Participant's account under this Article IV shall be adjusted, without receipt of any
consideration by Textron, on account of any stock split, stock dividend or similar increase or decrease affecting Textron common stock, as if the
Supplemental Shares were actually shares of Textron common stock.
ARTICLE V -- SUPPLEMENTAL INCLUDED PLAN BENEFITS
5.01 The Management Committee may cause this Plan to provide supplemental benefits on account of an Included Plan by adopting a Schedule
to this Plan. The Schedule shall specify any special terms or conditions upon which the supplemental benefits shall be provided. Except as
specifically provided in a Schedule, all of the terms and conditions of this Plan shall apply to the Included Plan.
ARTICLE VI -- UNFUNDED PLAN
6.01 Benefits to be provided under this Plan are unfunded obligations of Textron. Nothing contained in this Plan shall require Textron to
segregate any monies from its general funds, to create any trust, to make any special deposits, or to purchase any policies of insurance with

respect to such obligations. If Textron elects to purchase individual policies of insurance on one or more of the Participants to help finance its
obligations under this Plan, such individual policies and the proceeds therefrom shall at all times remain the sole property of Textron and neither
the Participants whose lives are insured nor their beneficiaries shall have any ownership rights in such policies of insurance.
6.02 This Plan is intended in part to provide benefits for a select group of management employees who are highly compensated, pursuant to
Section 110 of ERISA and Labor Department Regulations Section 2520.104-23, and in part to be an excess benefit plan, pursuant to Section 3
(36) of ERISA.
6.03 No Participant shall be required or permitted to make contributions to this Plan.
ARTICLE VII -- PLAN ADMINISTRATION
7.01 Textron shall be the plan administrator of this Plan and shall be solely responsible for its general administration and interpretation. Textron
shall have all such powers as may be necessary to carry out the provisions hereof. Textron may from time to time establish rules for the
administration of this Plan and the transaction of its business. Subject to Section 7.05, any action by Textron shall be final, conclusive and
binding on each Participant and all persons claiming by, through or under any Participant. Textron (and any person or persons to whom it
delegates any of its authority as plan administrator) shall have discretionary authority to determine eligibility for Plan benefits, to construe the
terms of the Plan, and to determine all questions arising in the administration of the Plan, and shall make all such determinations and
interpretations in a nondiscriminatory manner.
7.02(a) The payment of any benefit under Article III or the distribution of any account under Article IV or Article V shall be made at the same
time, in the same manner, to the same persons and in the same proportions, as is made the payment or distribution under the related Pension Plan
or Savings Plan, or otherwise as determined by the Benefits Committee in its sole discretion. However, if a Participant's supplemental savings
account contains 50 Supplemental Shares or less at termination, such Participant's supplemental savings account shall be paid in a single sum.
Textron may withhold from benefits and accounts under this Plan, any taxes or other amounts required by law to be withheld. Notwithstanding
any provision to the contrary, no benefit shall be paid to any Participant while employed by Textron.
(b) Notwithstanding Section 7.02(a), each benefit then computed under Article III and each amount then credited to the accounts under Article
IV and Article V shall become due and payable to the respective Participants and beneficiaries immediately upon a Change in Control as defined
in Section 8.03. For purposes of
Section 7.02, the present value of a benefit computed under Article III shall be based on the appropriate actuarial assumptions and factors set
forth in the related Pension Plan or Savings Plan and, if no interest rate assumption has been set forth for any purpose, an interest rate of six
percent per year.
7.03 Textron may employ or engage such agents, accountants, actuaries, counsel, other experts and other persons as it deems necessary or
desirable in connection with the interpretation and administration of this Plan. Textron shall be entitled to rely upon all certifications made by an
accountant selected by Textron. Textron and its committees, officers, directors and employees shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered or
omitted by them in good faith in reliance upon the advice or opinion of any such agent, accountant, actuary, counsel or other expert. All action so
taken, suffered or omitted shall be conclusive upon each of them and upon all other persons interested in this Plan.

7.04 Textron may require proof of death or total disability of any Participant, former Participant or beneficiary and evidence of the right of any
person to receive any Plan benefit.
7.05 Claims under this Plan shall be filed in writing with Textron. If a claim is denied wholly or in part, it shall be denied within a reasonable
time after its filing in a writing delivered to the claimant with the reasons for the denial, citations to pertinent provisions of the Plan, a description
of any additional material or information to be furnished by the claimant and the reasons therefor and an explanation of the Plan's claim review
procedure. If the claimant wishes further consideration of his claim, he or his authorized representative shall submit to Textron, within 90 days
after his claim has been denied, a written request for reconsideration. Such claimant or his authorized representative may review pertinent
documents and submit issues and comments in writing. Within 60 days after receiving the request for reconsideration (120 days if additional
time is required), Textron shall communicate its decision to the claimant in writing, stating the reasons for its decision and referring to pertinent
Plan provisions.
ARTICLE VIII -- MISCELLANEOUS
8.01 Unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly provided, each use in this Plan of the masculine or feminine gender shall include the
other and each use of the singular number shall include the plural.
8.02 No amount payable at any time under this Plan shall be subject in any manner to alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge or
encumbrance of any kind unless specifically approved in writing in advance by the Benefits Committee or its designee. Any attempt to alienate,
sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber any such benefit, whether presently or subsequently payable, shall be void unless so
approved. Except as required by law, no benefit payable under this Plan shall in any manner be subject to garnishment, attachment, execution or
other legal process, or be liable for or subject to the debts or liability of any Participant or beneficiary.
8.03 Notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary, the Board or its designee shall have the right to amend, modify, suspend or terminate
this Plan at any time by written ratification of such action; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, suspension or termination:
(a) Shall reduce an amount payable under Article III or credited to any supplemental account under Article IV or Article V of this Plan
immediately before the effective date of the amendment, modification, suspension or termination; or
(b) Shall be made to Section 7.02 or 8.03 following a Change in Control.
If after a Change in Control any claim is made or any litigation is brought by a Participant or beneficiary to enforce or interpret any provision
contained in this Plan, Textron and the "person" or "group" described in the next following sentence shall be liable, jointly and severally, to
indemnify the Participant or beneficiary for the Participant's or beneficiary's reasonable attorney's fees and disbursements incurred in any such
claim or litigation and for prejudgment interest at the Bankers Trust Company prime interest rate on any money award or judgment obtained by
the Participant or beneficiary.
For purposes of this Plan, a "Change in Control" shall occur if (i) any "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act")) other than Textron, any trustee or other fiduciary holding Textron common

stock under an employee benefit plan of Textron or a related company, or any corporation which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the
stockholders of Textron in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Textron common stock, is or becomes (other than by
acquisition from Textron or a related company) the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Act) of more than 30% of the then
outstanding voting stock of Textron, or (ii) during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period
constitute the Board (and any new director whose election by the Board or whose nomination for election by Textron's stockholders was
approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of such period or whose
election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof, or (iii) stockholders of
Textron approve a merger or consolidation of Textron with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the
voting securities of Textron outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being
converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Textron or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (iv) the stockholders of Textron approve a plan of complete
liquidation of Textron or an agreement for the sale or disposition by Textron of all or substantially all of Textron's assets.
8.04 This Plan shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.
8.05 Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between any Participant and any Textron Company, or to
suggest or create a right in any Participant to be continued in employment as a Key Executive or other employee of any Textron Company.
8.06 Textron, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer, and the Benefits Committee may impose such other lawful
terms and conditions on participation in this Plan as deemed desirable. The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Human Resources Officer and
members of the Benefits Committee may participate in this Plan.

SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PLAN FOR
TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
(EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2002)
FIRST AMENDMENT
Pursuant to Section 8.03 of the Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives (Restated, effective January 1, 2002) (the "Plan"),
Textron Inc. hereby amends the Plan, effective May 1, 2003, as follows:
Section 4.02 of The Supplemental Savings Plan is hereby amended by adding to the end of said Section the following:
"The final Textron credit under the provisions of this paragraph shall be made as of April 30, 2003."
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Textron Inc. has caused this First Amendment to be executed by its duly authorized officer to be effective as of May
1, 2003.
TEXTRON INC.
By: ______________________________
George E. Metzger
Vice President Human Resources
and Benefits

SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PLAN FOR
TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
(EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2002)
SECOND AMENDMENT
Pursuant to Section 8.03 of the Supplemental Benefits Plan for Textron Key Executives (Restated, effective January 1, 2002) (the "Plan"),
Textron Inc. hereby amends the Plan, effective January 1, 2004, as follows:
Section 4.02 of The Supplemental Savings Plan is hereby amended by deleting from the end of said Section the following:
"The final Textron credit under the provisions of this paragraph shall be made as of April 30, 2003."
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Textron Inc. has caused this Second Amendment to be executed by its duly authorized officer to be effective as of
January 1, 2004.
TEXTRON INC.
By: ______________________________
George E. Metzger
Vice President Human Resources
and Benefits

EXHIBIT 10.4
SUPPLEMENTAL RETIREMENT PLAN FOR TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
This Plan has been established for the benefit of designated Textron Key Executives to secure their goodwill, loyalty, and achievement, and to
attract and retain persons of outstanding competence.
This Plan is restated and effective as of January 1, 2001.
ARTICLE I -- DEFINITIONS
Whenever used in this document, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Article unless a contrary or different meaning is
expressly provided:
1.01 "Beneficiary" means the person or persons entitled under this Plan to receive Plan benefits after a Participant's death.
1.02 "Benefits Committee" means the Benefits Committee of Textron.
1.03 "Board" means the Board of Directors of Textron.
1.04 "Compensation" means base salary, accrued annual incentive compensation, performance units, and performance share units, whether or not
deferred under the Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives or Textron Deferred Income Plan for Executives. However, for any Key
Executive who is first awarded performance share units after October 26, 1999, performance share units shall not be included in Compensation.
Compensation does not include awards under the Supplemental Bonus Plan for Textron Financial Corporation Executives or the Textron Quality
Management Plan. "Average Compensation" means the average of a Participant's Compensation during the five consecutive years in which the
Compensation is highest.
1.05 "Key Executive" means an employee of a Textron Company who has been and continues to be designated as a Key Executive by Textron's
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer.
1.06 "Normal Form of Benefit" means a life annuity unless the Participant was designated a Participant in this Plan prior to July 23, 1998, in
which case the Normal Form of Benefit shall be a Joint and 50% Survivor annuity.
1.07 "Participant" means a Key Executive selected by Textron's Chief Executive Officer for participation in this Plan.
1.08 "Pension Plan" means the Bell Helicopter Textron Retirement Plan, the Textron Master Retirement Plan, or an included plan.
1.09 "Plan" means this Restated Supplemental Retirement Plan for Textron Key Executives, as amended and restated from time to time.
1.10 "Surviving Spouse" means a Participant's spouse who is married to the Participant on the day of the Participant's death while active or on
the dates of the Participant's retirement and death.

1.11 "Textron" means Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor of Textron Inc.
1.12 "Textron Company" means Textron or any company controlled by or under common control with Textron.
ARTICLE II -- BENEFIT
2.01 Subject to Sections 2.02 and 2.03, the maximum benefit provided to Participants who qualify for benefits under this Plan is an annuity
commencing upon retirement equal to 50% of Average Compensation (the "Target Benefit") less the offsets and adjusted by the Early
Retirement Factors as set out below.
2.02 The Target Benefit shall be reduced by any nonqualified or qualified pension plan benefits payable at age 65 from a prior employer other
than a Textron employer. The reduction for any prior employer plans shall be the actuarial equivalent of a life annuity. The net Target Benefit
after reduction for any prior employer plans shall then be multiplied by the Early Retirement Factor as set out in Section 2.03 below. The product
of the net Target Benefit times the Early Retirement Factor shall then be reduced by any and all amounts payable to the Participant at the time of
retirement under any qualified or nonqualified Pension Plan. The reduction for all Pension Plans shall be a Normal Form of Benefit based on the
tables in the Pension Plan. It shall be the obligation of each Participant to disclose to Textron any amounts that might be used under this section
to reduce the benefits provided by this Plan. Such disclosure shall include information on annuity payments and lump-sum cash payments from
other plans.
2.03 The Participant's benefits under this Plan shall be based on the Participant's age at retirement (including death or disability) in accordance
with the following schedule:

AGE AT RETIREMENT
----------------65
64
63
62
61
60
Less Than 60

EARLY RETIREMENT
FACTORS
------100%
90
80
70
60
50
0

The Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board shall, in its sole discretion, have the authority to provide a Participant with an
enhanced benefit.
2.04 The Normal Form of Benefit shall be a life annuity unless the Participant was designated a Participant in this Plan prior to July 23, 1998, in
which case the Normal Form of Benefit shall be a Joint and 50% Survivor annuity. The payment of any benefit under Section 2.01 shall be paid
in the Normal Form of Benefit or otherwise as determined by Textron's Chief Executive Officer in his sole discretion after considering any form
of payment requested by the Participant, Surviving Spouse, or other Beneficiary entitled to receive the benefits. Any form of benefit payable
other than the Normal Form shall be the actuarial equivalent of the Normal Form using the factors in the Textron Master Retirement Plan. For
any individual who becomes a Participant after July 23, 1998, their benefit payments will be reduced if they elect a 50% or a 100% Joint and
Survivor Benefit. The Joint and Survivor factors are the same factors provided by the Textron Master Retirement Plan.

2.05 If a Participant dies after age 60 and prior to benefit commencement under this Plan, the Participant's Surviving Spouse will receive an
annuity equal to the amount the Spouse would have received assuming the Participant had requested a Joint and 50% Survivor annuity and
retired the day before he died.
ARTICLE III -- UNFUNDED PLAN
3.01 Benefits to be provided under this Plan are unfunded obligations of Textron. Nothing contained in this Plan shall require Textron to
segregate any monies from its general funds, to create any trust, to make any special deposits, or to purchase any policies of insurance with
respect to such obligations. If Textron elects to purchase individual policies of insurance on one or more of the Participants to help finance its
obligations under this Plan, such individual policies and the proceeds therefrom shall at all times remain the sole property of Textron and neither
the Participants whose lives are insured nor their Beneficiaries shall have any ownership rights in such policies of insurance.
3.02 This Plan is intended to provide benefits for a select group of management employees who are highly compensated, pursuant to Section 110
of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA).
3.03 No Participant shall be required or permitted to make contributions to this Plan.
ARTICLE IV -- PLAN ADMINISTRATION
4.01(a) Textron shall be the plan administrator of this Plan and shall be solely responsible for its general administration and interpretation.
Textron shall have all such powers as may be necessary to carry out the respective provisions hereof. Textron may from time to time establish
rules of the administration of this Plan and the transaction of its business. Subject to Section 4.03, any action by Textron shall be final,
conclusive, and binding on each Participant and all persons claiming by, through, or under any Participant.
(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to the contrary, the Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board shall render all
decisions under this Plan (including participation, Plan benefits, and benefit distributions) affecting Textron's Chief Executive Officer.
(c) Textron (and any person or persons to whom it delegates any of its authority as plan administrator) shall have discretionary authority to
determine eligibility for Plan benefits, to construe the terms of the Plan, and to determine all questions arising in the administration of the Plan,
and shall make all such determinations and interpretations in a nondiscriminatory manner.
(d) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, no benefit shall be paid to any Participant while employed by Textron.
4.02 Textron may employ or engage such agents, accountants, actuaries, counsel, other experts, and other persons as it deems necessary or
desirable in connection with the interpretation and administration of this Plan. Textron shall be entitled to rely upon all certifications made by an
accountant selected by Textron. Textron and its committees, officers, directors, and employees shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered,
or omitted by them in good faith in reliance upon the advice or opinion of any such agent, accountant, actuary, counsel, or other expert. All
action so taken, suffered, or omitted shall be conclusive upon each of them and upon all other persons interested in this Plan.

4.03 Textron may require proof of death or total disability of any Participant, former Participant or beneficiary and evidence of the right of any
person to receive any Plan benefit.
4.04 Claims under this Plan shall be filed in writing with Textron. If a claim is denied wholly or in part, it shall be denied within a reasonable
time after its filing in a writing delivered to the claimant with the reasons for the denial, citations to pertinent provisions of the Plan, a description
of any additional material or information to be furnished by the claimant and the reasons therefor, and an explanation of the Plan's claim review
procedure. If the claimant wishes further consideration of his claim, he or his authorized representative shall submit to Textron, within 90 days
after his claim has been denied, a written request for reconsideration. Such claimant or his authorized representative may review pertinent
documents and submit issues and comments in writing. Within 60 days after receiving the request for reconsideration (120 days if additional
time is required), Textron shall communicate its decision to the claimant in writing, stating the reasons for its decision and referring to pertinent
Plan provisions.
4.05 Textron shall withhold from benefits paid under this Plan any taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by law.
ARTICLE V -- MISCELLANEOUS
5.01 Unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly provided, each use in this Plan of the masculine or feminine gender shall include the
other and each use of the singular number shall include the plural.
5.02 No amount payable at any time under this Plan shall be subject in any manner to alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge or
encumbrance of any kind unless specifically approved in writing in advance by the Benefits Committee or its designee. Any attempt to alienate,
sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber any such benefit, whether presently or subsequently payable, shall be void unless so
approved. Except as required by law, no benefit payable under this Plan shall in any manner be subject to garnishment, attachment, execution or
other legal process, or be liable for or subject to the debts or liability of any Participant or beneficiary.
5.03 Notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary, the Board or its designee shall have the right to amend, modify, suspend, or terminate
this Plan at any time by written notification of such action; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, suspension, or termination:
(a) Shall reduce an amount payable under Article II before the effective date of the amendment, modification, suspension or termination; or
(b) Shall be made to Section 5.04 following a Change in Control.
5.04 If after a Change in Control any claim is made or any litigation is brought by a Participant or beneficiary to enforce or interpret any
provision contained in this Plan, Textron and the "person" or "group" described in the next following sentence shall be liable, jointly and
severally, to indemnify the Participant or beneficiary for the Participant's or beneficiary's reasonable attorney's fees and disbursements incurred
in any such claim or litigation and for prejudgment interest at the Bankers Trust Company prime interest rate on any money award or judgment
obtained by the Participant or beneficiary.
In the event that the Participant retires or his employment otherwise terminates at any time after a "Change in Control" as defined below, the
Participant shall, in lieu of the benefit payable under

Article II, receive a benefit equal to the actuarial present value at termination of the benefit the Participant would have received had the
Participant terminated employment at age 65, based upon the Participant's Average Compensation as of the date of her termination. If the
Participant terminates within 24 months after the Change in Control, such benefit shall be paid in a lump sum. If the Participant terminates more
than 24 months after the Change in Control, then the Participant shall be paid in an annuity. The Benefits Committee shall select the discount
rate and mortality table to be used in determining the actuarial present values.
For purposes of this Plan, a "Change in Control" shall occur if (i) any "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act")) other than Textron, any trustee or other fiduciary holding Textron common stock
under an employee benefit plan of Textron or a related company, or any corporation which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders
of Textron in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Textron common stock, is or becomes (other than by acquisition from
Textron or a related company) the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Act) of more than 30% of the then outstanding voting
stock of Textron, or (ii) during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board (and
any new director whose election by the Board or whose nomination for election by Textron's stockholders was approved by a vote of at least
two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for
election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a majority thereof, or (iii) stockholders of Textron approve a merger or
consolidation of Textron with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of Textron
outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the
surviving entity) more than 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Textron or such surviving entity outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (iv) the stockholders of Textron approve a plan of complete liquidation of Textron or an
agreement for the sale or disposition by Textron of all or substantially all of Textron's assets.
5.05 This Plan shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.
5.06 Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between any Participant and any Textron Company, or to
suggest or create a right in any Participant to be continued in any capacity with, or as an employee of, any Textron Company.

EXHIBIT 10.5
SURVIVOR BENEFIT PLAN FOR TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
This Plan has been established for the benefit of designated Textron Key Executives to secure their goodwill, loyalty, and achievement and to
attract and retain persons of outstanding competence.
This Plan is restated and effective as of January 1, 2001.
ARTICLE I -- DEFINITIONS
In this document, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Article, unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly
provided:
1.01 "Base Salary" means the annual rate of base salary of a Participant from a Textron Company at the time of the Participant's death or
termination of Textron Employment, as applicable. "Base Salary" shall not include incentive payments, bonuses, supplemental unemployment
benefits, contributions to any profit sharing or bonus plan, or expense reimbursements. Any Base Salary, the receipt of which by the Participant
is deferred under the Textron Savings Plan or the Deferred Income Plan for Textron Key Executives, shall be Base Salary under this Plan. The
Benefits Committee or its designee shall determine whether a particular item of income constitutes Base Salary if a question arises.
1.02 "Beneficiary" means the person or persons entitled under this Plan to receive a Survivor Benefit after a Participant's death.
1.03 "Benefits Committee" means the Benefits Committee of Textron.
1.04 "Board" means the Board of Directors of Textron.
1.05 "Key Executive" means an employee of a Textron Company who has been and continues to be designated a Key Executive under the Plan
by Textron's Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer.
1.06 "Participant" means a present Key Executive or a former Key Executive who continues to be designated a Participant under the Plan by
Textron's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer.
1.07 "Plan" means this Survivor Benefit Plan for Textron Key Executives, as amended and restated from time to time.
1.08 "Survivor Benefit" means a benefit payable under Article III of this Plan.
1.09 "Textron" means Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor of Textron Inc.
1.10 "Textron Company" means Textron or any company controlled by or under common control with Textron.
1.11 "Textron Employment" means employment with a Textron Company. Leaves of absence for such periods and purposes as are approved by
Textron and transfers of employment within or between Textron Companies shall not be deemed interruptions of Textron Employment.

1.12 "Total Disability" has the same meaning under this Plan as in the Textron Master Retirement Plan with respect to any Participant at the date
his Textron Employment ends.
ARTICLE II -- PARTICIPATION
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer of Textron shall designate from time to time the present and former Key
Executives who shall be Participants in this Plan. A Beneficiary shall be eligible for benefits only as hereinafter provided.
ARTICLE III -- SURVIVOR BENEFIT
3.01 If a Key Executive's Textron Employment ends because of death, his Beneficiary shall receive a Survivor Benefit equal to three times the
Key Executive's Base Salary at the time of his death.
3.02 If a Participant's Textron Employment ends (a) at or after age 62 (other than for less than acceptable performance), (b) as a result of Total
Disability, or (c) under circumstances approved in writing for this specific purpose by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human
Resources Officer of Textron, or because of death while she is no longer a Key Executive, her Beneficiary shall receive upon her death a
Survivor Benefit equal to two times the Participant's Base Salary at the time her Textron Employment ended.
3.03 If a Participant's Textron Employment ends other than as described in Sections 3.01 or 3.02, no Survivor Benefit shall be payable on his
account.
ARTICLE IV -- PAYMENT OF SURVIVOR BENEFIT
4.01 The Benefits Committee or its designee shall choose in its sole discretion the method described in Section 4.02 by which a Survivor Benefit
payable under Article III shall be distributed, after considering any method of payment requested by the Participant or by the Beneficiary entitled
to receive the benefit.
4.02 As soon as practical after a Survivor Benefit becomes payable under Article III, Textron, upon the written instructions of the Benefits
Committee or its designee, shall distribute the benefit in accordance with any one of the following methods:
(a) Payment in a single sum; or
(b) Payment in a number of annual installments, each payable as soon as practical after the end of each successive calendar year, over a period
not exceeding ten years from the date on which the benefit first becomes payable. The annual installments shall be calculated in a manner which
provides substantially equal installments or shall be calculated each year by dividing the unpaid amount of the benefit as of January 1 of that
year by the remaining number of unpaid installments; or
(c) Payment through a combination of the foregoing methods.
4.03 Simple interest shall be credited on any unpaid balance of a Survivor Benefit based on an average of the monthly Moody's Corporate Bond
Yield Index as published by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (or any successor thereto), or, if such average is no longer published, a substantially
similar average selected by the Benefits Committee.

4.04 (a) Notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary, upon a Change in Control as defined in Section 8.03, Textron shall transfer the
assets described in Section 4.04(2) and 4.04(4) to each Participant who is then a Key Executive, and to each former Key Executive described in
Section 3.02 or his Beneficiary.
(b) The assets transferable under Section 4.04(1) shall consist of life insurance, cash or a combination of life insurance and cash. The target value
of the assets to be transferred shall equal: (a) two times the transferee's Base Salary immediately before the Change in Control, if her Textron
Employment had not ended before that date; (b) two times the transferee's Base Salary at the time her Textron Employment ended, if she is then
a former employee; or (c) the balance of the Survivor Benefit, calculated as of immediately before the Change in Control, if the transferee is a
Beneficiary.
(c) For the purposes of Sections 4.04, the value of transferred assets shall consist of: (a) the face amount of one or more paid-up, noncancellable
life insurance policies (or portions of such policies) naming the Key Executive or former Key Executive as owner thereof and insured
thereunder, and naming his Beneficiary or other person(s) designated by him as beneficiary thereof, and (b) in the case of cash transferred under
Section 4.04(1) to a Beneficiary, the amount of that cash.
(d) Upon a Change in Control, Textron shall make good faith efforts to transfer to each Key Executive or former Key Executive described in
Section 4.04(1) transferred life insurance equal in value to the target value, as defined in
Section 4.04(2), for that individual. If Textron is unable to transfer sufficient transferred life insurance, Textron shall pay a cash payment
forthwith to the individual in a mutually-agreed amount.
ARTICLE V -- BENEFICIARIES
5.01 A Participant may designate one or more Beneficiaries to receive a Survivor Benefit payable on the Participant's death. A Beneficiary may
designate one or more Beneficiaries to receive any unpaid balance of a Survivor Benefit, to the extent this designation does not contravene any
designation filed by the deceased Participant through whom the Beneficiary himself claims under this Plan. Beneficiaries shall be designated
only upon forms made available by or satisfactory to the Benefits Committee or its designee and filed by the Participant or Beneficiary with that
committee or designee.
5.02 A Participant or Beneficiary may change her own designation of Beneficiary by filing a substitute designation of Beneficiary with the
Benefits Committee or its designee.
5.03 In the absence of an effective designation of Beneficiary, or if all persons so designated shall have predeceased the Participant/Beneficiary
or shall have died before the complete distribution of Plan benefits, the balance of Plan benefits shall be paid to the Participant/Beneficiary's
surviving spouse or, if none, to the Participant/Beneficiary's issue per stirpes or, if no issue, to the executor or administrator of the
Participant/Beneficiary's estate.
5.04 If a Participant's Base Salary or a Survivor Benefit is community property, any designation of Beneficiary shall be valid or effective only as
permitted under applicable law.
5.05 If a Survivor Benefit is payable to a minor or person declared incompetent or to a person incapable of handling the disposition of his
property, the Benefits Committee may direct Textron to pay such Survivor Benefit to the guardian, legal representative or person having the care
and custody of such minor, incompetent or person. The Benefits Committee may require proof of

incompetency, minority, incapacity or guardianship as it deems appropriate prior to distribution of the Survivor Benefit. Such distribution shall
completely discharge the Benefits Committee and any Textron Company from all liability with respect to such benefit.
ARTICLE VI -- UNFUNDED PLAN
6.01 Benefits to be provided under this Plan are unfunded obligations of Textron. Nothing contained in this Plan shall require Textron to
segregate any monies from its general funds, to create any trust, to make any special deposits, or to purchase any policies of insurance with
respect to such obligations. If Textron elects to purchase individual policies of insurance on one or more of the Participants to help finance its
obligations under this Plan, then, except as provided in Section 4.04, such individual policies and the proceeds therefrom shall at all times remain
the sole property of Textron, and neither the Participants whose lives are insured nor their Beneficiaries shall have any ownership rights in such
policies of insurance.
6.02 This Plan is intended to provide benefits for a select group of management employees who are highly compensated, pursuant to Section 104
(a)(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
6.03 No Participant shall be required or permitted to make contributions to this Plan.
ARTICLE VII -- PLAN ADMINISTRATION
7.01 Textron shall be the plan administrator of this Plan and shall be solely responsible for its general administration and interpretation. Textron
shall have all such powers as may be necessary to carry out the provisions hereof. Textron may from time to time establish rules for the
administration of this Plan and the transaction of its business. Subject to Section 7.04, any action by Textron shall be final, conclusive and
binding on each Participant and all persons claiming by, through or under any Participant. Textron (and any person or persons to whom it
delegates any of its authority as plan administrator) shall have discretionary authority to determine eligibility for Plan benefits, to construe the
terms of the Plan, and to determine all questions arising in the administration of the Plan, and shall make all such determinations and
interpretations in a nondiscriminatory manner.
7.02 Textron may employ or engage such agents, accountants, actuaries, counsel, other experts and other persons as it deems necessary or
desirable in connection with the interpretation and administration of this Plan. Textron shall be entitled to rely upon all certifications made by an
accountant selected by Textron. Textron and its committees, officers, directors and employees shall not be liable for any action taken, suffered or
omitted by them in good faith in reliance upon the advice or opinion of any such agent, accountant, actuary, counsel or other expert. All action so
taken, suffered or omitted shall be conclusive upon each of them and upon all other persons interested in this Plan.
7.03 Textron may require proof of the death or Total Disability of any Participant or Beneficiary and evidence of the right of any person to
receive any Survivor Benefit.
7.04 Claims under this Plan shall be filed in writing with Textron. If a claim is denied, wholly or in part, it shall be denied within a reasonable
time after its filing in a writing delivered to the claimant with the reasons for the denial, citations to pertinent provisions of the Plan, a description
of any additional material or information to be furnished by the claimant and the reasons therefor, and an explanation of the Plan's claim review
procedure. If the claimant wishes further consideration of her claim, she or her authorized representative shall submit to Textron, within 90 days
after her claim has been denied, a written request for reconsideration. Such claimant or her

authorized representative may review pertinent documents and submit issues and comments in writing. Within 60 days after receiving the
request for reconsideration (120 days if additional time is required), Textron shall communicate its decision to the claimant in writing, stating the
reasons for its decision and referring to pertinent Plan provisions.
7.05 Textron shall withhold from benefits paid under this Plan any taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by law.
ARTICLE VIII -- MISCELLANEOUS
8.01 Unless a contrary or different meaning is expressly provided, each use in this Plan of the masculine or feminine gender shall include the
other and each use of the singular number shall include the plural.
8.02 No amount payable under this Plan at any time shall be subject in any manner to alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge or
encumbrance of any kind unless specifically approved in writing in advance by the Benefits Committee or its designee. Any attempt to alienate,
sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber any such Benefit, whether presently or subsequently payable, shall be void unless so
approved. Except as required by law, no benefit payable under this Plan shall in any manner be subject to garnishment, attachment, execution or
other legal process, or be liable for or subject to the debts or liability of any Participant or Beneficiary.
8.03 Notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary, the Board or its designee shall have the right to amend, modify, suspend or terminate
this Plan at any time by written ratification of such action; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, suspension or termination:
(a) Shall adversely affect the right of a Beneficiary to receive a Survivor Benefit, as described in Article IV, payable as the result of the
Participant's death or action taken pursuant to Section 3.02 that occurred before the effective date of such amendment, modification, suspension
or termination; or
(b) Shall be made to Article IV or this Section 8.03 following a Change in Control. If after a Change in Control any claim is made or any
litigation is brought by a Participant or Beneficiary to enforce or interpret any provision contained in this Plan, Textron and the "person" or
"group" described in the next following sentence shall be liable, jointly and severally, to indemnify the Participant or Beneficiary for the
Participant's or Beneficiary's reasonable attorney's fees and disbursements incurred in any such claim or litigation and for prejudgment interest at
the Bankers Trust Company prime interest rate on any money award or judgment obtained by the Participant or Beneficiary. For purposes of this
Plan, a "Change in Control" shall occur if (i) any "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act")) other than Textron, any trustee or other fiduciary holding Textron Common Stock under an
employee benefit plan of Textron or a related company, or any corporation which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of Textron
in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of Textron Common Stock, is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule
13d-3 under the Act) of more than 30% of the then outstanding voting stock of Textron, or (ii) during any period of two consecutive years,
individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board (and any new director whose election by the Board or whose nomination for
election by the stockholders of Textron was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors
at the beginning of such period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved) cease for any reason to constitute a
majority thereof, or (iii) the stockholders of Textron approve a merger

or consolidation of Textron with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of
Textron outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting
securities of the surviving entity) more than 80% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of Textron or such surviving entity
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (iv) the stockholders of Textron approve a plan of complete liquidation of
Textron or an agreement for the sale or disposition by Textron of all or substantially all of Textron's assets.
8.04 This Plan shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.
8.05 Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between any Participant and any Textron Company, or to
suggest or create a right in any Participant to be continued in employment as a Key Executive or other employee of any Textron Company.
8.06 Textron, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer, and the Benefits Committee may impose such other lawful
terms and conditions on participation in this Plan as deemed desirable. The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Human Resources Officer and
members of the Benefits Committee may participate in this Plan.

SURVIVOR BENEFIT PLAN FOR
TEXTRON KEY EXECUTIVES
(EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2001)
FIRST AMENDMENT
Pursuant to Section 8.03 of the Survivor Benefit Plan for Textron Key Executives (Restated, effective January 1, 2001) (the "Plan"), Textron Inc.
hereby amends the Plan, effective August 1, 2003, as follows:
Article II of the Plan is hereby amended by deleting from said Article the following:
"The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer of Textron shall designate from time to time the present and former Key
Executives who shall be Participants in this Plan."
Article II of the Plan is further amended by adding to the beginning of said Article the following:
"No Key Executive shall be designated as a Participant in this Plan after July 31, 2003."
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Textron Inc. has caused this First Amendment to be executed by its duly authorized officer to be effective as of
August 1, 2003.
TEXTRON INC.
By: ______________________________
George E. Metzger
Vice President Human Resources
and Benefits

EXHIBIT 10.19
AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENTS
Amendment dated as of July 28, 2003 to the 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2003 (the "364-DAY CREDIT AGREEMENT")
and the 5-Year Credit Agreement dated as of April 1, 2002 (together with the 364-Day Credit Agreement, the "CREDIT AGREEMENTS")
among TEXTRON INC. (the "BORROWER"), the BANKS party thereto (the "BANKS") and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as Administrative
Agent (the "ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT").
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to designate Textron Financial Corporation, a subsidiary of the Company, as a Subsidiary Borrower under
each of the Credit Agreements;
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:
Section 1. Defined Terms; References. Unless otherwise specifically defined herein, each term used herein that is defined in the Credit
Agreements has the meaning assigned to such term in the Credit Agreements. Each reference to "hereof", "hereunder", "herein" and "hereby"
and each other similar reference and each reference to "this Agreement" and each other similar reference contained in the Credit Agreements
shall, after this Amendment becomes effective, refer to the Credit Agreements as amended hereby.
Section 2. Definition of Subsidiary. The definition of "Subsidiary" in
Section 1.01 of each of the Credit Agreements is hereby amended to read in its entirety as follows:
"SUBSIDIARY" means, in respect to any Person, any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total
voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or
trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person
or a combination thereof; provided, however, that (except for purposes of provisions of this Agreement relating to Subsidiary Borrowers) no
Finance Company or any Subsidiary of any Finance Company shall be treated as a Subsidiary of the Company.
Section 3. Representations of Borrower. The Company represents and warrants that (i) the representations and warranties of the Company
contained in the Credit Agreements will be true on and as of the Amendment Effective Date and
(ii) no Default will have occurred and be continuing on such date.

Section 4. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.
Section 5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect
as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.
Section 6. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective on the date when the Administrative Agent shall have received from each of
the Company and Banks comprising the Required Banks under each of the Credit Agreements a counterpart hereof signed by such party or
facsimile or other written confirmation (in form satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) that such party has signed a counterpart hereof (the
"AMENDMENT EFFECTIVE DATE").
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
TEXTRON INC.
By:

/s/ Mary F. Lovejoy
---------------------------------Name: Mary F. Lovejoy
Title: Vice President and
Treasurer

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK
By:

/s/ Randolph Cates
---------------------------------Name: Randolph Cates
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.
By:

/s/ John W. Pocalyko
---------------------------------Name: John W. Pocalyko
Title: Managing Director

BANK ONE, NA
By:

/s/ William Buhr
---------------------------------Name: William Buhr
Title: Vice President

CITIBANK, N.A.
By:

/s/ Hugo Arias
---------------------------------Name: Hugo Arias
Title: Vice President

DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH
By:

/s/ William McGinty
---------------------------------Name: William McGinty
Title: Director

By:

/s/ David G. Dickinson Jr.
---------------------------------Name: David G. Dickinson Jr.
Title: Vice President

BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI TRUST
COMPANY
By:

/s/ J. W. Rhodes
---------------------------------Name: J. W. Rhodes
Title: Vice President

BARCLAYS BANK PLC
By:

/s/ Douglas Bernegger
---------------------------------Name: Douglas Bernegger
Title: Director

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON
acting through its Cayman Islands
Branch
By:

/s/ Jay Chall
---------------------------------Name: Jay Chall
Title: Director

By:

/s/ Barbara Wong
---------------------------------Name: Barbara Wong
Title: Associate

UBS AG, CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH
By:

/s/ Patricia O'Kicki
------------------------------Name: Patricia O'Kicki
Title: Director

By:

/s/ Wilfred V. Saint
------------------------------Name: Wilfred V. Saint
Title: Associate Director

WACHOVIA BANK, N.A.
By:

/s/ Nathan R. Rantala
------------------------------Name: Nathan R. Rantala
Title: Vice President

BMO NESBITT BURNS FINANCING, INC.
By:

/s/ Brian L. Banke
------------------------------Name: Brian L. Banke
Title: Managing Director

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA
By:

/s/ Todd S. Meller
------------------------------Name: Todd S. Meller
Title: Managing Director

BNP PARIBAS
By:

/s/ Richard Pace
------------------------------Name: Richard Pace
Title: Director

By:

/s/ Henry Gaw
------------------------------Name: Henry Gaw
Title: Manager

BANK OF MONTREAL
By:

/s/ Brian L. Banke
------------------------------Name: Brian L. Banke
Title: Managing Director

HSBC BANK USA
By:

/s/ Christopher M. Samms
------------------------------Name: Christopher M. Samms
Title: First Vice President

ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
By:

/s/ Scott Umbs
------------------------------Name: Scott Umbs
Title: Manager

SOCIETE GENERALE
By:

/s/ Carol Radice
------------------------------Name: Carol Radice
Title: Vice President

SUNTRUST BANK
By:

/s/ William Humphries
------------------------------Name: William Humphries
Title: Director

EXHIBIT 12.1
TEXTRON MANUFACTURING
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF INCOME TO COMBINED FIXED
CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS
(UNAUDITED)
(In millions except ratios)

Fixed charges:
Interest expense (1)
Distributions on preferred securities of
subsidiary trust, net of income taxes
Estimated interest portion of rents
Total fixed charges

Income:
Income from continuing operations before
income taxes and distributions on preferred
securities of subsidiary trust
Fixed charges (2)
Eliminate equity in undistributed pretax
income of finance subsidiaries
Adjusted income
Ratio of income to fixed charges

2003
----

2002
----

Year
---2001
----

$ 105

$ 135

$ 183

$ 158

$

13
34
----$ 152
=====

26
26
----$ 187
=====

26
31
----$ 240
=====

26
31
----$ 215
=====

26
26
----$ 108
=====

$ 401
139

$ 566
161

$ 784
214

$ 597
189

$ 954
82

(10)
----$ 530
=====
3.49
=====

(65)
----$ 662
=====
3.54
=====

(146)
----$ 852
=====
3.55
=====

(112)
----$ 674
=====
3.13
=====

(92)
----$ 944
=====
8.74
=====

(1) Includes interest unrelated to borrowings of $3 million in 1999.
(2) Adjusted to exclude distributions on preferred securities of subsidiary trust, net of income taxes.

2000
----

1999
---56

EXHIBIT 12.2
TEXTRON INC. INCLUDING ALL MAJORITY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF INCOME TO COMBINED FIXED
CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS
(UNAUDITED)
(In millions except ratios)

2003
---Fixed charges:
Interest expense (1)
Distributions on preferred securities of
subsidiary trust, net of income taxes
Estimated interest portion of rents
Total fixed charges

Income:
Income from continuing operations
before income taxes and distributions
on preferred securities of subsidiary
trust
Fixed charges (2)
Adjusted income
Ratio of income to fixed charges

$

277

2002
---$

324

Year
---2001
---$

445

2000
---$

492

1999
---$

245

13
37
-----$ 327
======

26
30
-----$ 380
======

26
34
-----$ 505
======

26
33
-----$ 551
======

26
27
-----$ 298
======

$

$

$

$

$

401
314
-----$ 715
======
2.19
======

566
354
-----$ 920
======
2.42
======

784
479
-----$1,263
======
2.50
======

(1) Includes interest unrelated to borrowings of $3 million in 1999.
(2) Adjusted to exclude distributions on preferred securities of subsidiary trust, net of income taxes.

597
525
-----$1,122
======
2.04
======

954
272
-----$1,226
======
4.11
======

Business Segment Data
(In millions)

Revenues
2003

Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

$2,348 $ 2,235
2,299
3,175
1,737
1,650
2,903
2,706
572
584

$ 2,243
3,043
1,679
4,330
681

$ 234 $ 169 $ 93
199
376
344
66
72
70
141
163
280
122
118
203

10.0%
8.7%
3.8%
4.9%
21.3%

7.6%
11.8%
4.4%
6.0%
20.2%

4.1%
11.3%
4.2%
6.5%
29.8%

$9,859 $10,350

$11,976

$ 762 $ 898 $ 990

7.7%

8.7%

8.3%

Special charges**

(159) (135) (143)

Segment operating income
Gain on sale of businesses
Goodwill amortization
Corporate expenses and other, net
Interest expense, net

603
763
847
15
25
342
—
—
(91)
(119) (114) (152)
(98) (108) (162)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and
distributions on preferred securities

Segment
Profit Margins

Segment Profit*

$ 401 $ 566 $ 784

* Segment profit represents the measurement used by Textron to evaluate performance for decision-making purposes. Segment profit for
manufacturing segments does not include interest expense, certain corporate expenses, special charges, goodwill amortization and gains and
losses from the disposition of significant business units. The measurement for the finance segment includes interest income, interest expense
and distributions on preferred securities of Finance subsidiary trust, and excludes special charges and goodwill amortization.
** Special charges include restructuring expenses, investment write-downs and the write-off of unamortized issuance costs related to the
redemption of mandatorily redeemable preferred shares in 2003. In 2003, special charges totaled $75 million in Fastening Systems,
$49 million in Industrial, $9 million in Cessna, $6 million in Finance, $2 million in Bell and $18 million in Corporate. In 2002, special
charges totaled $39 million in Industrial, $29 million in Cessna, $22 million in Fastening Systems, $6 million in Bell and $39 million in
Corporate. In 2001, special charges totaled $52 million in Fastening Systems, $51 million in Industrial, $21 million in Bell, $3 million in
Finance and $16 million in Corporate.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Business Overview
Textron Inc. is a multi-industry company that leverages its global network of businesses to provide customers with innovative solutions and
services in five business segments: Bell, Cessna, Fastening Systems, Industrial and Finance. Textron is known around the world for its powerful
brands spanning the business jet, aerospace and defense, fastening systems, plastic fuel systems and golf car and turf-care markets, among
others. The economic downturn that has affected these markets in recent years continued to provide a challenging business environment in 2003.
Several of Textron’s primary markets have been adversely affected – most notably business jets and golf car and turf-care equipment. As a
result, customer demand has decreased, contributing to lower revenue and profit. Additionally, the Finance segment continued to incur a high
level of loan loss provisions, although lower than in 2002, due to the weak financial stability experienced by many of its commercial finance
customers.
Other factors affecting operating results in 2003 included a decline in pension income of $61 million primarily due to the negative return on
pension assets in 2001 and 2002 and a lower discount rate, and higher healthcare costs of approximately $40 million.
During 2003, Textron was able to significantly mitigate the impact of the lower revenue and the above factors primarily through its
transformation initiatives, including integrated supply chain and restructuring. Management has continued to execute its transformation strategy
by reducing costs and strengthening its portfolio through the divestiture of non-core businesses to position Textron to benefit when the economy
recovers.

Consolidated Results of Continuing Operations
Revenues
Revenues were $9.9 billion in 2003, compared with $10.4 billion in 2002 and $12.0 billion in 2001. The decrease in 2003 was primarily due to
lower Citation business jet volume of $876 million at Cessna, due to a depressed market and the reduction of 2003 deliveries by a major
fractional jet customer, and lower sales volume of $123 million at E-Z-GO and Jacobsen due to a depressed golf market. These decreases were
partially offset by a favorable foreign exchange impact of $313 million in the Industrial and Fastening Systems segments and increased volume
of $131 million at Kautex.
Revenues decreased in 2002 primarily due to the divestitures of Automotive Trim (Trim), Turbine Engine Components Textron (TECT) and a
number of smaller businesses that contributed $1.7 billion to the decrease.

Segment Profit
Segment profit was $762 million in 2003, compared with $898 million in 2002 and $990 million in 2001. The decrease of $136 million in 2003
was primarily due to lower profit of $177 million at Cessna and $52 million at E-Z-GO and Jacobsen largely due to lower sales. These decreases
were partially offset by higher profit of $65 million at Bell primarily in its aircraft engine and commercial helicopter businesses due to certain
costs incurred in 2002, as described in the Bell segment section.
Segment profit decreased $92 million in 2002 primarily due to divestitures, principally in the Industrial segment, which contributed $95 million
to the decrease.
Special Charges
Textron recorded special charges of $159 million in 2003, $135 million in 2002 and $143 million in 2001. These charges are summarized below:
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2003

2002

2001

Restructuring
Unamortized issuance costs on preferred securities
Write-down of C&A common stock
E-business investment charges
Other

$144
15
—
—
—

$ 97
—
38
—
—

$132
—
—
9
2

Total special charges

$159

$135

$143

Restructuring Program
To improve returns at core businesses and to complete the integration of certain acquisitions, Textron approved and committed to a restructuring
program in the fourth quarter of 2000 based upon targeted cost reductions. This program was expanded in 2001, and in October 2002, Textron
announced a further expansion of the program as part of its strategic effort to improve operating efficiencies, primarily in its industrial
businesses. Textron’s restructuring program includes corporate and segment direct and indirect workforce reductions, consolidation of facilities
primarily in the United States and Europe, rationalization of certain product lines, outsourcing of non-core production activity, the divestiture of
noncore businesses, and streamlining of sales and administrative overhead. Under this restructuring program, Textron has reduced its workforce
by approximately 9,400 employees and has closed 88 facilities, including 40 manufacturing plants, primarily in the Industrial and Fastening
Systems segments. Textron expects a total reduction of about 10,000 employees, excluding approximately 700 Trim employees and 1,000
OmniQuip employees, representing approximately 18% of its global workforce since the restructuring was first announced.
As of January 3, 2004, $389 million of cost has been incurred relating to continuing operations (including $11 million related to Trim) consisting
of $209 million in severance costs, $94 million in asset impairment charges, $10 million in contract termination costs and $76 million in other
associated costs. Textron estimates that approximately $127 million in additional program costs will be incurred primarily in the Fastening
Systems and Industrial segments. In total, Textron estimates that the entire program for continuing operations will be approximately
$516 million (including $11 million related to Trim) and will be substantially complete by 2004.
Textron adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities,” as of the beginning of fiscal 2003 for projects initiated after December 28, 2002. Previously, certain costs related to restructuring that
were not accruable under the prior standard were recorded in segment profit as incurred. With the adoption of this Statement, all restructuring
and related costs for which this Statement applies have been aggregated and recorded in special charges. Prior period amounts have been
reclassified to conform to this presentation.
Unamortized Issuance Costs
In July 2003, Textron redeemed its 7.92% Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2045. The debentures were held by Textron’s
wholly owned trust, and the proceeds from their redemption were used to redeem all of the $500 million Textron Capital I trust preferred
securities. Upon the redemption, $15 million of unamortized issuance costs were written off.
C&A Common Stock and E-business Investments
During the second half of 2002, the Collins & Aikman Corporation (C&A) common stock owned by Textron experienced a decline in market
value. Textron acquired this stock as a result of the disposition of the Trim business. In December 2002, Moody’s lowered its liquidity rating of
C&A. Due to this indicator and the extended length of time and extent to which the market value of the stock was less than the carrying value,
Textron determined that the decline in the market value of the stock was other than temporary and wrote down its investment in the stock for a
pre-tax loss of $38 million. Textron sold its remaining investment in C&A common stock for cash proceeds of $34 million and a pre-tax gain of
$12 million in the first quarter of 2004. During 2001, Textron recorded a $6 million impairment charge related to its ebusiness securities and
subsequently realized a $3 million net loss on the sale of its remaining e-business securities.
Corporate Expenses
Corporate expenses and other, net was $119 million in 2003, compared with $114 million in 2002 and $152 million in 2001. The large decrease
of $38 million in 2002 was primarily due to:
•

$15 million in lower stock-based compensation and related hedge costs;

•

Royalty income of $13 million in 2002 related to the Trim divestiture;

•

Lower costs of $5 million as a result of organizational changes made in 2001; and

•

Higher income of $4 million related to retirement plans;

•

Partially offset by an increase of $7 million in product liability reserves related to divested businesses.

Corporate expenses and other, net is expected to increase in 2004 primarily due to certain nonrecurring gains and income in 2003. The 2003
expenses were offset primarily by $7 million in royalty income under an agreement related to the Trim divestiture that expired in 2003 and
$7 million in nonrecurring life insurance gains.
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Income from Continuing Operations
Income from continuing operations was $281 million in 2003, compared with $367 million for 2002 and $474 million in 2001. The decreases in
2003 and 2002 were primarily due to declines in segment profit.
Textron recorded certain items that affected the comparability of operating results in the last three years.
These items are summarized in the table below:
(In millions)

Special charges
Gain on sale of businesses
Income tax expense (benefit) on above items

2003

2002

2001

$159
(15)

$135
(25)

$ 143
(339)

144
(44)

110
(28)

(196)
80

$100

$ 82

$(116)

In addition to the special charges previously discussed, Textron also recognized gains on the sale of Trim and related businesses. Textron
recognized a pre-tax gain of $15 million on the sale of its remaining interest in an Italian automotive joint venture to C&A in 2003 and a $25
million pre-tax gain in 2002 from transactions related to the divestiture of Trim. In 2001, Textron recorded a $339 million gain on the sale of
Automotive Trim to C&A.
Income Taxes
A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is provided below:
2003

2002

2001

Federal statutory income tax rate
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
State income taxes
Non-tax deductibility of goodwill amortization
Permanent items from Trim divestiture
Favorable tax settlements
ESOP dividends
Foreign tax rate differential
Export sales benefit
Other, net

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

2.4
—
—
(3.2)
(2.3)
(1.6)
(1.4)
(2.2)

1.8
—
1.3
(2.2)
(3.2)
(0.2)
(1.5)
(0.4)

1.4
2.9
1.4
—
—
(0.5)
(1.5)
(2.5)

Effective income tax rate

26.7%

30.6%

36.2%

In 2004, Textron does not expect the favorable tax settlements to recur, resulting in an expected effective tax rate of approximately 30%.
Discontinued Operations
In the third quarter of 2003, Textron sold certain assets and liabilities related to its remaining OmniQuip business to JLG Industries, Inc. for
$90 million in cash and a $10 million promissory note that was paid in full in February 2004. In the fourth quarter of 2003, Textron Financial
sold substantially all of its small business direct portfolio to MBNA America Bank, N.A. for $421 million in cash. Textron has reclassified the
aggregate financial results of these businesses and all the previously sold OmniQuip businesses as discontinued operations.
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle
During 2002, Textron recorded an after-tax transitional impairment charge of $488 million upon the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” Under this Statement, goodwill and certain assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized and must be tested for
impairment annually. In 2001, reported pro forma net income excluding amortization of goodwill was $254 million, or $1.78 per diluted share.
The after-tax impairment charge relates to the following segments: $385 million in Industrial, $88 million in Fastening Systems and $15 million
in Finance. For the Industrial and Fastening Systems segments, the primary factor resulting in the impairment charge was the decline in demand

in certain industries in which these segments operate, especially the telecommunications industry, due to the economic slowdown. The Finance
segment’s impairment charge related to the franchise finance division and was primarily the result of decreasing loan volumes and an
unfavorable securitization market.
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Outlook
In 2004, total revenues are expected to decrease slightly as lower aircraft revenue at both Bell and Cessna are expected to be partially offset by
higher sales volume at Kautex. At Bell, delivery volumes should be stable, but revenues are expected to be lower on the V-22 program, as
development efforts wind down and revenues related to new production releases are recorded on an as-delivered basis. At Cessna, the decrease
in revenues is the result of expected sales of between 165 and 170 jets in 2004, compared with 197 jets in 2003.
Overall segment profit and margins are expected to increase as Textron continues to realize the benefits of its strong cost reduction and
restructuring initiatives as a means to mitigate the impact of the lower revenue.
Backlog
Textron’s commercial backlog was $5.5 billion and $6.1 billion at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively, and is primarily related to Cessna.
U.S. Government backlog was $1.9 billion and $1.5 billion at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively, which was substantially all in the Bell
segment.

Segment Analysis
In June 2003, Textron reorganized its segments in order to streamline its management reporting structure. Under the new structure, Textron
Systems and Lycoming have been combined with Bell Helicopter to form the new Bell segment, and Cessna Aircraft is being reported separately
as a new segment. The remaining Industrial Products and Industrial Components businesses have been combined to form the new Industrial
segment. Textron now reports under the following segments: Bell, Cessna, Fastening Systems, Industrial and Finance.
Bell
Bell is a leading manufacturer of advanced military helicopters and tiltrotor aircraft for the U.S. Government and commercial helicopters for
corporate, offshore, utility, charter, police, fire, rescue and emergency medical customers. Additionally, Bell is a primary supplier of advanced
weapon systems to meet the demanding needs of the aerospace and defense markets and the leading manufacturer of piston aircraft engines.
Bell has two major programs with the U.S. Government – the V-22 and the H-1 Upgrade Program. The V- 22 is the pioneer program for tiltrotor
technology with a current requirement of 458 aircraft. Bell expects to receive authorization to proceed to full-rate production of the V-22 in
2005. The H-1 Upgrade Program is a major upgrade to remanufacture the U.S. Marine Corps’ fleet of AH-1W SuperCobra and UH-1N utility
helicopters to an advanced configuration featuring common avionics and flight dynamics. The current program anticipates the remanufacture of
100 UH-1N and 180 AH-1W helicopters, and in 2003, Bell received a contract award for six UH-1Y aircraft and three AH-1Z aircraft that will
begin deliveries in 2006. Bell expects to receive authorization to proceed to full-rate production of the H-1 in 2005 with aircraft deliveries to
continue through 2013.
Textron continues to manufacture aircraft under the V-22 low-rate initial production releases that began prior to 2003. Revenues under those
releases are recorded on a cost incurred basis primarily as a result of the significant engineering effort required over a lengthy period of time
during the initial development phase in relation to total contract volume. Revenues for those releases are expected to decline through 2007 as the
remaining effort is completed. The development effort is substantially complete for new production releases in 2003, and revenue on those
releases will be recognized as units are delivered, which is expected to begin in late 2004. Accordingly, during 2004, revenues on the V-22
program are expected to decrease as development efforts wind down and revenues related to new production releases are recorded on an asdelivered basis.

Bell Revenues
The Bell segment’s revenues increased $113 million in 2003, due to higher U.S. Government revenue of $62 million primarily due to the
ongoing development efforts on the V-22 program and higher foreign military sales volume of $35 million related to a contract that began
shipments during the third quarter of 2002.
Revenue decreased $8 million in 2002 primarily due to lower commercial sales volume of $101 million largely due to lower demand for
commercial helicopters in the corporate market, partially offset by higher revenue from the U.S. Government of $94 million primarily related to
the ongoing development efforts on the V-22 program.
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Bell Segment Profit
Segment profit in 2003 was $65 million greater than in 2002 primarily because 2002 included $31 million of costs related to the recall,
inspection and customer care programs at the aircraft engine business and higher profit of $22 million in the commercial helicopter business. The
higher profit in the commercial helicopter business in 2003 was primarily due to lower receivable reserve provisions of $16 million and reduced
pricing of $20 million in 2002 related to one commercial helicopter model.
Segment profit increased $76 million in 2002 primarily because profit in 2001 was reduced as a result of unfavorable profit adjustments of
$149 million at Bell Helicopter. These profit adjustments included $124 million related to reduced profitability expectations or losses on certain
development and production contracts and $25 million related primarily to receivable and inventory reserve increases. Excluding these 2001
adjustments, profit decreased $73 million in 2002 primarily due to $31 million of costs related to the recall, inspection and customer care
program at the aircraft engine business and lower profit of $30 million at Bell Helicopter’s commercial business. The lower profit in the
commercial business was primarily due to reduced pricing of $20 million related to one commercial helicopter model and increased production
and warranty costs of $20 million.
Bell Backlog
Bell’s total backlog was $2.2 billion and $1.8 billion at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively. This includes Bell Helicopter’s U.S. Government
backlog of $1.2 billion and $1.0 billion for 2003 and 2002, respectively, which primarily related to the V-22 program.
Bell Outlook
For 2004, Bell Helicopter’s delivery volumes should be stable, but revenues are expected to be lower on the V-22 program as development
efforts wind down and revenues related to new production releases are recorded on an as-delivered basis. Despite the lower revenue, margins are
expected to improve as a result of cost reduction initiatives.
Cessna
Cessna is the world’s largest manufacturer of light and mid-size business jets providing dependable aircraft and premier service to corporate
customers in over 75 countries. Cessna also participates in the fractional jet ownership business through its sales to a major fractional jet
customer, as well as through CitationShares, Textron’s joint venture company with Tag Aviation USA, Inc. The prolonged economic downturn
has negatively impacted corporate profits over the last two years. Declining corporate profits usually precede a decline in the business jet market
by about 18 to 24 months. While management had expected 2003 jet deliveries to decline because of the weak economy, the decline was
exaggerated by a significant schedule change from a major fractional customer. Cessna responded to this significant decrease in volume by
adjusting production schedules to match near-term deliveries and was able to reduce the impact of the lower sales volume through aggressive
cost reduction and restructuring initiatives. At the same time, Cessna continued its strategy of investment in new product development and
delivered respectable profitability in 2003.

Cessna Revenues
The Cessna segment revenues decreased $876 million in 2003, due to lower Citation business jet volume (197 jet deliveries in 2003, compared
with 307 in 2002). Lower used aircraft volume of $87 million and lower Caravan volume of $32 million as a result of lower demand were
essentially offset by higher spare parts and service volume of $48 million, higher pricing of $45 million related to the last remnants of
introductory pricing on certain business jet models and a $27 million benefit from lower used aircraft overtrade allowances.
Cessna’s 2002 revenues increased by $132 million primarily due to higher sales volume of used aircraft of $125 million, the favorable impact of
$68 million related to the expiration of lower introductory pricing on certain business jet models and higher pricing of $29 million. These
increases were partially offset by $64 million in lower sales volume of single engine piston aircraft and lower Citation business jet volume of
$49 million (307 jet deliveries in 2002, compared with 313 in 2001).
Cessna Segment Profit
Segment profit decreased $177 million in 2003, primarily due to reduced margin of $305 million from lower sales volume and inflation of
$67 million, partially offset by improved cost performance of $125 million and higher pricing of $45 million related to the last remnants of
introductory pricing on certain business jet models and a $27 million benefit from lower used aircraft overtrade allowances.
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In 2002, segment profit increased $32 million, primarily due to the favorable impact of $68 million related to the expiration of lower
introductory pricing on certain business jet models and higher pricing of $29 million, partially offset by inflation of $59 million.
Cessna Backlog
Textron’s commercial backlog primarily represents backlog related to Cessna of $4.4 billion in 2003 and $4.9 billion in 2002. A significant
portion of Cessna’s backlog represents orders from fractional aircraft operators, including a major fractional jet customer and CitationShares.
Orders from these fractional aircraft operators are included in backlog when the customer enters into a definitive master agreement and has
established preliminary delivery dates for the aircraft. Preliminary delivery dates are subject to change through amendment to the master
agreement. Final delivery dates are established approximately 12 to 18 months prior to delivery. Orders from other customers are included in
backlog upon the customer entering into a definitive purchase order and receipt of required deposits.
The decrease in Cessna’s backlog from 2002 was driven by aircraft shipments of $1.7 billion and the cancellation of $0.8 billion in aircraft
orders, partially offset by new orders of $2.0 billion, including $0.5 billion in Mustang orders. The cancellations included $0.6 billion from the
major fractional jet customer primarily for Citation X and CJ3 aircraft.
The 2003 year-end backlog with the major fractional jet customer was approximately $1.1 billion, of which final delivery dates have been
established for $0.4 billion. The backlog with CitationShares was approximately $0.5 billion, of which final delivery dates have been established
for $0.2 billion. These amounts include $0.8 billion in orders for the new Sovereign and CJ3 aircraft that are scheduled to begin their first
deliveries to customers in 2004.
Both CitationShares and the major fractional jet customer have options to acquire 50 additional aircraft, each which will be placed into backlog
upon execution of a definitive master agreement and establishment of preliminary delivery dates.
The remaining $2.8 billion of backlog at the end of 2003 is with other commercial customers covering a wide spectrum of industries. This
backlog includes $1.4 billion in orders for the new Sovereign, CJ3 and Mustang aircraft that are scheduled to begin their first deliveries to
customers in 2004 and in 2006.
Cessna Outlook
For 2004, Cessna expects revenue to decrease as a result of expected sales of between 165 and 170 business jets, compared with the 197 business
jets in 2003. Despite the lower revenue, margins are expected to be comparable to 2003 as a result of a better mix of aircraft and cost reduction
and restructuring initiatives. At the same time, Cessna plans to continue its investment in new products such as the Sovereign, CJ3, XLS and
Mustang, broadening its product line to take advantage of the jet market when it rebounds.
Fastening Systems
Textron Fastening Systems in one of the world’s largest providers of integrated fastening systems solutions offering a wide variety of fastening
systems technology to customers in the market for threaded fasteners, engineered products, blind fasteners and automation systems. Major
markets served include aerospace, automotive, construction, electronics and industrial equipment. These markets are highly competitive, and
suppliers are often required to make price concessions to win new business and maintain existing customers. Consequently, significant cost
reductions are required to not only offset inflation and price concessions but also to improve margins.

Fastening Systems Revenues
The Fastening Systems segment’s revenues increased $87 million in 2003 primarily due to a favorable foreign exchange impact of $128 million,
reflecting a weak U.S. dollar, partially offset by higher pricing concessions of $13 million in 2003 and lower volume primarily in the European
industrial markets. In 2002, revenues decreased $29 million primarily due to the divestiture of non-core product lines.
Fastening Systems Segment Profit
Segment profit remained relatively flat with some deterioration in 2003, reflecting the soft demand for the segment’s products and higher pricing
concessions of $13 million. During this period, Fastening Systems has undertaken significant restructuring in its businesses to reduce its cost
structure and improve margins when the demand for its products improves.
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Fastening Systems Outlook
For 2004, Fastening Systems expects revenue growth in the low single digits, and profit margin is forecasted to increase as a result of further
restructuring and process improvements.
Industrial
The Industrial segment is comprised of five businesses including E-Z-GO, Jacobsen, Kautex, Greenlee and Fluid & Power. Through these
businesses, the segment provides its customers with innovative solutions and services, including golf cars and turf-care equipment, plastic fuel
systems, wire and cable installation equipment, and industrial pumps and gears. These markets are highly competitive and price sensitive.
Consequently, significant cost reductions are required to not only offset inflation and price concessions but also to improve margins.

Industrial Revenues
The Industrial segment’s revenues increased $197 million in 2003 primarily due to a favorable foreign exchange impact of $185 million and
higher sales volume of $131 million at Kautex as a result of new product launches and a continued strong automotive market. These increases
were partially offset by lower sales volume of $123 million at E-Z-GO and Jacobsen, reflecting reduced demand that was largely attributable to a
depressed golf market.
The Industrial segment’s revenues decreased $1.62 billion in 2002 primarily as result of $1.67 billion related to the divestiture of Trim, TECT
and several small product lines in 2001. Excluding the divestitures, revenues increased $42 million primarily due to higher sales volume of $166
million at Kautex, largely due to new product launches and a strong automotive market, partially offset by lower sales volume of $130 million in
the remaining businesses as a result of soft markets.
Industrial Segment Profit
Segment profit decreased $22 million in 2003 primarily due to lower profit of $52 million at E-Z-GO and Jacobsen, due to lower sales as a result
of the depressed golf market, the impact of adjusting production schedules to the lower demand and $12 million in higher bad debt provisions as
a result of a financially weakened customer base. This decrease was partially offset by $30 million related to improved results in each of the
other businesses primarily as a result of improved cost performance.

Segment profit decreased $117 million in 2002 primarily due to $94 million related to the divestitures in 2001. Excluding the divestitures, profit
decreased $23 million primarily due to lower sales volume.
Industrial Outlook
For 2004,Textron expects Industrial revenues to increase slightly and is not planning on a rebound in its end-user markets. Kautex sales are
expected to be slightly higher as a result of a continued strong automotive market while the remaining businesses are expected to be flat.
Segment margins are forecasted to increase, reflecting restructuring and process improvements as well as lower manufacturing start-up costs and
bad debt provisions.
Finance
The Finance segment is a diversified commercial finance business with core operations in aircraft finance, asset-based lending, distribution
finance, golf finance, resort finance and structured capital. Its financing activities are confined almost exclusively to secured lending and leasing
to commercial markets. Within these core operations, this segment provides financing programs for products manufactured by Textron. In 2003,
management has continued its focus on growing its core business while liquidating non-core assets.

Finance Revenues
The Finance segment’s revenues decreased $12 million in 2003 primarily due to lower finance charges and discounts of $9 million from lower
average finance receivables and a decline in syndication income due to a nonrecurring gain in 2002 of $9 million on the sale of a franchise
finance portfolio.
The Finance segment’s revenues decreased $97 million in 2002 primarily due to lower yields on finance receivables of $86 million (7.7% in
2002, compared with 9.3% in 2001), reflecting a lower interest rate environment, primarily due to reductions in the prime rate, and lower
prepayment gains of $15 million.
Finance Segment Profit
Segment profit increased $4 million in 2003 primarily due to a lower provision for loan losses of $30 million ($81 million in 2003 vs.
$111 million in 2002), partially offset by higher operating expense of $26 million. The 27% decrease in the provision for loan losses reflects an
improvement in portfolio quality as
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measured by improvements in nonperforming assets as discussed below and, to a lesser extent, declining portfolio growth. The higher operating
expense includes $12 million in higher legal and collection expense primarily related to the continued resolution of nonperforming accounts and
the accrual of settlement costs associated with litigation during 2003.
Segment profit decreased $85 million in 2002, due to a higher provision for loan losses of $42 million ($111 million in 2002 vs. $69 million in
2001), reflecting higher net charge-offs and the strengthening of the allowance for losses on receivables, lower interest margin of $28 million
and higher operating expenses of $15 million. The lower interest margin was primarily due to lower prepayment income of $15 million and
higher relative borrowing costs of $13 million.
Finance Portfolio Quality
The Finance segment’s nonperforming assets include nonaccrual accounts that are not guaranteed by Textron Manufacturing, for which interest
has been suspended, and repossessed assets. Nonperforming assets totaled $162 million in 2003, $214 million in 2002 and $131 million in 2001,
representing 2.8%, 3.4% and 2.2% of finance assets, respectively. The most significant component of the decrease in 2003 relates to a
$43 million decline in liquidating portfolios. Textron Finance estimates that nonperforming assets will generally be in the range of 2% to 4% of
finance assets depending on economic conditions and expects modest improvements in portfolio quality as it continues to liquidate certain
portfolios. The allowance for losses on receivables as a percentage of nonaccrual finance receivables was 78% at January 3, 2004, compared
with 82% at December 28, 2002 and 113% at December 29, 2001. The decrease in the percentages in 2003 and 2002 reflects decreases in
undercollateralized loans with identified reserve requirements.
Finance Outlook
The Finance segment expects segment profit to increase primarily as a result of improved interest margin, due to lower relative borrowing costs
anticipated in 2004. In addition, management has taken action to reverse the trend of increasing operating expenses through a restructuring
project implemented at the end of 2003 to consolidate operations within its corporate headquarters and within each of two of its core divisions,
and through initiatives related to improvements of information systems and processes.
Special Charges by Segment
Special charges of $159 million in 2003, $135 million in 2002 and $143 million in 2001 are more fully discussed on page 17 and are
summarized below by segment:
Restructuring Expense

(In millions)

2003
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate

2002
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate

2001
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance

Other
Total
Severance Contract
Fixed Asset Associated
Other
Special
Costs Terminations Impairments
Costs
Total Charges Charges

$ 2
8
34
20
4
3

$ —
—
—
2
—
—

$ —
1
34
12
2
—

$—
—
7
15
—
—

$

2
9
75
49
6
3

$—
—
—
—
—
15

$

2
9
75
49
6
18

$ 71

$ 2

$ 49

$ 22

$144

$15

$159

$ 4
23
12
15
—
1

$ —
—
2
2
—
—

$ 1
2
4
9
—
—

$ 1
4
4
13
—
—

$

6
29
22
39
—
1

$—
—
—
—
—
38

$

$ 55

$ 4

$ 16

$ 22

$ 97

$38

$135

$ 9
—
22
28
2

$ —
—
2
1
1

$ —
—
18
10
—

$ 12
—
8
12
—

$ 21
—
50
51
3

$—
—
2
—
—

$ 21
—
52
51
3

6
29
22
39
—
39

Corporate

7

—

—

—

7

9

16

$ 68

$ 4

$ 28

$ 32

$132

$11

$143

23

Liquidity & Capital Resources
The liquidity and capital resources of Textron’s operations are best understood by separately considering its independent borrowing groups:
Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance. Textron Manufacturing consists of Textron Inc., the parent company, consolidated with the entities
that operate in the Bell, Cessna, Fastening Systems and Industrial business segments, whose financial results are a reflection of the ability to
manage and finance the development, production and delivery of tangible goods and services. Textron Finance consists of Textron’s wholly
owned commercial finance subsidiary, Textron Financial Corporation, consolidated with its subsidiaries. The financial results of Textron
Finance are a reflection of its ability to provide financial services in a competitive marketplace, at appropriate pricing, while managing the
associated financial risks. The fundamental differences between each borrowing group’s activities result in different measures used by investors,
rating agencies and analysts.
Textron Inc. provides a support agreement to Textron Finance that requires Textron Inc. to maintain 100% ownership of Textron Finance. The
agreement also requires Textron Finance to maintain fixed charge coverage of no less than 125% and consolidated shareholder’s equity of no
less than $200 million. Textron Finance’s bank agreements prohibit the termination of the support agreement.
Operating Cash Flows
Textron Manufacturing’s financial position continued to be strong at the end of 2003 and included cash and cash equivalents of $486 million,
compared with $286 million at the end of 2002. During 2003, cash flows from operations were the primary source of funds for the operating
needs, restructuring activities, dividends and capital expenditures of Textron Manufacturing. Management analyzes operating cash flows by
tracking free cash flow, which is calculated using net cash provided by operating activities, adding back after-tax cash used for restructuring
activities and proceeds on the sale of fixed assets, then subtracting capital expenditures, including those financed with capital leases.
Cash provided by operating activities for Textron Manufacturing totaled $681 million in 2003, $495 million in 2002 and $756 million in 2001.
This includes after-tax cash used to finance Textron’s restructuring program totaling $57 million in 2003, $58 million in 2002 and $60 million in
2001. The increase in cash provided in 2003 was primarily due to a $109 million tax refund received in 2003 along with improved working
capital management.
Cash provided by operating activities for Textron Finance totaled $242 million in 2003, $198 million in 2002 and $275 million in 2001. The
increase in cash provided in 2003 and the decrease in 2002 were primarily due to the timing of payments of accrued interest and other liabilities.
Investing Cash Flows
Cash provided (used) by investing activities for Textron Manufacturing totaled $(214) million in 2003, $319 million in 2002 and $(441) million
in 2001. The decrease in 2003 was primarily due to the receipt in 2002 of a $510 million repayment by Textron Finance of an advance made in
2001. Excluding this investment activity, Textron Manufacturing’s cash provided (used) by investing activities was $(214) million in 2003,
$(191) million in 2002 and $69 million in 2001. The decrease in 2002 was largely due to the receipt of after-tax proceeds of $582 million in
2001 upon the sale of Automotive Trim.
Cash provided (used) by investing activities for Textron Finance, excluding the $510 million advance discussed above, totaled $272 million in
2003, $(498) million in 2002 and $(389) million in 2001. The significant increase in 2003 was primarily due to a $389 million increase in
finance receivable repayments relative to new finance receivable originations and $196 million in higher proceeds from receivable sales.
Proceeds received from securitization trusts totaled $706 million in 2003, $707 million in 2002 and $1.3 billion in 2001.
Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures for Textron Manufacturing totaled $310 million in 2003, $301 million in 2002 and $510 million in 2001. This includes
expenditures purchased through capital leases of $26 million in 2003 and $23 million in 2002. The decline in 2003 and 2002 from the 2001 level
was primarily due to a planned decrease in capital spending and the sale of the Trim business in 2001.
Acquisitions
There were no significant acquisitions made in 2003, 2002 or 2001. In 2001, Textron Manufacturing acquired four companies for an aggregate
cost of $211 million, plus assumed debt of $2 million, and Textron Finance acquired a small business direct portfolio for $387 million.
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Financing Cash Flows
Cash used by financing activities for Textron Manufacturing totaled $469 million in 2003, $803 million in 2002 and $329 million in 2001.
During 2003, Textron Manufacturing issued $250 million in term notes under Textron Inc.’s existing shelf registration filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. The proceeds were utilized in the redemption of $500 million in mandatorily redeemable preferred securities in July
2003.
Cash provided (used) by financing activities for Textron Finance totaled $(354) million in 2003, $786 million in 2002 and $(405) million in
2001. These changes are largely due to issuances of term notes and principal payments on debt. The cash used in 2003 primarily relates to the
paydown of commercial paper and other short-term debt at year-end from the proceeds received from receivable sales in the fourth quarter. In
addition, in 2003, under new and existing shelf registration statements, Textron Finance issued $1.2 billion of term notes, primarily in U.S. and
Canadian markets. In 2002, Textron Finance issued $2.0 billion of term notes to refinance maturing term debt and to repay the 2001 advance of
$510 million from Textron Manufacturing. In 2001, $0.9 billion of term notes were issued to refinance maturing commercial paper and longterm debt.
Principal Payments and Retirements of Long-Term Debt and Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities
In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Textron Manufacturing made principal payments of $508 million, $544 million and $62 million, respectively. In 2003,
these payments include the $500 million payment to redeem the mandatorily redeemable preferred securities discussed above. The increase in
2002 was primarily due to the payment of a $500 million note that matured.
In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Textron Finance made principal payments on long-term debt of $1.4 billion, $1.7 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively.
Stock Repurchases
In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Textron repurchased 1,951,000, 5,734,000 and 738,000 shares of common stock, respectively, under its Board
authorized share repurchase program for an aggregate cost of $66 million, $248 million and $47 million, respectively. The increase in 2002
primarily reflects the utilization of proceeds from the sale of Automotive Trim.
Dividends
Textron’s Board of Directors approved the annual dividend per common share of $1.30 in 2003, 2002 and 2001. Dividend payments to
shareholders totaled $222 million, $182 million and $184 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in 2003 is due to an
additional payment made in fiscal 2003 when the fourth quarter dividend, that is typically paid in the following year, was paid within fiscal 2003
on January 1, 2004.
Discontinued Operations Cash Flows
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations for Textron Manufacturing represents the OmniQuip business and totaled $171 million in
2003, $16 million in 2002 and $(32) million in 2001. In August 2003, Textron Manufacturing received a $90 million cash payment upon the sale
of its remaining OmniQuip business to JLG Industries, Inc., and in the first quarter of 2003, a $108 million tax refund was received related to the
sale of the Snorkel product line and the capital stock of the OmniQuip Textron Inc. holding company in December 2001.
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations for Textron Finance represents the small business finance operation and totaled
$175 million in 2003, $27 million in 2002 and $21 million in 2001. In the fourth quarter of 2003, Textron Finance sold substantially all of its
small business finance operation to MBNA America Bank, N.A. for $421 million in cash.
Capital Resources
Textron Manufacturing’s debt (net of cash) to total capital ratio as of January 3, 2004 was 29.5%, compared with 35.9% at December 28, 2002
with the mandatorily redeemable preferred securities included as debt. Textron Manufacturing has established a target debt-to-capital ratio in the
mid-thirties. Consistent with the methodology used by members of the financial community, leverage of the manufacturing operations excludes
the debt of Textron Finance. In turn, Textron Finance limits its borrowings to an amount, taking into account the risk profile of its assets,
consistent with a single A credit rating. Surplus capital of Textron Finance is returned to Textron.
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Borrowings have historically been a secondary source of funds for Textron Manufacturing and, along with the collection of finance receivables,
are a primary source of funds for Textron Finance. Both Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance utilize a broad base of financial sources for
their respective liquidity and capital needs. Our credit ratings are predominantly a function of our ability to generate operating cash flow and
satisfy certain financial ratios. Since high-quality credit ratings provide us with access to a broad base of global investors at an attractive cost, we
target a long-term A rating from the independent debt-rating agencies. As of January 3, 2004, our credit ratings remain strong from all three
agencies: Standard & Poor’s (Textron Manufacturing: A- long-term; A2 short-term; and Textron Finance: A- longterm; A2 short-term; outlook
stable for both groups); Moody’s Investors Service (A3 long-term; P2 short-term; outlook negative) and Fitch (A- long-term; F2 short-term;
outlook negative).
During the first quarter of 2003, Fitch downgraded Textron Manufacturing’s and Textron Finance’s longterm debt ratings from an A to A- and
the short-term debt ratings from F1 to F2 and affirmed its negative outlook for the ratings. In the second quarter of 2003, Standard & Poor’s
downgraded Textron Manufacturing’s long-term and short-term ratings to A- and A2, respectively, and affirmed Textron Finance’s longterm
debt rating of A-. Standard & Poor’s also upgraded its outlook from negative to stable for both borrowing groups. The economic environment
and its potential impact on the financial performance from the aerospace and financial services industries were listed as contributing factors to
the rating downgrade. The actions of the rating agencies have had minimal impact on our cost of capital and have not resulted in any loss of
access to capital.
For liquidity purposes, Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance have a policy of maintaining sufficient unused lines of credit to support their
outstanding commercial paper. None of these lines of credit were used at January 3, 2004 or at December 28, 2002. Textron Manufacturing has
primary revolving credit facilities of $1.5 billion, of which $1 billion will expire in 2007. During 2003, Textron Manufacturing renegotiated
$500 million of the credit facility and extended its expiration to March 2004. In addition, Textron Manufacturing amended its credit facilities to
permit Textron Finance to borrow under those facilities. Textron Finance also has bank lines of credit of $1.5 billion of which $500 million
expires in 2004, and $1.0 billion expires in 2008. Both $500 million facilities include one-year term out options, effectively extending their
expirations into 2005. At January 3, 2004, the lines of credit not reserved as support for commercial paper and letters of credit were $1.5 billion
for Textron Manufacturing and $966 million for Textron Finance.
During 2003, Textron Finance filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission enabling Textron Finance to
issue public debt securities in one or more offerings up to a total maximum offering of $4 billion. At January 3, 2004, Textron Finance had $3.6
billion available under this facility. Textron Manufacturing has $650 million available under an existing shelf registration filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
Textron Finance also utilizes the asset securitization market to manage asset exposures and diversify funding sources. These securitizations
provided Textron Finance with an alternate source of liquidity. Textron Finance anticipates that it will enter into additional securitization
transactions in 2004.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes Textron Manufacturing’s known contractual obligations to make future payments or other consideration
pursuant to certain contracts as of January 3, 2004, as well as an estimate of the timing in which these obligations are expected to be satisfied.
Payment Due by Period

(In millions)

Textron Manufacturing:
Liabilities reflected in balance sheet:
Long-term debt
Capital lease obligations
Pension benefits for unfunded plans
Postretirement benefits other than pensions
Other long-term liabilities
Liabilities not reflected in balance sheet:
Operating leases
Purchase obligations
Total Textron Manufacturing
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Less than
1 Year

2-3 Years

4-5 Years

More than
5 Years

Total

$ 312
4
13
57
106

$377
21
24
105
126

$376
4
21
92
58

$ 836
97
146
427
250

$1,901
126
204
681
540

77
974

102
113

44
16

152
39

375
1,142

$1,543

$868

$611

$1,947

$4,969

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations included in the table above do not include interest payments.
Textron maintains defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit plans other than pensions discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements. Included in the table above are discounted estimated benefit payments to be made by Textron related to unfunded pension
and other postretirement benefit plans. Actual benefit payments are dependent on a number of factors, including mortality assumptions, expected
retirement age, rate of compensation increases and medical trend rates, which are subject to change in future years. In addition, Textron expects
to make contributions to its funded pension plans of about $25 million per year over the next five years, which are subject to change due to
actual return on plan assets and other pension assumptions, and have not been reflected in the table above.
Other long-term liabilities primarily include those undiscounted amounts on Textron’s balance sheet as of January 3, 2004 representing
obligations under deferred compensation arrangements and estimated environmental remediation costs. Expected payments under deferred
compensation arrangements have been estimated based on management’s assumptions of expected retirement age, mortality, stock price and
rates of return on participant deferrals. Timing of cash flows associated with environmental remediation costs are largely based on historical
experience.
Operating leases represent undiscounted obligations under noncancelable leases.
Purchase obligations represent undiscounted obligations for which Textron is committed to purchase goods and services as of January 3, 2004.
Textron’s ultimate liability for these obligations may be reduced based upon termination provisions included in certain purchase contracts, the
costs incurred to date by vendors under these contracts or by recourse under firm contracts with the U.S. Government under normal termination
clauses.
The following table summarizes Textron Finance’s known contractual obligations to make future payments. Due to the nature of finance
companies, Textron Finance also has contractual cash receipts that will be received in the future. Textron Finance generally borrows funds at
various contractual maturities to match the maturities of its finance receivables. The contractual payments and receipts as of January 3, 2004 are
detailed below:
Payment Due by Period

(In millions)

Textron Finance:
Contractual payments:
Commercial paper and other short-term debt, net of cash
Term debt
Operating leases
Mandatorily redeemable securities

Less than
1 Year

$ 163
1,181
5
—

2-3 Years

$

—
1,390
6
—

4-5 Years

$

—
819
4
—

More than
5 Years

$

Total

—
497
4
26

$ 163
3,887
19
26

Total contractual payments

1,349

1,396

823

527

4,095

Contractual receipts:
Finance receivables (1)
Operating leases

1,611
25

1,108
34

1,154
18

1,262
15

5,135
92

Total contractual receipts

1,636

1,142

1,172

1,277

5,227

Net contractual receipts (payments) (2)

$ 287

$ (254)

$ 349

$ 750

$1,132

Cumulative net cash inflow

$ 287

$

$ 382

$1,132
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(1)

Based on contractual cash flows; amount could differ due to prepayments, chargeoffs and other factors.

(2)

Excludes finance charges and discounts from receivables, debt interest payments, proceeds from sale of operating lease equipment and
other items.

As shown in the preceding table, cash collections from finance assets are expected to be sufficient to cover maturing debt and other contractual
liabilities. At January 3, 2004, Textron Finance had $1.7 billion in debt, $399 million in other liabilities and $48 million in deferred income taxes
that are due within the next twelve months.
At January 3, 2004, Textron Finance had unused commitments to fund new and existing customers under $1.1 billion of committed revolving
lines of credit, compared with $1.5 billion at December 28, 2002. The decrease is largely related to the continued liquidation of the non-core

syndicated bank loan
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portfolio in 2003. Since many of the agreements will not be used to the extent committed or will expire unused, the total commitment amount
does not necessarily represent future cash requirements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Textron has certain ventures where we have guaranteed debt and lease obligations up to an aggregate amount of approximately $93 million.
Included in this amount is our guarantee of one-half of Citation- Share’s debt and lease obligations up to a maximum of $70 million, of which
$33 million in such obligations were outstanding as of January 3, 2004.
Textron also participates in two joint ventures for the development of certain aircraft for which Textron has not guaranteed any debt obligations.
Bell Helicopter has partnered with The Boeing Company in the development of the V-22 tiltrotor and with Agusta in the development of the
BA609 and AB139. These agreements enable us to share expertise and costs, and ultimately the profits, with our partners in these ventures.
Textron has also entered into other guarantee arrangements as more fully discussed in Notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
Textron Manufacturing enters into a forward contract in Textron common stock on an annual basis. The contract is intended to hedge the
earnings and cash volatility of stock-based incentive compensation indexed to Textron stock. The forward contract requires annual cash
settlement between the counter parties based upon a number of shares multiplied by the difference between the strike price and the prevailing
Textron common stock price. At the end of 2003, this forward contract was for approximately 2 million shares with a strike price of $44.88. The
market price of the stock was $57.19 at January 3, 2004, resulting in a receivable of $25 million. A cash payment was received of approximately
$26 million on this contract on January 22, 2004.
Textron Finance sells finance receivables utilizing both securitizations and whole-loan sales. As a result of these transactions, finance
receivables are removed from the balance sheet, and the proceeds received are used to reduce the recorded debt levels. Despite the reduction in
the recorded balance sheet position, Textron Finance generally retains a subordinate interest in the finance receivables sold through
securitizations, which may affect operating results through periodic fair value adjustments. These retained interests are more fully discussed in
the securitizations section of Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Textron Finance utilizes these off-balance sheet financing
arrangements (primarily asset-backed securitizations) to further diversify funding alternatives. These arrangements are an important source of
funding that provided net proceeds from continuing operations of $765 million and $707 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Textron Finance also sells receivables in whole-loan sales in which it maintains a continuing interest through limited credit enhancement in the
form of a contingent liability related to finance receivable credit losses and, to a lesser extent, prepayment risk. Textron Finance has a contingent
liability related to the sale of equipment lease rental streams in 2003 and 2001. The maximum liability at January 3, 2004 was $45 million, and
in the event Textron Finance’s credit rating falls below BBB, it is required to pledge a related pool of equipment residuals that amount to
$103 million. Textron Finance has valued this contingent liability based on assumptions for annual credit losses and prepayment rates of 0.25%
and 7.5%, respectively. An instantaneous 20% adverse change in these rates would have a $0.3 million impact on the valuation of this recourse
liability.

Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make complex and subjective judgments in the selection and application of accounting policies. The accounting policies that we believe are most
critical to the portrayal of Textron’s financial condition and results of operations, and that require management’s most difficult, subjective and
complex judgments in estimating the effect of inherent uncertainties are listed below. This section should be read in conjunction with Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements, which includes other significant accounting policies.
Receivable and Inventory Reserves
We evaluate the collectibility of our commercial and finance receivables based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are
aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its short-term financial obligations to us (e.g., bankruptcy filings, substantial downgrading of
credit scores, geographic economic conditions, etc.), we record a specific reserve for bad debts for amounts we estimate to be potentially
uncollectible. Receivables are charged off when deemed uncollectible. For homogeneous
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loan pools and all other receivables, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on current delinquencies, the characteristics of the existing
accounts, historical loss experience, the value of underlying collateral, and general economic conditions and trends. Finance receivables are
written down to the fair value (less estimated costs to sell) of the related collateral at the earlier of the date when the collateral is repossessed or
when no payment has been received for six months, unless we deem the receivable collectible.
Reserves on certain finance receivables are determined using estimates of related collateral values based on historical recovery rates and current
market conditions. Management reviews the market conditions for used equipment and aircraft inventories on a periodic basis. A deterioration in
market conditions resulting in lower recovery rates would result in lower estimated collateral values, increasing the amount of reserves required
on related receivables and used inventories on hand. Based on current market conditions and recovery rates, we believe our reserves are adequate
as of January 3, 2004.
Long-Term Contracts
We recognize revenue and profit as work on certain government long-term engineering, development and production contracts progresses using
the contract method of accounting, which relies on estimates of the total contract cost and revenue. Estimated contract cost and revenue are
based on current contract specifications, expected engineering requirements and the achievement of contract milestones, including product
deliveries. Contract costs are typically incurred over a period of several years, and the estimation of these costs requires substantial judgments.
The cost estimation process is based on the professional knowledge and experience of engineers and program managers along with finance
professionals. The duration of the contracts and the technical challenges included in certain contracts affect our ability to estimate costs
precisely. As a result, we update our projections of costs at least semiannually or when circumstances significantly change. Adjustments to
projected costs are recognized in net earnings when determinable. Favorable changes in estimates result in additional profit recognition, while
unfavorable changes in estimates result in the reversal of previously recognized earnings. Any anticipated losses on contracts are charged to
earnings when identified. Earnings on long-term contracts could be reduced by a material amount resulting in a charge to income if (a) total
estimated contract costs are significantly higher than expected due to changes in customer specifications prior to contract amendment, (b) there is
a change in engineering efforts required during the development stage of the contract or (c) we are unable to meet contract milestones.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
We evaluate the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances, such as declines in sales, earnings or cash flows or material adverse changes in the business climate, indicate that the carrying
value of an asset might be impaired. We completed our annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2003 using the estimates from our longterm strategic plans. No adjustment was required to the carrying value of our goodwill or other intangible assets based on the analysis performed.
Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. Fair values are primarily
established using a discounted cash flow methodology using assumptions consistent with market participants. The determination of discounted
cash flows is based on the businesses’ strategic plans and long-range planning forecasts. The revenue growth rates included in the plans are
management’s best estimates based on current and forecasted market conditions, and the profit margin assumptions are projected by each
segment based on the current cost structure and anticipated net cost reductions. If different assumptions were used in these plans, the related
undiscounted cash flows used in measuring impairment could be different, potentially resulting in an impairment charge.
Securitized Transactions
Securitized transactions involve the sale of finance receivables to qualified special purpose trusts. While the assets sold are no longer on our
balance sheet, our retained interests are included in other assets. We may retain an interest in the transferred assets in the form of interest-only
securities, subordinated certificates, cash reserve accounts, and servicing rights and obligations. Our retained interests are subordinate to other
investors’ interests in the securitizations. Generally, we do not provide legal recourse to third-party investors that purchase interests in our
securitizations beyond the credit enhancement inherent in the retained interest-only securities, subordinated certificates and cash reserve
accounts. However, Textron Manufacturing has provided a guarantee on a limited basis to a securitization trust sponsored by a third-party
financial institution that purchases timeshare note receivables from Textron Finance, as discussed more fully in Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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We estimate the fair value of the retained interests based on the present value of future cash flows expected using our best estimates of credit
losses, prepayment speeds and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved. These assumptions are reviewed each quarter, and the
retained interests are written down when the carrying value exceeds the fair value based on revised estimates and the decline is estimated to be
other than temporary. Based on our sensitivity analysis, as discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, a 20% adverse change in
either the prepayment speed, expected credit losses or the residual cash flows discount rate would not result in a material charge to income.
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits
Assumptions used in determining projected benefit obligations and the fair values of plan assets for our pension plans and other postretirement
benefits are evaluated periodically by management in consultation with outside actuaries and investment advisors. Changes in assumptions are
based on relevant company data. Critical assumptions, such as the discount rate used to measure the benefit obligations, the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets and healthcare cost projections, are evaluated and updated annually. We have assumed that the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets will be 8.9%. Over the last 10- and 20-year periods, our pension plan assets have earned in excess of our current
assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets.
At the end of each year, we determine the discount rate that reflects the current rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled.
This rate should be in line with rates for high quality fixed income investments available for the period to maturity of the pension benefits, and
changes as long-term interest rates change. At year-end 2003, we determined this rate to be 6.25%. Postretirement benefit plan discount rates are
the same as those used by our defined benefit pension plan in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits other than Pensions.”
In the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded a non-cash adjustment to equity through other comprehensive loss of $35 million, after income taxes,
to reflect additional minimum pension liability. Based on our current assumptions, as well as the cumulative impact of market volatility over the
last four years on the value of our pension assets, we estimate that we will have no pension income, excluding curtailment gains, in 2004 in
comparison with $32 million in 2003.
The trend in healthcare costs is difficult to estimate, and it has an important effect on postretirement liabilities. The 2003 healthcare cost trend
rate, which is the weighted average annual projected rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits, was 10%. This rate is assumed to
decrease to 5.0% by 2009 and then remain at that level.

Financial Risk Management
Interest Rate Risks
Textron’s financial results are affected by changes in U.S. and foreign interest rates. As part of managing this risk, Textron enters into interest
rate swap agreements to convert certain floating-rate debt to fixed-rate debt and vice versa. The overall objective of Textron’s interest rate risk
management is to achieve a prudent balance between floating- and fixed-rate debt. Textron’s mix of floating- and fixed-rate debt is continuously
monitored by management and is adjusted, as necessary, based on evaluation of internal and external factors. The difference between the rates
Textron Manufacturing received and the rates it paid on interest rate swap agreements did not significantly impact interest expense in 2003, 2002
or 2001.
Within its Finance segment, Textron’s strategy of matching floating-rate assets with floating-rate liabilities limits its risk to changes in interest
rates. This strategy includes the use of interest rate swap agreements. At January 3, 2004, floating-rate assets were equal to floating-rate
liabilities, after including the impact of $1.9 billion of interest rate swap agreements on long-term debt and $238 million of interest rate swap
agreements on finance receivables. For Textron Finance, interest rate swap agreements had the effect of decreasing interest expense by
$43 million, $20 million and $1 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Foreign Exchange Risks
Textron’s financial results are affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates and economic conditions in the foreign markets in which
products are manufactured and/or sold. For fiscal 2003, the impact of foreign exchange rate changes from fiscal 2002 increased revenues by
approximately $313 million (3.0%) and increased segment profit by approximately $25 million (2.8%).
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Textron Manufacturing manages its exposures to foreign currency assets and earnings primarily by funding certain foreign currency
denominated assets with liabilities in the same currency and, as such, certain exposures are naturally offset. During 2003, Textron Manufacturing
primarily used borrowings denominated in Euro and British Pound Sterling for these purposes.
In addition, as part of managing its foreign currency transaction exposures, Textron Manufacturing enters into foreign currency forward
exchange and option contracts. These contracts are generally used to fix the local currency cost of purchased goods or services or selling prices
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency
options and currency swaps was approximately $519 million at the end of 2003 and $721 million at the end of 2002.
Quantitative Risk Measures
Textron utilizes a sensitivity analysis to quantify the market risk inherent in its financial instruments. Financial instruments held by Textron that
are subject to market risk (interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk and equity price risk) include finance receivables (excluding lease
receivables), debt (excluding lease obligations), interest rate swap agreements, foreign exchange contracts, marketable equity securities and
marketable security price forward contracts.
Presented below is a sensitivity analysis of the fair value of Textron’s financial instruments entered into for purposes other than trading at yearend. The following table illustrates the hypothetical change in the fair value of the financial instruments at year-end assuming a 10% decrease in
interest rates, a 10% strengthening in exchange rates against the U.S. dollar and a 10% decrease in the quoted market prices of applicable
marketable equity securities. The estimated fair value of the financial instruments was determined by discounted cash flow analysis and by
independent investment bankers. This sensitivity analysis is most likely not indicative of actual results in the future.
2003

(In millions)

Interest Rate Risk
Textron Manufacturing:
Debt
Interest rate swaps
Textron Finance:
Finance receivables
Interest rate swaps - receivables
Debt
Interest rate swaps - debt
Foreign Exchange Rate Risk
Textron Manufacturing:
Debt
Foreign currency exchange contracts
Equity Price Risk
Textron Manufacturing:
Available for sale securities
Marketable security price forward contracts

2002

Carrying
Value*

Fair
Value*

$(2,027)
(1)

$(2,177)
(1)

4,313
(15)
(4,407)
22

Hypothetical
Change in
Fair Value

Hypothetical
Change in
Fair Value

Carrying
Value*

Fair
Value*

$(38)
5

$(1,708)
4

$(1,836)
4

$(31)
3

4,274
(15)
(4,552)
22

43
(6)
(48)
7

4,729
(21)
(4,840)
67

4,708
(21)
(4,935)
67

20
(5)
(62)
9

(683)
20

(751)
20

(75)
48

(631)
(4)

(662)
(4)

(66)
(21)

24
25

24
25

(2)
(12)

30
(3)

30
(3)

(3)
(9)

* Asset or (liability)

Other Matters
Environmental
As with other industrial enterprises engaged in similar businesses, Textron is involved in a number of remedial actions under various federal and
state laws and regulations relating to the environment that impose liability on companies to clean up, or contribute to the cost of cleaning up,
sites on which hazardous wastes or materials were disposed or released. Expenditures to evaluate and remediate contaminated sites approximated
$6 million, $16 million and $14 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Textron currently projects that expenditures for remediation will
range between $9 million and $13 million for each of the years 2004 and 2005.
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Textron’s accrued estimated environmental liabilities are based on assumptions that are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties.
Circumstances that can affect the reliability and precision of the accruals include the identification of additional sites, environmental regulations,
level of cleanup required, technologies available, number and financial condition of other contributors to remediation, and the time period over
which remediation may occur. Textron believes that any changes to the accruals that may result from these factors and uncertainties will not
have a material effect on Textron’s financial position or results of operations. Textron estimates that its accrued environmental remediation
liabilities will likely be paid over the next five to ten years.
Foreign Military Sales
Certain Textron products are sold through the Department of Defense’s Foreign Military Sales Program. In addition, Textron sells directly to
select foreign military organizations. Sales under these programs totaled approximately 2.1% of Textron’s consolidated revenue in 2003 (less
than 0.1% in the case of foreign military sales and 2.1% in the case of direct sales) and 2.2% in 2002 (0.1% and 2.1%, respectively). Such sales
include military and commercial helicopters, armored vehicles, turrets and spare parts. In 2003, these sales were made primarily to the countries
of Saudi Arabia (40%), United Kingdom (12%) and Thailand (11%). All sales are made in full compliance with all applicable laws and in
accordance with Textron’s Code of Conduct.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
FASB Interpretation No. 46
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46” or the “Interpretation”),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” The Interpretation requires the consolidation of variable interest
entities in which an enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or
both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in the entity. Currently, entities are generally consolidated by an enterprise
that has a controlling financial interest through ownership of a majority voting interest in the entity. FIN 46 originally was effective immediately
for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and was effective in the third quarter of Textron’s fiscal 2003 for those created prior
to February 1, 2003. Textron Manufacturing has not modified or entered into any new joint ventures in 2003. Textron Finance adopted FIN 46
for an agreement that was entered into in June 2003 and determined that the entity was not a variable interest entity.
Subsequent to the original issuance of the Interpretation, the effective date for entities created or interests obtained prior to February 1, 2003 was
deferred, and in December 2003, the FASB issued a revised version of FIN 46 that provided clarification of the original Interpretation and
excluded certain operating entities from its scope. Public companies are required to apply the provisions of this Interpretation specifically to
entities commonly referred to as special-purpose entities (SPE) in financial statement periods ending after December 15, 2003. The effective date
for all other types of entities within the scope of the Interpretation is for financial statement periods ending after March 15, 2004.
Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance will adopt the revised FIN 46 in the first quarter of 2004 when it applies to non-SPEs for entities
created or interests obtained prior to February 2003. Both borrowing groups have substantially completed the process of evaluating the
Interpretation and believes it will not have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position. In the normal course of business,
Textron has entered into various joint venture agreements that qualify as operating businesses. The majority of these ventures meet the criteria
for exclusion from the scope of FIN 46 and do not require consolidation.
Textron Manufacturing participates in an agreement with Agusta to share certain costs and profits for the joint design, development,
manufacture, marketing, sale, customer training and product support of Bell Agusta Aerospace’s BA609 and AB139. These programs have been
in the development stage, and only certain marketing costs are being charged to the venture. Bell Helicopter’s share of the development costs are
being charged to earnings as a period expense. This venture is within the scope of FIN 46 and is required to be evaluated under the Interpretation
in the first quarter of 2004. The impact of consolidating this venture would not be material to Textron’s results of operations or financial position
at this time.
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FASB Staff Position 150-3
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity.” SFAS No. 150 requires that an issuer classify certain financial instruments as liabilities. Many of the instruments included within the
Statement’s scope, such as mandatorily redeemable shares, were previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 was effective for financial
instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and was effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15,
2003 for all other instruments. As required, Textron adopted this Statement when it became effective in July 2003 and reported its obligated
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities as liabilities and all related expenses prospectively as components of income from operations.
Subsequent to adoption, on November 7, 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 150-3, “Effective Date, Disclosures, and Transition
for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
under FASB Statement No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity . ” FSP 150-3
deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 150 for certain mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interests. Textron’s obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities were included in this deferral. FSP 150-3 states that entities that have already adopted SFAS No. 150 for
instruments within the scope of its indefinite deferral shall reverse the effects of that adoption in the first fiscal period beginning after the date
the FSP was issued. Textron will adopt FSP 150-3 in the first quarter of 2004. Since Textron Finance’s mandatorily redeemable preferred
securities will be included in the adoption of FIN 46 in the first quarter of 2004, and Textron Manufacturing redeemed its preferred securities in
July 2003, the adoption of FSP 150-3 will have no impact on Textron’s results of operations or financial position.
FASB Staff Position 106-1
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law. This Act
introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D along with a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that
provide a similar benefit. On January 12, 2004, the FASB issued FSP 106-1, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” to address the accounting and disclosure implications resulting from the Act.
FSP 106-1 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 7, 2003 and provides a one-time election to delay reporting
the effects of the Act until authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy is issued. Textron has elected to defer accounting for
the Act in accordance with this one-time election until authoritative guidance on the appropriate accounting is issued.
Forward-looking Information: Certain statements in this Annual Report and other oral and written statements made by Textron from time to
time are forward-looking statements, including those that discuss strategies, goals, outlook or other non-historical matters; or project revenues,
income, returns or other financial measures. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we
undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements. These forward- looking statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the statements, including the following: (a) the extent to
which Textron is able to achieve savings from its restructuring plans; (b) uncertainty in estimating the amount and timing of restructuring
charges and related costs; (c) changes in worldwide economic and political conditions that impact interest and foreign exchange rates; (d) the
occurrence of work stoppages and strikes at key facilities of Textron or Textron’s customers or suppliers; (e) government funding and program
approvals affecting products being developed or sold under government programs; (f) cost and delivery performance under various program
and development contracts; (g) the adequacy of cost estimates for various customer care programs including servicing warranties; (h) the
ability to control costs and successful implementation of various cost reduction programs; (i) the timing of certifications of new aircraft
products; (j) the occurrence of further downturns in customer markets to which Textron products are sold or supplied or where Textron Finance
offers financing; (k) changes in aircraft delivery schedules or cancellation of orders; (l) the impact of changes in tax legislation (including the
expiration of “bonus depreciation” provisions scheduled to end in 2004); (m) Textron’s ability to offset, through cost reductions, raw material
price increases and pricing pressure brought by original equipment manufacturer customers; (n) the availability and cost of insurance;
(o) pension plan income falling below current forecasts; (p) Textron Finance’s ability to maintain portfolio credit quality; (q) Textron Finance’s
access to debt financing at competitive rates; and (r) uncertainty in estimating contingent liabilities and establishing reserves tailored to address
such contingencies.
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Report of Management
Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial data presented in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and include amounts based on
management’s best estimates and judgments. The independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, have audited the consolidated financial statements
and have considered the internal control structure to the extent they believed necessary to support their report, which appears below.
We conduct our business in accordance with the standards outlined in the Textron Business Conduct Guidelines which is communicated to all
employees. Honesty, integrity and high ethical standards are the core values of how we conduct business. Every Textron division prepares and
carries out an annual Compliance Plan to ensure these values and standards are maintained. Our internal control structure is designed to provide
reasonable assurance, at appropriate cost, that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are properly executed and recorded. The internal
control structure includes, among other things, established policies and procedures, an internal audit function, and the selection and training of
qualified personnel. Textron’s management is responsible for implementing effective internal control systems and monitoring their effectiveness,
as well as developing and executing an annual internal control plan.
The Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, on behalf of the shareholders, oversees management’s financial reporting responsibilities. The
Audit Committee, comprised of six directors who are not officers or employees of Textron, meets regularly with the independent auditors,
management and our internal auditors to review matters relating to financial reporting, internal accounting controls and auditing. Both the
independent auditors and the internal auditors have free and full access to senior management and the Audit Committee.

Lewis B. Campbell
Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer
January 29, 2004

Ted R. French
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Report of Independent Auditors
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Textron Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Textron Inc. as of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended January 3,
2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of Textron’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Textron Inc. at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended January 3, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 Textron adopted Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” and the remaining provisions of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 Textron adopted Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, “
Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.”

Boston, Massachusetts
January 29, 2004
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
For each of the years in the three-year period ended January 3, 2004
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Manufacturing revenues
Finance revenues
Total revenues
Costs, expenses and other
Cost of sales
Selling and administrative
Interest, net
Provision for losses on finance receivables
Special charges
Gain on sale of businesses
Total costs, expenses and other
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and distributions on preferred securities of
subsidiary trusts
Income taxes
Distributions on preferred securities of subsidiary trusts, net of income taxes

2003

2002

2001

$9,287
572

$ 9,766
584

$11,295
681

9,859

10,350

11,976

7,669
1,294
270
81
159
(15)

7,961
1,305
297
111
135
(25)

9,458

9,784

9,440
1,457
425
69
143
(342)
11,192

401
(107)
(13)

566
(173)
(26)

784
(284)
(26)

Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

281
(22)

367
(3)

474
(308)

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes

259
—

364
(488)

166
—

Net income (loss)

$ 259

$ (124)

$

166

Per common share:
Basic:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes

$ 2.07
(.16)
—

$

2.64
(.02)
(3.52)

$

3.36
(2.19)
—

Net income (loss)

$ 1.91

$

(.90)

$

1.17

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes

$ 2.05
(.16)
—

$

2.62
(.02)
(3.48)

$

3.32
(2.16)
—

Net income (loss)

$ 1.89

$

(.88)

$

1.16

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002
(Dollars in millions, except share data)

Assets
Textron Manufacturing
Cash and cash equivalents
Commercial and U.S. Government receivables (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $66 in 2003 and $48 in 2002)
Inventories
Income taxes receivable
Other current assets
Assets of discontinued operations

2003

$

Total current assets

486
1,135
1,439
—
532
—

2002

$

286
1,159
1,566
193
498
237

3,592

3,939

1,925
1,420
40
1,780

1,955
1,353
47
1,566

8,757

8,860

Textron Finance
Cash
Finance receivables, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Assets of discontinued operations

357
5,016
169
791
—

21
5,389
169
804
271

Total Textron Finance assets

6,333

6,654

$15,090

$15,514

$

$

Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total Textron Manufacturing assets

Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Liabilities
Textron Manufacturing
Current portion of long-term debt and short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Accrued postretirement benefits other than pensions
Other liabilities
Long-term debt
Mandatorily redeemable preferred securities
Total Textron Manufacturing liabilities
Textron Finance
Other liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Debt
Obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of Finance subsidiary holding solely junior subordinated
debentures
Total Textron Finance liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders’equity
Capital stock:

316
702
1,238
—

25
857
1,324
86

2,256

2,292

590
1,519
1,711
—

611
1,403
1,683
485

6,076

6,474

501
390
4,407

369
398
4,840

26

27

5,324

5,634

11,400

12,108

Preferred stock:
$2.08 Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A (liquidation value $11)
$1.40 Convertible Preferred Dividend Stock, Series B (preferred only as to dividends)
Common stock (198,957,000 and 197,110,000 shares issued and 137,238,000 and 136,500,000 outstanding)
Capital surplus
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

4
6
25
1,148
5,606
(64)

5
6
25
1,080
5,526
(225)

Less cost of treasury shares

6,725
3,035

6,417
3,011

Total shareholders’equity

3,690

3,406

$15,090

$15,514

Total liabilities and shareholders’equity

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For each of the years in the three-year period ended January 3, 2004
Shares Outstanding *
(In thousands)
2003

2002

Dollars
(In millions)
2001

2003

2002

2001

$2.08 Preferred stock
Beginning balance
Conversion to common stock

120
(8)

133
(13)

143
(10)

$

5 $
(1)

5 $
—

5
—

Ending balance

112

120

133

$

4 $

5 $

5

$1.40 Preferred stock
Beginning balance
Conversion to common stock

56
(4)

62
(6)

67
(5)

$

6 $
—

6 $
—

7
(1)

Ending balance

52

56

62

$

6 $

6 $

6

Common stock
Beginning balance
Purchases
Exercise of stock options
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock
Other issuances of common stock

136,500
(1,951)
1,788
48
853

141,251
(5,734)
689
79
215

140,933
(738)
882
60
114

$

25 $
—
—
—
—

25 $
—
—
—
—

24
—
—
1
—

Ending balance

137,238

136,500

141,251

$

25 $

25 $

25

Capital surplus
Beginning balance
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock
Exercise of stock options and other issuances

$1,080 $1,064 $1,026
—
—
—
68
16
38

Ending balance

$1,148 $1,080 $1,064

Retained earnings
Beginning balance
Net income (loss)
Dividends declared on common stock (per share: $1.30)

$5,526 $5,829 $5,848
259
(124)
166
(179) (179) (185)

Ending balance

$5,606 $5,526 $5,829

Treasury stock
Beginning balance
Purchases of common stock
Issuance of common stock

$3,011 $2,772 $2,744
66
249
34
(42)
(10)
(6)

Ending balance

$3,035 $3,011 $2,772

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Beginning balance
Currency translation adjustment
Deferred gains (losses) on hedge contracts
Unrealized gains on securities
Minimum pension liability adjustment

$ (225) $ (223) $ (172)
159
78
(20)
37
13
(32)
—
2
1
(35)
(95)
—

Other comprehensive income (loss)

161

(2)

(51)

Ending balance

$ (64) $ (225) $ (223)

Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$ 259 $ (124) $ 166
161
(2)
(51)

Comprehensive income (loss)

*

$ 420 $ (126) $ 115

Shares issued at the end of 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000, were as follows (in thousands): $2.08 Preferred 181; 189; 202 and 212 shares,
respectively; $1.40 Preferred - 540; 543; 549 and 554 shares, respectively; Common - 198,957; 197,110; 196,337 and 195,394 shares,
respectively.

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows
For each of the years in the three-year period ended January 3, 2004
Consolidated
(In millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Earnings of Textron Finance greater than distributions
Depreciation
Amortization
Provision for losses on finance receivables
Gain on sale of businesses
Special charges
Non-cash gain on securitizations
Deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities excluding those related to acquisitions and divestitures:
Commercial and U.S. Government receivables
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Other, net
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Cash flows from investing activities:
Finance receivables:
Originated or purchased
Repaid
Proceeds on receivables sales and securitization sales
Cash used in acquisitions
Net proceeds from sale of businesses
Capital expenditures
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Due (from) to Textron (Finance) Manufacturing
Other investing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities of continuing operations
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Decrease) increase in short-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Principal payments and retirements of long-term debt and mandatorily redeemable preferred
securities
Proceeds from employee stock ownership plans
Purchases of Textron common stock
Dividends paid
Dividends paid to Textron Manufacturing
Capital contributions to Textron Finance
Other financing activities, net
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities of continuing operations

2003

$

281

2002

$

367

2001

$

474

—
338
18
81
(15)
159
(15)
(41)

—
332
26
111
(25)
135
(28)
326

—
391
105
69
(342)
143
(43)
126

87
172
(237)
(199)
175
44

(20)
97
(320)
(159)
(215)
13

(93)
62
(37)
196
(60)
(2)

848

640

989

(9,824)
8,793
1,162
—
14
(301)
55
—
159
58

(8,874)
7,454
966
(2)
27
(295)
62
—
(27)

(7,456)
5,588
2,019
(596)
695
(527)
82
—
(125)

(689)

(320)

(321)
1,682

154
2,495

(608)
1,480

(1,882)
67
(64)
(222)
—
—
(8)

(2,207)
24
(248)
(182)
—
—
—

(1,360)
27
(47)
(184)
—
—
—

(748)

36

32

17

5

Net cash provided (used) by continuing operations
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations

190
346

4
43

(18)
(11)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

536
307

47
260

(29)
289

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(692)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

843

$

307

$

260

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capital lease obligations incurred to finance future construction
Capital expenditures financed through capital leases

$
$

—
26

$
$

79
23

$
$

—
—

*

Textron is segregated into two borrowing groups, Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance as described in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements along with the principles of consolidation. Textron Manufacturing’s cash flows include the pretax income from
Textron Finance. All significant transactions between Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance have been eliminated from the
“Consolidated” column.

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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TEXTRON MANUFACTURING*
(In millions)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Earnings of Textron Finance greater than distributions
Depreciation
Amortization
Provision for losses on finance receivables
Gain on sale of businesses
Special charges
Non-cash gain on securitizations
Deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities excluding those related to acquisitions
and divestitures:
Commercial and U.S. Government receivables
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Other, net

TEXTRON FINANCE*

2003

2002

2001

$ 281

$ 367

$ 474

2003

$

2002

79 $

76 $

2001

120

(4)
304
7
—
(15)
153
—
(12)

(23)
305
16
—
(25)
135
—
268

(78)
372
83
—
(342)
140
—
80

—
34
11
81
—
6
(15)
(29)

—
27
10
111
—
—
(28)
58

—
19
22
69
—
3
(43)
46

87
172
(233)
(200)
101
40

(20)
97
(306)
(136)
(196)
13

(93)
62
(49)
156
(74)
25

—
—
(4)
1
74
4

—
—
(14)
(23)
(19)
—

—
—
12
40
14
(27)

681

495

756

198

275

—
—
—
—
14
(284)
55
—
1

—
—
—
(2)
27
(278)
62
510
—

—
—
—
(209)
695
(510)
82
(510)
11

(214)

319

(441)

272

(1,008)

121

(10)
246

(156)
303

(330)
307

(311)
1,436

310
2,192

(278)
1,173

(508)
67
(64)
(222)
30
—
(8)

(544)
24
(248)
(182)
—
—
—

(62)
27
(47)
(184)
—
(40)
—

(469)

(803)

(329)

31

18

5

Net cash provided (used) by continuing operations
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations

29
171

29
16

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

200
286

45
241

$ 486

$ 286

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Cash flows from investing activities:
Finance receivables:
Originated or purchased
Repaid
Proceeds on receivables sales and securitization sales
Cash used in acquisitions
Net proceeds from sale of businesses
Capital expenditures
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Due (from) to Textron (Finance) Manufacturing
Other investing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities of continuing operations
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Decrease) increase in short-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Principal payments and retirements of long-term debt and mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities
Proceeds from employee stock ownership plans
Purchases of Textron common stock
Dividends paid
Dividends paid to Textron Manufacturing
Capital contributions to Textron Finance
Other financing activities, net
Net cash (used) provided by financing activities of continuing
operations
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

242

(9,824) (8,874) (7,456)
8,793 7,454 5,588
1,162
966 2,019
—
—
(387)
—
—
—
(17)
(17)
(17)
—
—
—
—
(510)
510
158
(27)
(136)

(1,374) (1,663) (1,298)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(105)
(53)
(42)
—
—
40
—
—
—
(354)

786

(405)

1

(1)

—

(9)
(32)

161
175

(25)
27

(9)
21

(41)
282

336
21

2
19

12
7

357 $

21 $

19

$ 241

$

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capital lease obligations incurred to finance future construction
Capital expenditures financed through capital leases

$ —
$ 26

$ 79
$ 23

$ —
$ —

$
$

— $
— $

— $
— $

—
—
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation
Textron is a global, multi-industry company with manufacturing and finance operations primarily in North America, Western Europe, South
America and Asia/Pacific. Textron’s principal markets are summarized below by segment.
Segment

Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems

Industrial

Finance

Principal Markets

• Commercial and military helicopters and tiltrotors
• Defense and aerospace
• Piston aircraft engines
• General aviation aircraft
• Business jets including fractional ownership
• Overnight express package carriers, humanitarian flights, tourism and freight
• Aerospace
• Automotive
• Computer, electronics, electrical and industrial equipment
• Construction
• Non-automotive transportation
• Telecommunications
• Automotive original equipment manufacturers and other industrial suppliers
• Golf courses, resort communities and municipalities, and commercial and industrial users
• Original equipment manufacturers, governments, distributors and end-users of fluid and power
systems
• Electrical construction and maintenance, telecommunications and plumbing industries
• Secured commercial loans and leases

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Textron and all of its majority- and wholly owned subsidiaries. Investments in
which Textron does not have control, but has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies, are accounted
for under the equity method. Textron’s share of net earnings and losses from these investments is included in the consolidated statement of
operations. In the normal course of business, Textron has entered into various joint venture agreements. At January 3, 2004 and December 29,
2002, other assets include $34 million and $35 million, respectively, attributable to investments in unconsolidated joint ventures. Textron
accounts for its interest in these ventures under the equity method of accounting. Since Textron’s equity in the income (loss) from joint ventures
is not material, it is not separately reported and is included within cost of sales. Textron’s loss from unconsolidated joint ventures totaled
$7 million in 2003 and $10 million each year in 2002 and 2001.
Textron’s financings are conducted through two borrowing groups, Textron Finance and Textron Manufacturing. This framework is designed to
enhance Textron’s borrowing power by separating the Finance segment. Textron Finance consists of Textron Financial Corporation consolidated
with its subsidiaries, which are the entities through which Textron operates its Finance segment. Textron Finance finances its operations by
borrowing from its own group of external creditors. All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated.
Textron Manufacturing is Textron Inc., the parent company, consolidated with the entities which operate in the Bell, Cessna, Fastening Systems
and Industrial business segments. Textron reorganized into these segments in the second quarter of 2003 in order to streamline its management
structure. Under the new structure, Textron Systems and Textron Lycoming (Lycoming) are combined with Bell Helicopter to form the Bell
segment and Cessna Aircraft is reported as a separate segment. The remaining Industrial Products and Industrial Components businesses have
been combined to form the Industrial segment. Previously, in January 2002, management responsibility for certain divisions was also
reorganized to reflect the sale of the Automotive Trim business. The former automotive divisions are included in the Industrial segment. All
prior period data have been appropriately reclassified.
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The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these statements and accompanying notes. Some of the more significant estimates include
inventory valuation, residual values of leased assets, allowance for credit losses on receivables, product liability, workers’ compensation,
actuarial assumptions for the pension and postretirement plans, estimates of future cash flows associated with long-lived assets, environmental
and warranty reserves, and amounts reported under long-term contracts. Management’s estimates are based on the facts and circumstances
available at the time estimates are made, historical experience, risk of loss, general economic conditions and trends, and management’s
assessments of the probable future outcomes of these matters. Actual results could differ from such estimates.
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term, highly liquid securities with original maturities of ninety days or less.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is generally recognized when products are delivered or services are performed. With respect to aircraft, delivery is upon completion of
manufacturing, customer acceptance and the transfer of the risk and rewards of ownership.
When a sale arrangement involves multiple elements, such as sales of products that include customization services, the deliverables in the
arrangement are evaluated to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting. This evaluation occurs at inception of the
arrangement and as each item in the arrangement is delivered. The total fee from the arrangement is allocated to each unit of accounting based on
its relative fair value, taking into consideration any performance, cancellation, termination or refund type provisions. Fair value for each element
is established generally based on the sales price charged when the same or similar element is sold separately. Revenue is recognized when
revenue recognition criteria for each unit of accounting are met. The adoption of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 00-21 “Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” in the third quarter of 2003 did not have a material impact on Textron’s results of operations or
financial position.
Revenue under fixed-price contracts is generally recorded as deliveries are made. Certain long-term fixed-price contracts provide for periodic
delivery after a lengthy period of time over which significant costs are incurred or require a significant amount of development effort in relation
to total contract volume. Revenues under those contracts and all cost-reimbursement-type contracts are recorded as costs are incurred. Certain
contracts are awarded with fixed-price incentive fees. Incentive fees are considered when estimating revenues and profit rates, and are recorded
when these amounts are reasonably determined. Long-term contract profits are based on estimates of total sales value and costs at completion.
Such estimates are reviewed and revised periodically throughout the contract life. Revisions to contract profits are recorded when the revisions to
estimated sales value or costs are made. Estimated contract losses are recorded when identified.
Textron continues to manufacture aircraft under the V-22 low-rate initial production releases that began prior to 2003. Revenues under those
releases are recorded on a cost incurred basis primarily as a result of the significant engineering effort required over a lengthy period of time
during the initial development phase in relation to total contract volume. The development effort is substantially complete for new production
releases in 2003 and revenue on those releases will be recognized as units are delivered, which is expected to begin in late 2004.
Revenue from certain qualifying noncancelable aircraft and other product lease contracts are accounted for as sales-type leases. The present
value of all payments (net of executory costs and any guaranteed residual values) is recorded as revenue, and the related costs of the product are
charged to cost of sales. Generally, these leases are financed through Textron Finance and the associated interest is recorded over the term of the
lease agreement using the interest method. Lease financing transactions that do not qualify as sales-type leases are accounted for under the
operating method wherein revenue is recorded as earned over the lease period.
Finance revenues include interest on finance receivables, which is recognized using the interest method to provide a constant rate of return over
the terms of the receivables. Finance revenues also include direct loan origination costs and fees received, which are deferred and amortized over
the contractual lives of the respective receivables using the interest method. Unamortized amounts are recognized in
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revenues when receivables are sold or pre-paid. Accrual of interest income is suspended for accounts that are contractually delinquent by more
than three months, unless collection is not doubtful. In addition, detailed reviews of loans may result in earlier suspension if collection is
doubtful. Accrual of interest is resumed when the loan becomes contractually current, and suspended interest income is recognized at that time.
Allowance for Losses on Finance Receivables
Provisions for losses on finance receivables are charged to income in amounts sufficient to maintain the allowance at a level considered adequate
to cover losses in the existing receivable portfolio. Management evaluates the allowance by examining current delinquencies, the characteristics
of the existing accounts, historical loss experience, the value of the underlying collateral and general economic conditions and trends. Finance
receivables are charged off when they are deemed to be uncollectible. Finance receivables are written down to the fair value (less estimated costs
to sell) of the related collateral at the earlier of the date the collateral is repossessed or when no payment has been received for six months, unless
management deems the receivable collectible.
Loan Impairment
Textron Finance periodically evaluates finance receivables, excluding homogeneous loan portfolios and finance leases, for impairment. A loan is
considered impaired when it is probable that Textron Finance will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the
loan agreement. Impairment is measured by comparing the fair value of a loan to its carrying amount. Fair value is based on the present value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s observable market price or, if the loan is collateral
dependent, at the fair value of the collateral. If the fair value of the loan is less than its carrying amount, Textron Finance establishes a reserve
based on this difference. This evaluation is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates, including the amount and timing of future cash flows
expected to be received on impaired loans, that may differ from actual results.
Securitized Transactions
Textron Finance sells or securitizes loans and leases and retains servicing responsibilities and subordinated interests, including interest-only
securities, subordinated certificates and cash reserves, all of which are retained interests in the securitized receivables. These retained interests
are subordinate to other investors’ interests in the securitizations. A gain or loss on the sale of finance receivables depends in part on the previous
carrying amount of the finance receivables involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests based on their
relative fair values at the date of transfer. Retained interests are recorded at fair value as a component of other assets.
Textron Finance estimates fair value based on the present value of future expected cash flows using management’s best estimates of key
assumptions: credit losses, prepayment speeds, forward interest rate yield curves and discount rates commensurate with the risks involved.
Textron Finance reviews the fair values of the retained interests quarterly using updated assumptions and compares such amounts with the
carrying value of the retained interests. When the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the retained interests and the decline in fair value is
determined to be other than temporary, the retained interest is written down to fair value. When a change in the fair value of the retained interest
is deemed temporary, any unrealized gains or losses are included in shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive
loss (OCL).
Investment Securities
Investments in marketable securities are classified as available for sale and are recorded at fair value as a component of other assets. Unrealized
gains and losses on these securities, net of income taxes, are included in shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated OCL. If a decline
in the fair value of a marketable security is judged to be other than temporary, the cost basis is written down to fair value with a charge to
earnings. Non-marketable equity securities are accounted for under either the cost or equity method of accounting.
Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market. The cost of approximately 70% of inventories is determined using the last-in, first-out
method. The cost of remaining inventories, other than those related to certain long-term contracts, are generally valued by the first-in, first-out
method. Costs for commercial helicopters are determined on an average cost basis by model considering the expended and estimated costs for
the current production release.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated primarily using the straight-line method. Land improvements and
buildings are depreciated primarily over estimated lives ranging from 5 to 40 years, while machinery and equipment are depreciated primarily
over 3 to 15 years. Expenditures for improvements that increase asset values and extend useful lives are capitalized. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Management evaluates the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances, such as declines in sales, earnings or cash flows, or material adverse changes in the business climate, indicate that the carrying
value of an asset might be impaired. Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair
value. Fair values are established primarily using a discounted cash flow methodology. The determination of discounted cash flows is based on
the businesses’ strategic plans and long-range planning forecasts.
Derivative Financial Instruments
Textron is exposed to market risk, primarily from changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates and securities pricing. To manage the
volatility relating to these exposures, Textron nets the exposures on a consolidated basis to take advantage of natural offsets. For the residual
portion, Textron enters into various derivative transactions pursuant to Textron’s policies in such areas as counterparty exposure and hedging
practices. All derivative instruments are reported on the balance sheet at fair value. Designation to support hedge accounting is performed on a
specific exposure basis. Changes in fair value of financial instruments qualifying as fair value hedges are recorded in income, offset in part or in
whole by corresponding changes in the fair value of the underlying exposures being hedged. Changes in fair values of derivatives accounted for
as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective as hedges, are recorded in OCL net of deferred taxes. Changes in fair value of derivatives not
qualifying as hedges are reported in income. Textron does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars with the adjustments from the currency rate changes recorded
in the cumulative translation adjustment account in shareholders’ equity until the related foreign entity is sold or substantially liquidated. Foreign
currency financing transactions, including currency swaps, are used to effectively hedge long-term investments in foreign operations with the
same corresponding currency. Foreign currency gains and losses on the hedge of the long-term investments are recorded in the cumulative
translation adjustment account in accumulated OCL with the offset recorded as an adjustment to the non-U.S. dollar financing liability.
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and variable-rate receivables and debt approximate cost. The
estimated fair values of other financial instruments, including debt, equity and risk management instruments, have been determined using
available market information and valuation methodologies, primarily discounted cash flow analysis or independent investment bankers. The
estimated fair value of nonperforming loans included in finance receivables is based on discounted cash flow analyses using risk-adjusted
interest rates or the fair value of the related collateral. Because considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data, the estimates are
not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market.
Stock-Based Compensation
Textron’s 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan (1999 Plan) authorizes awards to key employees. The 1999 Plan and related awards are described
more fully in Note 11. Stock-based compensation awards to employees under the 1999 Plan are accounted for using the intrinsic value method
prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related Interpretations. No stockbased employee compensation cost related to stock options awards is reflected in net income, as all options granted under the 1999 Plan had an
exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. Employee compensation cost related to Textron’s
performance share program and restricted stock awards is reflected in net income over the awards’ vesting period. Textron has entered into cash
settlement forward contracts on its common stock to mitigate the impact of stock price fluctuations on compensation expense. The following
table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if Textron had applied the fair-value recognition provisions of FASB Statement
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation.
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

2003

2002

2001

Net income (loss), as reported
Add back: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in
reported net income (loss)*
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all awards*

$ 259

$ (124)

$ 166

Pro forma net income (loss)

$ 244

$ (155)

$ 140

Income (loss) per share:
Basic - as reported
Basic - pro forma
Diluted - as reported
Diluted - pro forma

$1.91
$1.80
$1.89
$1.78

$ (.90)
$(1.12)
$ (.88)
$(1.10)

$1.17
$ .99
$1.16
$ .98

14

9

22

(29)

(40)

(48)

* Net of related cash settlement forward income or expense and related tax effects
Product and Environmental Liabilities
Product liability claims are accrued on the occurrence method based on insurance coverage and deductibles in effect at the date of the incident
and management’s assessment of the probability of loss when reasonably estimable.
Environmental liabilities are recorded based on the most probable cost, if known, or management’s best estimate, determined on a site-by-site
basis. Textron’s environmental liabilities are undiscounted and do not take into consideration possible future insurance proceeds or significant
amounts from claims against other third parties.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
FASB Interpretation No. 46
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46” or the “Interpretation”),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” The Interpretation requires the consolidation of variable interest
entities in which an enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or
both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in the entity. Currently, entities are generally consolidated by an enterprise
that has a controlling financial interest through ownership of a majority voting interest in the entity. FIN 46 originally was effective immediately
for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and was effective in the third quarter of Textron’s fiscal 2003 for those created prior
to February 1, 2003. Textron Manufacturing has not modified or entered into any new joint ventures in 2003. Textron Finance adopted FIN 46
for an agreement that was entered into in June 2003 and determined that the entity was not a variable interest entity.
Subsequent to the original issuance of the Interpretation, the effective date for entities created or interests obtained prior to February 1, 2003 was
deferred, and in December 2003, the FASB issued a revised version of FIN 46 that provided clarification of the original Interpretation and
excluded certain operating entities from its scope. Public companies are required to apply the provisions of this Interpretation specifically to
entities commonly referred to as special-purpose entities (SPE) in financial statement periods ending after December 15, 2003. The effective date
for all other types of entities within the scope of the Interpretation is for financial statement periods ending after March 15, 2004.
Textron Manufacturing and Textron Finance will adopt the revised FIN 46 in the first quarter of 2004 when it applies to non-SPEs for entities
created or interests obtained prior to February 2003. Both borrowing groups have substantially completed the process of evaluating the
Interpretation and believe it will not have a material impact on their results of operations or financial position. In the normal course of business,
Textron has entered into various joint venture agreements that qualify as operating businesses. The majority of these ventures meet the criteria
for exclusion from the scope of FIN 46 and do not require consolidation.
Textron Manufacturing participates in an agreement with Agusta to share certain costs and profits for the joint design, development,
manufacture, marketing, sale, customer training and product support of Bell Agusta Aerospace’s BA609 and AB139. These programs have been
in the development stage, and only certain marketing costs are being charged to the venture. Bell Helicopter’s share of the development costs are
being charged to earnings as a period expense. This venture is within the scope of FIN 46 and is required to be evaluated under the Interpretation
in the first quarter of 2004. The impact of consolidating this venture would not be material to Textron’s results of operations or financial position
at this time.
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FASB Staff Position 150-3
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity.” SFAS No. 150 requires that an issuer classify certain financial instruments as liabilities. Many of the instruments included within the
Statement’s scope, such as mandatorily redeemable shares, were previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 was effective for financial
instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and was effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15,
2003 for all other instruments. As required, Textron adopted this Statement when it became effective in July 2003 and reported its obligated
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities as liabilities and all related expenses prospectively as components of income from operations.
Subsequent to adoption, on November 7, 2003, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 150-3, “Effective Date, Disclosures, and Transition
for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
under FASB Statement No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity .” FSP 150-3
deferred the effective date of SFAS No. 150 for certain mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interests. Textron’s obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities were included in this deferral. FSP 150-3 states that entities that have already adopted SFAS No. 150 for
instruments within the scope of its indefinite deferral shall reverse the effects of that adoption in the first fiscal period beginning after the date
the FSP was issued. Textron will adopt FSP 150-3 in the first quarter of 2004. Since Textron Finance’s mandatorily redeemable preferred
securities will be included in the adoption of FIN 46 in the first quarter of 2004, and Textron Manufacturing redeemed its preferred securities in
July 2003, the adoption of FSP 150-3 will have no impact on Textron’s results of operations or financial position.
FASB Staff Position 106-1
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law. This Act
introduced a prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D along with a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that
provide a similar benefit. On January 12, 2004, the FASB issued FSP 106-1, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” to address the accounting and disclosure implications resulting from the Act.
FSB 106-1 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 7, 2003 and provides a one-time election to delay reporting
the effects of the Act until authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy is issued. Textron has elected to defer accounting for
the Act in accordance with this one-time election until authoritative guidance on the appropriate accounting is issued.
Note 2 Acquisitions and Dispositions
Discontinued Operations
On August 1, 2003, Textron consummated the sale of its remaining OmniQuip business to JLG Industries, Inc. for $90 million in cash and a
$10 million promissory note that was paid in full in February 2004. In the second quarter of 2003, Textron recorded $30 million in special
charges for the impairment of $15 million in intangible assets and $15 million in goodwill based on the fair value implied by the sale price of
OmniQuip under negotiation at that time. There was no further gain or loss recorded upon the consummation of the sale.
Textron Manufacturing has retained certain non-operating assets and liabilities of the OmniQuip business. These remaining assets and liabilities
are included in the consolidated balance sheet as of January 3, 2004 and are comprised of assets amounting to approximately $15 million,
including the $10 million note due from JLG Industries, Inc., and liabilities of approximately $36 million. The liabilities retained include
$29 million in reserves related to a recourse liability to cover potential losses on approximately $115 million in finance receivables held by
Textron Finance. See Note 3 for further discussion on transactions between the Textron’s Manufacturing and Finance borrowing groups.
In addition to its financing relationship with Textron Finance, OmniQuip also utilized third-party finance institutions to provide wholesale
financing to certain customers. While these finance receivables are not reflected on Textron’s balance sheet, the finance institutions have
recourse to Textron and may require Textron to repurchase equipment related to defaults. Textron generally has a secured interest in any
equipment repurchased. The balance of this portfolio at January 3, 2004 was $7 million and $47 million at December 28, 2002.
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The assets and liabilities for the OmniQuip discontinued business as of December 28, 2002 were as follows:
(In millions)

Commercial receivables, net
Inventories
Income taxes receivable
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net
Other assets

$ 40
45
54
26
50
22

Total assets

$237

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other liabilities

$ 32
54

Total liabilities

$ 86

In the fourth quarter of 2003, Textron Finance sold substantially all of its small business direct portfolio to MBNA America Bank, N.A. for
$421 million in cash, and based upon the terms of the transaction, no gain or loss was recorded. The assets for this discontinued business as of
December 28, 2002 included $200 million in net finance receivables, $12 million in goodwill and $59 million in other assets.
Textron’s consolidated statements of operations and related footnote disclosures have been recast to reflect the OmniQuip division, previously
included in the Industrial segment, and the small business finance operation as discontinued operations for the periods presented. The amounts
exclude general corporate overhead previously allocated to the division for segment reporting purposes.
Operating results of the discontinued businesses are as follows:
Year Ended
(In millions)

Revenue

2003

2002

2001

$169

$308

$ 345

Income (loss) from discontinued operations before special charges
Special charges

4
(30)

(61)
(15)

(37)
(328)

Loss from discontinued operations
Income tax benefit

(26)
4

(76)
73

(365)
57

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

$ (22)

$ (3) $(308)

Prior to the sale of OmniQuip, approximately $27 million in restructuring costs related to OmniQuip were recorded in special charges since the
inception of Textron’s restructuring program. Special charges in 2001 also included a $317 million goodwill and intangible impairment charge
related to OmniQuip.
On December 26, 2002, Textron sold the Snorkel product line of its OmniQuip business unit and the capital stock of OmniQuip Textron Inc.
holding company to Elwood Holdings, LLC and recognized a pre-tax loss of $20 million with a tax benefit of $54 million. The tax benefit was
related to the writeoff of OmniQuip goodwill in 2001, at which time only a portion of the tax benefit was realized.
Textron Automotive Trim Disposition
On December 20, 2001, Textron completed the sale of its Automotive Trim business to Collins & Aikman Products Company, a subsidiary of
Collins & Aikman Corporation (C&A), for $668 million in cash, nonmarketable preferred shares of C&A valued at $147 million, 18 million
shares of C&A common stock valued at $90 million and a transfer of $60 million in indebtedness. In addition, Textron entered into an $87
million lease agreement whereby equipment used by the Automotive Trim business was retained by Textron and leased back to the business
through Textron Financial Corporation. Textron recognized a $339 million gain on the sale and received after-tax proceeds of approximately
$582 million, including the transfer of indebtedness. The purchase and sale agreement includes a provision that entitles Textron to an additional
cash payment of up to $125 million to be calculated based on C&A operating results for the five-year period ending 2006.
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As a part of the disposition, certain operating leases were transferred to C&A. Textron has guaranteed C&A’s payments under these operating
leases up to an aggregate remaining amount of $17 million. Textron is required to make payments under these guarantees upon a default by
C&A under the lease agreements. These guarantees expire along with the underlying lease agreements. Textron believes it has sufficient
recourse against C&A under the indemnity provisions of the purchase and sale agreement should it be required to make any payments under
these guarantees.
In 2002, pursuant to a settlement of post-closing obligations under the purchase and sale agreement for the sale of the Automotive Trim business,
Textron received $110 million from C&A and recorded an additional gain of $25 million. The transaction included the repurchase of C&A
preferred shares and the settlement of all other matters under the purchase and sale agreement. In conjunction with this transaction and following
C&A’s recapitalization through a share offering, the carrying value of the C&A common stock held by Textron was revised. The C&A common
stock was subsequently written down and sold as discussed in Note 14.
In January 2003, Textron sold its remaining 50% interest in an Italian joint venture to C&A for a $12 million after-tax gain.
Acquisitions
Textron utilizes the purchase method of accounting for its acquisitions. During 2001, Textron Manufacturing acquired four companies at a total
net cost of $209 million and also made a $40 million capital contribution to Textron Finance in support of its acquisition of a $387 million loan
portfolio. During the past three years, the pro forma results of operations have not been presented for any of these acquisitions since they are not
considered to be material.
Note 3 Finance Receivables and Securitizations
Finance Receivables
Textron Finance provides financial services primarily to the aircraft, golf, vacation interval resort, dealer floorplan and middle market industries
under a variety of financing vehicles with various contractual maturities.
Installment contracts and finance leases have initial terms ranging from two to 20 years, and are primarily secured by the financed equipment.
Finance leases include residual values expected to be realized at contractual maturity. Distribution finance and revolving loans generally mature
within one to five years. Distribution finance receivables are generally secured by the inventory of the financed distributor, while revolving loans
are secured by trade receivables, inventory, plant and equipment, and pools of vacation interval notes receivables, pools of residential and
recreational land lots, and the underlying real property. Golf course mortgages have initial terms ranging from five to seven years with
amortization periods from 15 to 25 years. Resort mortgages generally represent construction and inventory loans with terms up to two years.
Golf course and resort mortgages are secured by real property and are generally limited to 75% or less of the property’s appraised market value
at loan origination. Leveraged leases are secured by the ownership of the leased equipment and real property and have initial terms up to
approximately 30 years.
At the end of fiscal 2003 and 2002, Textron Finance had nonaccrual finance receivables, excluding receivables with recourse to the
Manufacturing group, totaling $152 million and $177 million, respectively. Of these respective amounts $99 million and $122 million were
considered impaired, which excludes finance leases and homogeneous loan portfolios. The allowance for losses on finance receivables related to
impaired loans was $18 million and $33 million at the end of fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. The average recorded investment in impaired
loans during 2003 was $123 million, compared with $97 million in 2002. No interest income was recognized on these loans using the cash basis
method.
The following table displays the contractual maturity of the finance receivables. It does not necessarily reflect future cash collections because of
various factors including the repayment or refinancing of receivables prior to contractual maturity. Cash collections of finance receivables,
excluding proceeds from receivable sales or securitizations, were $8.8 billion and $7.5 billion in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The ratio of cash
collections (net of finance charges) to average net receivables, excluding distribution finance receivables and revolving loans, was approximately
57% in 2003 and 54% in 2002.
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Finance Receivables
Outstanding

Contractual Maturities
(In millions)

2004

Installment contracts
Distribution finance
Revolving loans
Finance leases
Golf course and resort mortgages
Leveraged leases

2005

2006

2007

Thereafter

$ 281
767
350
68
129
16

$174
11
156
95
161
(1)

$148
—
125
24
217
(2)

$148
—
220
19
156
(10)

$1,611

$596

$512

$533

2003

2002

$ 645
—
343
103
282
510

$1,396
778
1,194
309
945
513

$1,775
792
1,200
345
962
460

$1,883

5,135

5,534

119

145

$5,016

$5,389

Less allowance for credit losses

The net investment in finance and leveraged leases was as follows:
(In millions)

Finance and leveraged lease receivables, net of nonrecourse debt
Estimated residual values on leased assets
Unearned income
Investment in leases
Deferred income taxes
Net investment in leases

2003

2002

$ 784
603

$ 723
589

1,387
(565)

1,312
(506)

822
(353)

806
(328)

$ 469

$ 478

The activity in the allowance for credit losses on finance receivables was as follows:
(In millions)

2003

2002

2001

Balance at the beginning of the year
Provision for losses
Charge-offs
Recoveries
Acquisitions and other

$ 145
81
(131)
14
10

$ 125
111
(114)
11
12

$116
69
(69)
8
1

Balance at the end of the year

$ 119

$ 145

$125

Textron Finance manages and services finance receivables for a variety of investors, participants and third-party portfolio owners. The total
managed and serviced finance receivable portfolio, including owned finance receivables, was $8.5 billion at the end of 2003 and $9.0 billion at
the end of 2002. Managed receivables include owned finance receivables and finance receivables sold in securitizations and private transactions
where Textron Finance has retained some element of credit risk and continues to service the portfolio.
At January 3, 2004, Textron Finance’s receivables are primarily diversified geographically across the United States, along with 4% held in South
America and 9% in other countries. The most significant collateral concentration was in general aviation aircraft, which accounted for 22% of
managed receivables. Textron Finance also has industry concentrations in the golf and vacation interval industries, which each accounted for
15% and 14%, respectively, of managed receivables at January 3, 2004.
Transactions between Finance and Manufacturing Groups
A portion of Textron Finance’s business involves financing retail purchases and leases for new and used aircraft and equipment manufactured by
Textron Manufacturing’s Bell, Cessna and Industrial segments. In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Textron Finance paid Textron Manufacturing $0.8
billion, $1.1 billion, and $1.3 billion, respectively, relating to the sale of manufactured products to third parties that were financed by Textron

Finance, and $56 million, $104 million and $62 million, respectively, for the purchase of operating lease equipment. Operating agreements
specify that Textron Finance has recourse to Textron Manufacturing for outstanding balances from some of these transactions. At the end of
2003 and 2002, the amounts guaranteed by Textron Manufacturing totaled $467 million and $562 million, respectively. In addition, Textron
Finance has recourse to Textron Manufacturing for the $87 million lease with C&A and for retained interests in securitizations of $30 million at
the end of 2003 and $70 million at the end of 2002.
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Included in the finance receivables guaranteed by Textron Manufacturing are past due loans of $69 million and $85 million at the end of 2003
and 2002, respectively, that meet the non-accrual criteria but are not classified as non-accrual by Textron Finance due to the guarantee. Textron
Finance continues to recognize income on these loans. Concurrently, Textron Manufacturing is charged for their obligation to Textron Finance
under the guarantee so that there are no net interest earnings for the loans on a consolidated basis. Textron Manufacturing has established
reserves for losses related to these guarantees that are included in other current liabilities.
Securitizations
Textron Finance received proceeds of $0.7 billion in 2003 and $0.7 billion in 2002 from the securitization and sale (with servicing rights
retained) of finance receivables. Pretax gains from securitized trust sales were approximately $43 million in 2003, $45 million in 2002 and
$43 million in 2001. At the end of 2003, $2.2 billion in securitized loans were outstanding with $32 million in past due loans. Textron Finance
has securitized certain receivables generated by Textron Manufacturing for which it has retained full recourse to Textron Manufacturing.
Textron Manufacturing provides a guarantee to a securitization trust sponsored by a third-party financial institution that purchases timeshare note
receivables from Textron Finance. The guarantee requires Textron Manufacturing to make payments to the trust should the cash flows from the
timeshare notes fall below a minimum level. The maximum potential payment required under the credit enhancement agreement is $31 million.
At January 3, 2004, Textron has a fair value liability recorded of approximately $0.2 million that was established upon the sale of additional
timeshare notes receivables into the trust. Textron has not been required to make any payments to the trust under the credit enhancement
agreement, and based on historical experience with the collateral in the trust, no additional liability is considered necessary.
Textron Finance retained subordinated interests in the trusts which are approximately 2% to 10% of the total trust. Servicing fees range from 50
to 150 basis points. During 2003, key economic assumptions used in measuring the retained interests at the date of each securitization included
prepayment speeds ranging from 7.5% to 23%, weighted average lives ranging from 0.2 to 2.1 years, expected credit losses ranging from 0.3%
to 4.7%, and residual cash flows discount rates ranging from 4.7% to 7.0%. At January 3, 2004, key economic assumptions used in measuring
these retained interests were as follows:

(Dollars in millions)

Carrying amount of retained interests in securitizations, net
Weighted average life (in years)
Prepayment speed (annual rate)
Expected credit losses (annual rate)
Residual cash flows discount rate

Aircraft
Loans

Distribution
Finance
Loans

Land Loan
Receivables

Vacation
Interval
Loans

$ 100
1.8
21.4%
0.5%
4.1%

$121
.2
—
0.3%
5.7%

$ 17
2.4
20.0%
3.0%
5.5%

$ 17
1.3
15.0%
4.4%
5.1%

Hypothetical adverse changes of 10% and 20% to either the prepayment speed, expected credit losses and residual cash flows discount rates
assumptions would not have a material impact on the current fair value of the residual cash flows associated with the retained interests. These
hypothetical sensitivities should be used with caution, as the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the retained
interest is calculated without changing any other assumption. In reality, a change in one factor may result in a change in another factor that may
magnify or counteract the sensitivities losses. For example, increases in market interest rates may result in lower prepayments and increased
credit losses.
Note 4 Inventories
(In millions)

Finished goods
Work in process
Raw materials
Less progress payments and customer deposits

January 3,
2004

December 28,
2002

$ 688
681
209

$ 751
810
191

1,578
139

1,752
186

$1,439

$1,566
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Inventories aggregating $1.0 billion and $1.1 billion at the end of 2003 and 2002, respectively, were valued by the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) method. Had such LIFO inventories been valued at current costs, their carrying values would have been approximately $224 million and
$228 million higher at those respective dates. The remaining inventories, other than those related to certain long-term contracts, are valued
primarily by the first-in, first-out method. Inventories related to long-term contracts, net of progress payments and customer deposits, were
$137 million at the end of 2003 and $11 million at the end of 2002.
Note 5 Long-Term Contracts
Long-term contract receivables at the end of 2003 and 2002 totaled $224 million and $201 million, respectively. This includes $126 million and
$161 million, respectively, of unbilled costs and accrued profits that had not yet met the contractual billing criteria. Long-term contract
receivables do not include significant amounts billed but unpaid due to contractual retainage provisions or subject to collection uncertainty.
During the second half of 2001, program reviews on certain long-term development and production contracts indicated reduced profitability
expectations, resulting in a $124 million charge to earnings. The reduced profitability expectations reflected the clarification of several matters
including extended development schedules and planned design changes on a number of programs, as well as ongoing development efforts.
Note 6 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment for Textron Manufacturing is comprised of the following:
January 3,
2004

(In millions)

Land and buildings
Machinery and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

December 28,
2002

$1,093
3,280

$1,046
3,080

4,373
2,448

4,126
2,171

$1,925

$1,955

Note 7 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
On December 30, 2001, Textron adopted SFAS No. 142 which required companies to stop amortizing goodwill and certain intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and requires an annual review for impairment. All existing goodwill as of December 30, 2001 was required to be tested for
impairment on reporting unit basis. The reporting unit represents the operating segment unless discrete financial information is prepared and
reviewed by segment management for businesses one level below that operating segment (a “component”), in which case such component is the
reporting unit. In certain instances, components of an operating segment have been aggregated and deemed to be a single reporting unit based on
similar economic characteristics of the components. Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds
its estimated fair value. Fair values are established primarily using a discounted cash flow methodology. When available, comparative market
multiples are used to corroborate discounted cash flow results.
With the implementation of SFAS No. 142 in 2002, an after-tax transitional impairment charge of $488 million ($561 million, pre-tax) was taken
in the second quarter and retroactively recorded in the first quarter. The after-tax charge is included in the caption “Cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle, net of income taxes” and relates to the following segments: $385 million in Industrial, $88 million in Fastening Systems
and $15 million in Finance. For the Industrial and Fastening Systems segments, the primary factor resulting in the impairment charge was the
decline in demand in certain industries in which these segments operate, especially the telecommunication industry, due to the economic slow
down. The Finance segment’s impairment charge related to the franchise finance division and was primarily the result of decreasing loan
volumes and an unfavorable securitization market. No impairment charge was appropriate for these segments under the previous goodwill
impairment accounting standard, which Textron applied based on undiscounted cash flows.
Changes in goodwill are summarized below:
(In millions)

Balance at December 29, 2001
Reclassification of intangible assets
Transitional impairment charge
Foreign currency translation
Balance at December 28, 2002

Bell

Cessna

$101 $306

Fastening
Systems

Industrial

Finance

$ 473

$ 931

$192

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
(100)
17

36
(437)
26

1
(24)
—

101

306

390

556

169

Total

$2,003
37
(561)
43
1,522

Foreign currency translation
Balance at January 3, 2004

50

—

—

30

37

—

67

$101 $306

$ 420

$ 593

$169

$1,589

Textron also adopted the remaining provisions of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” on December 30, 2001. For goodwill and intangible
assets reported in connection with acquisitions made prior to July 1, 2001, these provisions broaden the criteria for recording intangible assets
separate from goodwill and require that certain intangible assets that do not meet the new criteria, such as assembled workforce and customer
base, be reclassified into goodwill. Upon adoption of these provisions, intangible assets totaling $37 million, net of related deferred taxes, were
reclassified into goodwill within the Industrial and Finance segments.
The effect on net income of the transitional impairment charge and of excluding goodwill amortization expense is presented below:
(In millions, except per share data)

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Add back: Amortization, net of income taxes
Adjusted net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes

2003

2002

2001

$ 259
—

$ 364
—

$ 166
88

259
—

364
(488)

254
—

Adjusted net income (loss)

$ 259

$ (124)

$ 254

Basic earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Add back: Amortization, net of income taxes

$1.91
—

$ 2.62
—

$1.17
.63

Adjusted net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes
Adjusted income (loss) per share - basic
Diluted earnings per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Add back: Amortization, net of income taxes
Adjusted net income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income taxes
Adjusted income (loss) per share - diluted

1.91
—

2.62
(3.52)

1.80
—

$1.91

$(0.90)

$1.80

$1.89
—

$ 2.60
—

$1.16
.62

1.89
—

2.60
(3.48)

1.78
—

$1.89

$(0.88)

$1.78

All of Textron’s acquired intangible assets are subject to amortization and are comprised of the following:
January 3,2004

(Dollars in millions)

Trademarks
Patents
Non-compete
agreements
Other

December 28, 2002

Weighted
Average
Amortization Gross
Period
Carrying Accumulated
(in years)
Amount Amortization Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net

20
8

$28
12

$ 4
5

$24
7

$28
9

$ 2
4

$26
5

3
5

10
15

10
6

—
9

10
16

7
3

3
13

$65

$25

$40

$63

$16

$47

Amortization expense totaled $9 million in 2003 and in 2002, and $14 million in 2001. Amortization expense for fiscal years 2004, 2005, 2006,
2007 and 2008 is estimated to be approximately $6 million, $4 million, $3 million, $3 million and $2 million, respectively.
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Note 8 Debt and Credit Facilities
January 3,
2004

(In millions)

Textron Manufacturing:
Short-term debt:
Current portion of long-term debt

$ 316

Long-term senior debt:
Medium-term notes due 2010 to 2011 (average rate - 9.85%)
6.375% due 2004
5.625% due 2005
6.375% due 2008
4.50% due 2010
6.50% due 2012
6.625% due 2020
Other long-term debt (average rate - 6.5%)

December 28,
2002

$

25

17
300
372
300
250
300
265
223

17
300
308
300
—
300
241
242

2,027

1,708

Current portion of long-term debt

(316)

Total long-term debt
Total Textron Manufacturing debt

(25)

1,711

1,683

$2,027

$1,708

Textron Manufacturing maintains credit facilities with various banks for both short- and long-term borrowings. Textron Manufacturing has
primary revolving credit facilities of $1.5 billion, of which $1 billion will expire in 2007 and $500 million will expire in March 2004. The $500
million facility includes a one-year term out option that can effectively extend its expiration into 2005. In 2003, Textron Manufacturing amended
its credit facilities to permit Textron Finance to borrow under the facilities. At January 3, 2004, and December 28, 2002, none of the lines of
credit were used or reserved as support for commercial paper. The weighted average interest rates for these facilities in 2003, 2002 and 2001
were 1.3%, 2.5% and 4.3%, respectively.
January 3,
2004

(In millions)

*

December 28,
2002

Textron Finance:
Borrowings under or supported by credit facilities*
6.36% average-rate debt; due 2004 to 2009
2.29% average-rate variable notes; due 2004 to 2007

$ 520
2,831
1,056

$ 917
2,586
1,337

Total Textron Finance debt

$4,407

$4,840

The weighted average interest rates on these borrowings, before the effect of interest rate exchange agreements, were 1.3%, 1.7% and
2.4% at year-end 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Weighted average interest rates during the years 2003, 2002 and 2001 were 1.5%,
2.1% and 4.1%, respectively.

Textron Finance has bank lines of credit of $1.5 billion, of which $500 million expires in 2004 and $1 billion expires in 2008. Of these lines,
$966 million was not used or reserved as support for commercial paper or bank borrowings. The $500 million facility includes a one-year term
out option that can effectively extend its expiration into 2005. Lending agreements limit Textron Finance’s net assets available for dividends and
other payments to Textron Manufacturing to approximately $480 million of Textron Finance’s net assets of $1,009 million at the end of 2003.
These lending agreements also contain various restrictive provisions regarding additional debt, minimum net worth, creation of liens and the
maintenance of a fixed charges coverage ratio.
The following table shows required payments during the next five years on debt outstanding at the end of 2003. The payment schedule excludes
amounts that are payable under or supported by long-term credit facilities.
(In millions)

Textron Manufacturing
Textron Finance

2004

$ 316
1,181

2005

$391
581

2006

$

7
809

2007

2008

$ 36
819

$344
—

$1,497

52

$972

$816

$855

$344

Textron Manufacturing has agreed to cause Textron Finance to maintain certain minimum levels of financial performance. No payments from
Textron Manufacturing were necessary in 2003, 2002 or 2001 for Textron Finance to meet these standards.
Cash paid for interest by Textron Manufacturing totaled $117 million, $125 million and $156 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and
included $5 million, $8 million and $16 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, paid to Textron Finance. Cash paid for interest by Textron
Finance totaled $182 million, $196 million and $282 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Note 9 Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments
Textron adopted SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as of December 31, 2000. Upon adoption, a
cumulative transition adjustment was recorded to increase accumulated OCL by approximately $15 million, net of income taxes, to recognize the
fair value of cash flow hedges.
Fair Value Interest Rate Hedges
Textron Manufacturing’s policy is to manage interest cost using a mix of fixed- and variable-rate debt. To manage this mix in a cost efficient
manner, Textron Manufacturing will enter into interest rate swaps to agree to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. Since the critical terms of the debt and the interest
rate swap match and the other conditions of SFAS No. 133 are met, the hedge is considered perfectly effective. The mark-to-market values of
both the fair value hedge instruments and underlying debt obligations are recorded as equal and offsetting unrealized gains and losses in interest
expense. In 2001 and in November 2002, Textron Manufacturing terminated all outstanding interest rate swaps and recognized a gain of
$15 million in each year. Hedge accounting was discontinued at the date of the swap termination. The fair value adjustment on the debt related to
the discontinued hedge is being amortized into income over the remaining life of the debt. Textron Manufacturing entered into new swap
agreements in November 2002 and in March 2003 and had interest rate swaps with a fair value liability of $1 million at January 3, 2004.
Textron Finance enters into interest rate swap agreements in order to mitigate exposure to changes in the fair value of its fixed-rate portfolios of
receivables and debt due to changes in interest rates. These agreements convert the fixed-rate cash flows to floating rates. At January 3, 2004,
Textron Finance had interest swap agreements with a fair value of $2 million designated as fair value hedges, compared with a fair value of
$42 million at December 28, 2002.
Textron Finance utilizes foreign currency interest rate exchange agreements to hedge its exposure, in a Canadian dollar functional currency
subsidiary, to changes in the fair value of $60 million U.S. dollar denominated fixed-rate debt at the end of 2003 ($33 million at year-end 2002)
as a result of changes in both foreign currency exchange rates and Canadian Banker’s Acceptance rates. At January 3, 2004, these instruments
had a fair value liability of $1 million, compared with a fair value asset of $1 million at December 28, 2002. Textron Finance’s fair value hedges
are highly effective, resulting in an immaterial net impact to earnings due to hedge ineffectiveness.
Cash Flow Interest Rate Hedges
Textron Finance enters into interest rate swap, cap and floor agreements to mitigate its exposure to variability in the cash flows received from its
investments in interest-only securities resulting from securitizations, which is caused by fluctuations in interest rates. The combination of these
instruments convert net residual floating-rate cash flows expected to be received by Textron Finance as a result of the securitization trust’s
assets, liabilities and derivative instruments to fixed-rate cash flows. Changes in the fair value of these instruments are recorded net of the tax
effect in other comprehensive income (loss) (OCL). At January 3, 2004, these instruments had a fair value liability of $14 million, compared
with a fair value of $37 million at December 28, 2002. Textron Finance expects approximately $2 million of net tax deferred losses to be
reclassified to earnings related to these hedge relationships in fiscal 2004.
Textron Finance utilizes foreign currency interest rate exchange agreements to hedge the exposure through March 2005, in a Canadian dollar
functional currency subsidiary, to fluctuations in the cash flows to be received on $107 million of LIBOR based variable rate notes receivable as
a result of changes in both foreign currency exchange rates and LIBOR. At January 3, 2004, these instruments had a fair value of $26 million,
compared with a fair value of $3 million at December 28, 2002. Textron Finance expects approximately $3 million of net of tax deferred gains to
be reclassified to earnings related to these hedge relationships in fiscal 2004.
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At January 3, 2004, Textron Finance had $8 million of net of tax deferred losses recorded in OCL related to terminated forward starting interest
rate exchange agreements. These agreements were executed to hedge the exposure to the variability in cash flows from anticipated future
issuances of fixed-rate debt and were terminated upon issuance of the debt. Textron Finance is amortizing the deferred losses into interest
expense over the remaining life of the hedged debt of 50 months and expects approximately $2 million, net of income taxes, deferred losses to be
reclassified to earnings in fiscal 2004.
For cash flow hedges, Textron Finance recorded an after-tax gain of $11 million in 2003, and an after-tax loss of $4 million in 2002 and
$11 million in 2001 to accumulated OCL with no impact to the statement of operations. Assuming no changes in interest rates, Textron Finance
expects $1 million of net deferred losses to be reclassified to earnings over the next year to offset interest payments made or received. Textron
Finance has not incurred or recognized any gains or losses in earnings as the result of the ineffectiveness or the exclusion from its assessment of
hedge effectiveness of its cash flow hedges.
Textron had minimal exposure to loss from nonperformance by the counterparties to its interest rate swaps at the end of 2003, and does not
anticipate nonperformance by counterparties in the periodic settlements of amounts due. Textron currently minimizes this potential for risk by
entering into contracts exclusively with major, financially sound counterparties having no less than a long-term bond rating of “A,” by
continuously monitoring such credit ratings and by limiting exposure to any one financial institution. The credit risk generally is limited to the
amount by which the counterparties’ contractual obligations exceed Textron’s obligations to the counterparty.
Currency Rate Hedging
Textron manufactures and sells its products in a number of countries throughout the world and, as a result, is exposed to movements in foreign
currency exchange rates. The primary purpose of Textron’s foreign currency hedging activities is to manage the volatility associated with foreign
currency purchases of materials, foreign currency sales of its products, and other assets and liabilities created in the normal course of business.
Textron primarily utilizes forward exchange contracts and purchased options with maturities of no more than 18 months that qualify as cash flow
hedges. These are intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on forecasted sales, inventory purchases and overhead expenses. The
fair value of these instruments at January 3, 2004 was a $20 million asset. At year-end 2003, $14 million of after-tax gain was reported in
accumulated OCL from qualifying cash flow hedges. This loss is generally expected to be reclassified to earnings in the next 12 months as the
underlying transactions occur. Textron Manufacturing also enters into certain foreign currency derivative instruments that do not meet hedge
accounting criteria, and are primarily intended to protect against exposure related to intercompany financing transactions and income from
international operations. The fair value of these instruments at year-end 2003 and the net impact of the related gains and losses on selling and
administrative expense in 2003 was not material.
Net Investment Hedging
Textron hedges its net investment position in major currencies and generates foreign currency interest payments that offset other transactional
exposures in these currencies. To accomplish this, Textron borrows directly in foreign currency and designates a portion of foreign currency debt
as a hedge of net investments. In addition, certain currency forwards are designated as hedges of Textron’s related foreign net investments.
Currency effects of these hedges, which are reflected in the cumulative translation adjustment account within OCL, produced a $27 million aftertax gain during 2003, leaving an accumulated net loss balance of $19 million.
Stock-Based Compensation Hedging
Textron manages the expense related to stock-based compensation awards using cash settlement forward contracts on its common stock. The use
of these forward contracts modifies compensation expense exposure to changes in the stock price with the intent to reduce potential variability.
The fair value of these instruments at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002 was a $25 million receivable and $3 million payable, respectively.
Gains and losses on these instruments are recorded as an adjustment to compensation expense when the award is charged to expense. These
contracts generated income of $32 million in 2003 and expense of $4 million and $22 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of Textron’s financial instruments that are not reflected in the financial statements at fair value
as a matter of accounting policy are as follows:
January 3, 2004

(In millions)

Textron Manufacturing:
Debt
Textron Finance:
Finance receivables
Debt

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair
Value

December 28, 2002

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair
Value

$(2,027)

$(2,177)

$(1,708)

$(1,836)

4,313
(4,407)

4,274
(4,552)

4,729
(4,840)

4,708
(4,935)

Finance receivables exclude the fair value of finance and leveraged leases totaling $822 million at January 3, 2004 and $805 million at
December 28, 2002, as these leases are recorded at fair value in the balance sheet.
Note 10 Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Securities
Prior to Textron Finance’s acquisition of Litchfield Financial Corporation (Litchfield) in 1999, a trust, sponsored and wholly owned by
Litchfield, issued to the public $26 million of mandatorily redeemable preferred securities. The trust subsequently invested the proceeds in
$26 million aggregate principal amount of Litchfield 10% Series A Junior Subordinated Debentures, due 2029. The debentures are the sole asset
of the trust. The preferred securities were recorded by Textron Finance at the fair value of $29 million as of the acquisition date and the fair
value adjustment is being amortized through 2004. The amounts due to the trust under the debentures and the related income statement amounts
have been eliminated in Textron’s consolidated financial statements. The preferred securities accrue and pay cash distributions quarterly at a rate
of 10% per annum.
The trust’s obligation under the preferred securities is fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Litchfield. The trust will redeem all of the
outstanding preferred securities when the debentures are paid at maturity on June 30, 2029, or otherwise become due. Litchfield has the right to
redeem 100% of the principal plus accrued and unpaid interest on or after June 30, 2004. As a result of its acquisition of Litchfield, Textron
Finance has agreed to make payments to the holders of the preferred securities, when due, to the extent not paid by or on behalf of the trust or
subsidiary.
In July 2003, Textron redeemed its 7.92% Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2045. The debentures were held by Textron’s
wholly owned trust, and the proceeds from their redemption were used to redeem all of the $500 million Textron Capital I trust preferred
securities with a 7.92% dividend yield. Upon the redemption, $15 million in unamortized issuance costs were written off and recorded in Special
Charges.
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and
Equity,” that became effective for Textron at the beginning of the third quarter of 2003. SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer
classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. Financial instruments within its scope that were
previously classified as equity, such as mandatorily redeemable shares, must be classified as a liability. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 150 in July
2003, Textron Finance classified its obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities as a liability. In addition, Textron and Textron
Finance began to prospectively classify the distributions on trust preferred securities as interest expense. Subsequent to adoption, in November
2003, the FASB issued FSP 150-3 which indefinitely deferred SFAS No. 150 for these obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities.
See Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements in Note 1 for more details.
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Note 11 Shareholders’ Equity
Capital Stock
Textron has authorization for 15,000,000 shares of preferred stock and 500,000,000 shares of 12.5 cent per share par value common stock. Each
share of $2.08 Preferred Stock ($23.63 approximate stated value) is convertible into 4.4 shares of common stock and can be redeemed by
Textron for $50 per share. Each share of $1.40 Preferred Dividend Stock ($11.82 approximate stated value) is convertible into 3.6 shares of
common stock and can be redeemed by Textron for $45 per share.
Performance Share Units and Stock Options
Textron’s 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”) authorizes awards to key employees of Textron in three forms: (a) options to
purchase Textron shares; (b) performance share units and (c) restricted stock. In 2003, Textron’s shareholders approved an amendment to the
1999 Plan to revise the maximum number of share awards authorized as follows: (a) 14,000,000 options to purchase Textron shares;
(b) 2,000,000 performance units and (c) 2,000,000 shares of restricted stock.
Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share has been determined using the fair value method. For the purpose of
developing the pro forma information, the fair values of options granted after 1995 are estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. The estimated fair values are amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period. Using this methodology, net income
would have been reduced by $15 million or $0.11 per diluted share in 2003, $31 million or $0.22 per diluted share in 2002, and $26 million or
$0.18 per diluted share in 2001.
The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of an option granted in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, are approximately as follows:
dividend yield of 3%, 3% and 3%; expected volatility of 38%, 36% and 34%; risk-free interest rates of 3%, 4% and 4%; and weighted average
expected lives of 3.6 years, 3.7 years and 3.5 years. Under these assumptions, the weighted average fair value of an option to purchase one share
granted in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately $10, $10 and $11, respectively.
At the end of 2003, 2,491,739 stock options were available for future grant under the 1999 Plan as amended. Stock option activity is summarized
as follows:
2003
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Canceled

2002

Price

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares

14,140
1,905
(1,797)
(1,090)

49.62
39.67
39.59
53.29

Outstanding at end of year

13,158

Exercisable at end of year

9,115

(Shares in thousands)

2001

Price

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares

Price

10,976
5,135
(696)
(1,275)

$53.50
41.29
34.25
57.89

12,631
315
(884)
(1,086)

$52.32
50.93
30.20
58.01

49.24

14,140

$49.62

10,976

$53.50

53.02

9,043

$54.08

8,653

$55.33

Stock options outstanding at the end of 2003 are summarized as follows (shares in thousands):

Range of Exercise Prices

$24 - $41
$42 - $64
$65 - $94

Outstanding

6,067
4,642
2,449

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in Years)

7.71
6.12
5.45

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$39.44
$48.74
$74.01

Exercisable

2,405
4,261
2,449

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$38.60
$49.09
$74.01

Reserved Shares of Common Stock
At the end of 2003, common stock reserved for the subsequent conversion of preferred stock and shares reserved for the exercise of stock
options were 2,740,000 and 13,158,000, respectively.
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Preferred Stock Purchase Rights
Each outstanding share of Textron common stock has attached to it one-half of a preferred stock purchase right. One preferred stock purchase
right entitles the holder to buy one one-hundredth of a share of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $250. The
rights become exercisable only under certain circumstances related to a person or group acquiring or offering to acquire a substantial block of
Textron’s common stock. In certain circumstances, holders may acquire Textron stock, or in some cases the stock of an acquiring entity, with a
value equal to twice the exercise price. The rights expire in September 2005 but may be redeemed earlier for $.05 per right.
Income per Common Share
A reconciliation of income from continuing operations and basic to diluted share amounts is presented below.
2003
(Dollars in millions,
shares in thousands)

Income from continuing operations
Less: Preferred stock dividends
Basic
Available to common shareholders
Dilutive effect of convertible preferred stock and stock
options
Diluted
Available to common shareholders and assumed
conversions

Income

Average
Shares

$281
—

2002

Income

Average
Shares

$367
—

2001

Income

Average
Shares

$474
(1)

281

135,875

367

138,745

473

141,050

—

1,342

—

1,507

1

1,887

$281

137,217

$367

140,252

$474

142,937

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (OCL)

(In millions)

Balance at December 30, 2000
Transition adjustment due to change in accounting, net of taxes
Change, net of income taxes
Automotive Trim disposal, net of income taxes
Net unrealized losses*
Reclassification adjustment*

Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Unrealized
Gains
(Losses)
on Securities

$(170)
—
(31)
11
—
—

$—
—
1
—
(6)
6

Balance at December 29, 2001
Change, net of income taxes
Net unrealized losses*
Reclassification adjustment*

(190)
78
—
—

Balance at December 28, 2002
Change, net of income taxes

(112)
159

Balance at January 3, 2004

$ 47

Pension
Liability
Adjustment

$

Deferred
Gains
(Losses)
on Hedge
Contracts

Total

(2)
—
—
—
—
—

$—
(15)
(17)
—
—
—

$(172)
(15)
(47)
11
(6)
6

1
2
(25)
25

(2)
(95)
—
—

(32)
13
—
—

(223)
(2)
(25)
25

3
—

(97)
(35)

(19)
37

(225)
161

$ 3

$(132)

$ 18

$ (64)

* Net of income tax benefit of $13 in 2002 and $3 in 2001.
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Note 12 Pension Benefits and Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
Textron has defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans that together cover substantially all employees. The costs of the defined
contribution plans amounted to approximately $22 million in 2003, $44 million in 2002 and $48 million in 2001. Defined benefits under salaried
plans are based on salary and years of service. Hourly plans generally provide benefits based on stated amounts for each year of service.
Textron’s funding policy is consistent with federal law and regulations. Textron offers health care and life insurance benefits for certain retired
employees.
Obligations and Funded Status
The following summarizes the change in the benefit obligation; the change in plan assets; the funded status; and reconciliation to the amounts
recognized in the balance sheets for the pension and postretirement benefit plans.
Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

Pension Benefits
(In millions)

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Amendments
Plan participants’ contributions
Actuarial losses
Benefits paid
Foreign exchange rate changes
Curtailments
Benefit obligation at end of year
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Plan participants’ contributions
Benefits paid
Foreign exchange rate changes
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Funded status of plan
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain)
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit)
Unrecognized transition net asset

2003

2002

2003

2002

$4,342
105
283
33
4
277
(297)
68
(2)

$3,908
99
278
12
4
262
(273)
51
1

$ 675
7
41
(41)
6
68
(76)
1
—

$ 632
4
45
1
5
51
(69)
1
5

$4,813

$4,342

$ 681

$ 675

$4,008
790
29
4
(297)
49

$4,480
(275)
23
4
(273)
49

—
—
—
—
—
—

$ —
—
—
—
—
—

$4,583

$4,008

$ —

$ —

$ (334)
892
151
(4)

$(681)
137
(46)
—

$(675)
77
(13)
—

$ 705

$(590)

$(611)

(230)
839
163
2

Net amount recognized in the balance sheet

$ 774

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
Pension Benefits

(In millions)

January 3,
2004

December 28,
2002

Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions
January 3,
2004

December 28,
2002

Prepaid benefit cost asset
Accrued benefit liability
Intangible assets
Accumulated OCL

$ 892
(312)
4
190

$ 820
(270)
5
150

$ —
(590)
—
—

$ —
(611)
—
—

Net amount recognized

$ 774

$ 705

$(590)

$(611)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $4,430 million and $3,989 million at January 3, 2004 and
December 28, 2002, respectively.
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The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with an accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets were $798 million, $716 million and $417 million, respectively, as of January 3, 2004 and $714 million,
$618 million and $365 million, respectively, as of December 28, 2002.
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

Pension Benefits
(In millions)

2003

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of unrecognized transition
asset
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of net (gain) loss
Curtailments

$ 105
283
(432)

$ 99
278
(454)

$ 109
282
(454)

$ 7
41
—

$ 4
45
—

$ 6
49
—

(6)
16
2
—

(17)
15
(16)
(6)

(17)
20
(30)
(6)

Net periodic benefit costs

$ (32)

$(101)

$ (96)

$44

$49

$42

Additional information:
Increase in minimum liability included in
OCL

$ 40

$ 150

$ —

$—

$—

$—

—
(8)
4
—

—
(4)
3
1

—
(6)
(2)
(5)

Assumptions:
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at year end:
Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

Pension Benefits

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

2003

2002

2003

2002

6.25%
4.20%

6.75%
4.20%

6.25%
—

6.75%
—

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net benefit cost:
Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions

Pension Benefits
(In millions)

2003

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets
Rate of compensation increase

6.75%

7.25%

7.50%

6.75%

7.25%

7.50%

8.90%
4.20%

9.25%
4.50%

9.25%
4.80%

—
—

—
—

—
—

For measurement purposes, Textron assumed an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 10% for covered healthcare benefits in 2004. The rate was
assumed to decrease gradually to 5% in 2009 and remain at that level thereafter. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on
the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects:
One-Percentage- One-PercentagePoint
Point
Increase
Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components
Effect on postretirement benefit obligations other than pensions

$

5
49

$ (3)
$ (43)
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The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 was enacted in December 2003 and allows for a two-year
transitional period. The Act provides for discounts on prescription drug costs through the Medicare Program to eligible retirees (Medicare Part
D) as well as a subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare
Part D benefit. The potential impact of the Act has not been included in Textron’s estimate of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation
or the net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2003. Textron will evaluate the impact of the Act, including assessing potential amendments to
Textron’s Retirement Plan, in 2004.
Plan Assets
Textron’s percentages of the fair value of total pension plan assets by major category are as follows:
Percentage of Plan Assets at

Asset Category

January 3,
2004

Equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
Other
Total

December 28,
2002

61%
24%
7%
8%

52%
31%
9%
8%

100%

100%

Investment Strategy
Textron’s pension assets are invested with the objective of achieving a total rate of return over the long term, sufficient to fund future pension
obligations and to minimize future pension contributions. Textron is willing to tolerate a commensurate level of risk to achieve this objective
based on the funded status of the plans and the long-term nature of Textron’s pension liability. Risk is controlled by maintaining a portfolio of
assets that is diversified across a variety of asset classes, investment styles and investment managers. All of the assets are managed by external
investment managers, and the majority of the assets are actively managed. Where possible, investment managers are prohibited from owning
Textron stock in the portfolios that they manage on behalf of Textron.
Asset allocation target ranges were established consistent with the investment objectives, and the assets are rebalanced periodically. The
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was determined based on a variety of considerations, including the established asset allocation
targets and expectations for those asset classes, historical returns of the plans’ assets and the advice of outside advisors. For 2004, the target
allocation range is 47% to 67% for equity securities, 18% to 28% for debt securities and 7% to 13% each for real estate and other assets.
Future Cash Flow Impact
Contributions
In 2004, Textron expects to contribute in the range of $20 to $25 million to its pension plans and does not expect to contribute to its other
postretirement benefit plans.
Estimated Future Benefits
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future employee service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid. The benefit payments
are based on the same assumptions used to measure Textron’s benefit obligation at the end of fiscal 2003.

Pension
Benefits

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009 - 2013
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$ 276
281
285
291
298
1,639

Postretirement
Benefits
Other Than
Pensions

$ 59
59
59
59
59
271

Note 13 Income Taxes
Textron files a consolidated federal income tax return for all U.S. subsidiaries and separate returns for foreign subsidiaries. Income from
continuing operations before income taxes and distributions on preferred securities of subsidiary trusts is as follows:
(In millions)

2003

2002

2001

United States
Foreign

$240
161

$469
97

$816
(32)

Total

$401

$566

$784

Income tax expense for continuing operations is summarized as follows:
(In millions)

2003

2002

2001

Federal:
Current
Deferred
State
Foreign

$ 34
9
15
49

$ 53
80
15
25

$152
90
25
17

Income tax expense

$107

$173

$284

The following reconciles the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate reflected in the consolidated statements of
operations:
2003

2002

2001

Federal statutory income tax rate
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
State income taxes
Goodwill
Permanent items from Trim divestiture
Favorable tax settlements
ESOP dividends
Foreign tax rate differential
Export sales benefit
Other, net

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

2.4
—
—
(3.2)
(2.3)
(1.6)
(1.4)
(2.2)

1.8
—
1.3
(2.2)
(3.2)
(0.2)
(1.5)
(0.4)

1.4
2.9
1.4
—
—
(0.5)
(1.5)
(2.5)

Effective income tax rate

26.7%

30.6%

36.2%

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of Textron’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
(In millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Warranty and product maintenance reserves
Self-insured liabilities, including environmental
Deferred compensation
Obligation for postretirement benefits
Investment securities
Allowance for credit losses
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles
Non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards
Other, principally timing of other expense deductions
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

January 3,
2004

$ 110
91
156
31
20
77
47
53
54
639
(75)
$ 564

December 28,
2002

$ 102
91
139
57
24
50
55
45
66
629
(69)
$ 560

Deferred tax liabilities:
Textron Finance transactions, principally leasing
Property, plant and equipment, principally depreciation
Inventory
Currency translation adjustment
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax asset (liability)

$(412)
(111)
(24)
(6)

$(390)
(126)
(38)
(21)

(553)

(575)

$ 11

$ (15)
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At January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002, Textron had non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of $166 million and
$135 million, respectively, of which $140 million and $58 million, respectively, can be carried forward indefinitely. The balance expires at
various dates through 2013. A valuation allowance at January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002, of $53 million and $45 million, respectively, has
been recognized to offset the related deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of realizing the benefits of the loss carryforwards.
Deferred income taxes have not been provided for the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which approximated $865 million at the end
of 2003. Management intends to reinvest those earnings for an indefinite period, except for distributions having an immaterial tax effect. If
foreign subsidiaries’ earnings were distributed, 2003 taxes, net of foreign tax credits, would be increased by approximately $155 million.
Cash payments for taxes, net of tax refunds received, for Textron Manufacturing totaled $(158) million in 2003, $42 million in 2002 and
$122 million in 2001. Cash payments for taxes, net of tax refunds, for Textron Finance totaled $(6) million in 2003, $(31) million in 2002 and
$16 million in 2001.
Note 14 Special Charges
Textron recorded special charges of $159 million in 2003, $135 million in 2002 and $143 million in 2001. These charges are summarized below
for the applicable segments:
Restructuring Expense

(In millions)

2003
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate

2002
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate

2001
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate

Other
Total
Severance Contract
Fixed Asset Associated
Other
Special
Costs Terminations Impairments
Costs
Total Charges Charges

$ 2
8
34
20
4
3

$ —
—
—
2
—
—

$ —
1
34
12
2
—

$—
—
7
15
—
—

$

2
9
75
49
6
3

$—
—
—
—
—
15

$

2
9
75
49
6
18

$ 71

$ 2

$ 49

$ 22

$144

$15

$159

$ 4
23
12
15
—
1

$ —
—
2
2
—
—

$ 1
2
4
9
—
—

$ 1
4
4
13
—
—

$

6
29
22
39
—
1

$—
—
—
—
—
38

$

$ 55

$ 4

$ 16

$ 22

$ 97

$38

$135

$ 9
—
22
28
2
7

$ —
—
2
1
1
—

$ —
—
18
10
—
—

$ 12
—
8
12
—
—

$ 21
—
50
51
3
7

$—
—
2
—
—
9

$ 21
—
52
51
3
16

$ 68

$ 4

$ 28

$ 32

$132

$11

$143

6
29
22
39
—
39

To improve returns at core businesses and to complete the integration of certain acquisitions, Textron approved and committed to a restructuring
program in the fourth quarter of 2000 based upon targeted cost reductions. This program was expanded in 2001, and in October 2002, Textron
announced a further expansion of the program as part of its strategic effort to improve operating efficiencies, primarily in
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its industrial businesses. Textron’s restructuring program includes corporate and segment direct and indirect workforce reductions, consolidation
of facilities primarily in the United States and Europe, rationalization of certain product lines, outsourcing of non-core production activity, the
divestiture of noncore businesses, and streamlining of sales and administrative overhead. Under this restructuring program, Textron has reduced
its workforce by approximately 9,400 employees and has closed 88 facilities, including 40 manufacturing plants, primarily in the Industrial and
Fastening Systems segments. Textron expects a total reduction of about 10,000 employees, excluding approximately 700 Trim employees and
1,000 OmniQuip employees, representing approximately 18% of its global workforce since the restructuring was first announced.
As of January 3, 2004, $389 million of cost has been incurred relating to continuing operations (including $11 million related to Trim), with
$154 million in the Industrial segment, $147 million in the Fastening Systems segment, $38 million in the Cessna segment, $30 million in the
Bell segment, $9 million in the Finance segment and $11 million at Corporate. Costs incurred through January 3, 2004 include $209 million in
severance costs, $94 million in asset impairment charges, $10 million in contract termination costs and $76 million in other associated costs.
Textron estimates that approximately $127 million in additional program costs will be incurred primarily in the Fastening Systems and Industrial
segments. In total, Textron estimates that the entire program for continuing operations will be approximately $516 million (including $11 million
related to Trim) and will be substantially complete by 2004. This estimate includes amounts for projects that have not been formally approved
and initiated as of January 3, 2004. For projects that have been formally approved and initiated as of January 3, 2004, Textron expects to incur
approximately $42 million in additional severance costs, $15 million in other associated costs and $4 million in contract termination costs. In
addition, management anticipates that certain long-lived assets may become impaired as plans are formalized and approved for specific
restructuring projects. Once a plan is approved, the long-lived assets affected by the plan are evaluated to determine if the held for sale criteria
established by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” have been met. If all the criteria have been
met, the assets are measured at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. If the criteria have not been met, the estimated
remaining undiscounted cash flows for the assets are compared with the carrying amount and, if less, an impairment charge is taken based on the
excess of the carrying amount over the respective fair value at that time.
Textron adopted SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” as of the beginning of fiscal 2003 for
projects initiated after December 28, 2002. Previously, certain costs related to restructuring that were not accruable under the prior standard were
recorded in segment profit as incurred. With the adoption of this Statement, all restructuring and related costs for which this Statement applies
have been aggregated and recorded in special charges. Prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to this presentation.
An analysis of the restructuring program and related reserve account is summarized below:
Severance
Costs

Contract
Terminations

Other
Associated
Costs

Asset
Impairments

Total

Balance at December 30, 2000
Additions
Reserves deemed unnecessary
Non-cash utilization
Cash paid

$ 14
70
(2)
(4)
(50)

$ 1
4
—
—
(2)

$—
32
—
—
(32)

$—
28
—
(28)
—

$ 15
134
(2)
(32)
(84)

Balance at December 29, 2001

$ 28

$ 3

$—

$—

$ 31

(In millions)

Additions
Reserves deemed unnecessary
Non-cash utilization
Cash paid

61
(6)
—
(61)

5
(1)
—
(4)

22
—
—
(22)

16
—
(16)
—

104
(7)
(16)
(87)

Balance at December 28, 2002

$ 22

$ 3

$—

$—

$ 25

Additions
Reserves deemed unnecessary
Non-cash utilization
Cash paid

$ 72
(1)
—
(61)

$ 2
—
—
(2)

$ 22
—
—
(22)

$ 49
—
(49)
—

$145
(1)
(49)
(85)

Balance at January 3, 2004

$ 32

$ 3

$—

$—

$ 35
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Severance costs are generally paid on a monthly basis over the severance period granted to each employee or on a lump sum basis when
required. Severance costs include outplacement costs, which are paid in accordance with normal payment terms. Contract termination costs are
generally paid upon exiting the facility or over the remaining lease term. Other associated costs primarily include outsourcing certain operations,
plant rearrangement, machinery and equipment relocation, and employee replacement and relocation costs, which are paid in accordance with
normal payment terms.
The specific restructuring measures and associated estimated costs are based on Textron’s best judgment under prevailing circumstances.
Textron believes that the restructuring reserve balance of $35 million is adequate to cover the costs presently accruable relating to activities
formally identified and committed to under approved plans as of January 3, 2004, and anticipates that all actions related to these liabilities will
be completed within a twelve-month period.
Other Charges
In July 2003, Textron redeemed its 7.92% Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due 2045. The debentures were held by Textron’s
wholly owned trust, and the proceeds from their redemption were used to redeem all of the $500 million Textron Capital I trust preferred
securities. Upon the redemption, $15 million in unamortized issuance costs were written off and recorded in special charges.
During the second half of 2002, the C&A common stock owned by Textron experienced a decline in market value. Textron acquired this stock as
a result of the disposition of the Trim business. In December 2002, Moody’s lowered its liquidity rating of C&A. Due to this indicator and the
extended length of time and extent to which the market value of the stock was less than the carrying value, Textron determined that the decline
in the market value of the stock was other than temporary and wrote down its investment in the stock. The write-down resulted in a pre-tax loss
of $38 million, which is included in special charges. Textron sold its remaining investment in C&A common stock for cash proceeds of
$34 million and a pre-tax gain of $12 million in the first quarter of 2004.
During 2001, Textron recorded a $6 million impairment charge related to its e-business securities, and subsequently realized a $3 million net loss
on the sale of its remaining e-business securities. These charges are included in special charges on the consolidated statement of operations.
Textron had no remaining investments in e-business securities as of January 3, 2004 and December 28, 2002.
Note 15 Commitments and Contingencies
Textron is subject to legal proceedings and other claims arising out of the conduct of Textron’s business, including proceedings and claims
relating to private sector transactions; government contracts; production partners; product liability; employment; and environmental, safety, and
health matters. Some of these legal proceedings and claims seek damages, fines, or penalties in substantial amounts or remediation of
environmental contamination. Under federal government procurement regulations, certain claims brought by the U.S. Government could result
in Textron’s suspension or debarment from U.S. Government contracting for a period of time. On the basis of information presently available,
Textron believes that these proceedings and claims will not have a material effect on Textron’s financial position or results of operations.
During 2002, the Lycoming aircraft engine business, in conjunction with the Federal Aviation Administration, recalled approximately 950
turbocharged airplane engines and mandated the inspection of another 736 engines to replace potentially faulty crankshafts manufactured by a
third-party supplier. Lycoming initiated a comprehensive customer care program to replace the defective crankshafts, make any necessary related
repairs and compensate its customers for the loss of use of their aircraft during the recall. This program is substantially complete. It is possible,
however, that additional engines outside of the current recall could potentially be affected. Accordingly, Textron has continued to monitor the
performance of the crankshafts previously supplied by the third party to ensure that the current recall, inspection, repair and customer care
program adequately covers all engines with potentially faulty crankshafts. Lycoming’s program for the inspection and replacement of potentially
defective zinc-plated bolts manufactured by a third-party supplier for use in certain aircraft engines is substantially complete. Management
believes that Textron’s reserves are adequate based on the estimated remaining costs of these programs. Actual costs could vary depending upon
the actual experience of the programs, recoveries received from third parties or expansion of the existing programs.
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On a periodic basis, Bell Helicopter’s overhead cost rates are audited by the Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA). In 1998, Bell received a
payment of $100 million from its joint venture partner, the Agusta Division of Finmeccanica S.p.A., now AgustaWestland NV (Agusta), as
consideration for Agusta’s access to Bell’s worldwide marketing and distribution network for the Agusta 139 model and for the opportunity to
participate with Bell in the BA609 project. Bell notified the government of the payment and the basis on which it was made in a timely manner.
In November 2001, a DCAA audit report recommended that the payment from Agusta should be credited against Bell’s overhead costs,
retroactive to 1998. At the request of the cognizant contracting officer at the Defense Contract Management Agency (DCMA), Bell responded to
the audit report. The DCMA contracting officer took the issue under advisement. On April 17, 2003, the DCMA sent Bell an “initial finding”
letter requesting Bell to respond to the finding. Bell responded to this letter in August 2003. The initial finding indicates the contracting officer’s
preliminary agreement with the audit report and begins a contractual process that could potentially lead to a government claim against the
company if the contracting officer makes a final decision in agreement with the audit report. Management believes that it has no obligation to
credit any portion of the $100 million payment to Bell’s overhead pools and intends to contest the initial finding, as well as any claim that may
be asserted by the government.
At January 3, 2004, Textron Finance had unused commitments to fund new and existing customers under $1.1 billion of committed revolving
lines of credit. Generally, interest rates on these commitments are not set until the loans are funded so Textron Finance is not exposed to interest
rate changes.
Guarantees
Textron has a joint venture with TAG Aviation USA, Inc. to sell fractional share interests in small business jets. During 2003, 2002 and 2001,
Textron recorded revenue of $65 million, $64 million and $38 million, respectively, for the sale of aircraft to this venture through arm’s length
transactions. Profit on these sales is initially deferred, then recognized on a pro-rata basis as fractional share interests are sold to third parties.
Textron and TAG Aviation USA, Inc. have both guaranteed one-half of the venture’s debt and lease obligations up to a maximum of
$70 million. At January 3, 2004, Textron’s portion of the outstanding debt and operating lease commitments covered by this guarantee totaled
$33 million. Textron would be required to make payments under these guarantees if the joint venture defaults under the related debt agreements.
While Textron has several other joint venture agreements that have external financing arrangements, Textron has only guaranteed approximately
$23 million in debt obligations related to these ventures. Textron would be required to make payments under these guarantees if a joint venture
defaults under the debt agreements.
In the ordinary course of business, Textron enters into letters of credit and other similar arrangements with financial institutions. The letters of
credit typically serve as a guarantee of payment or performance to certain third parties in accordance with specified terms and conditions.
Management knows of no event of default that would require Textron to satisfy these guarantees at the end of 2003.
Textron has a number of guaranteed minimum resale value contracts associated with certain past aircraft sales. These guarantees require Textron
to make possible future payments to a customer in the event that the fair value of an aircraft falls below a minimum guaranteed amount, or to
stipulate a minimum trade-in value. The agreements generally include operating restrictions such as maximum usage over the guarantee period
or minimum maintenance requirements. The amount of resale value guaranteed at January 3, 2004 was approximately $59 million. Based on the
estimated fair values of the guaranteed aircraft prevailing at January 3, 2004, Textron recorded a $3 million liability for its obligation under these
agreements. The guarantee contracts expire as follows: $36 million in 2004, $5 million in 2005, $3 million in 2006 and $15 million in 2012.
Textron Finance sells receivables in whole-loan sales where limited credit enhancement is typically provided in the form of a contingent liability
related to finance receivable credit losses and, to a lesser extent, prepayment risk. Textron Finance has a contingent liability related to the sale of
equipment lease rental streams in 2003 and 2001. The maximum liability at January 3, 2004 was $45 million, and in the event Textron Finance’s
credit rating falls below BBB, it is required to pledge a related pool of equipment residuals that amount to $103 million. Textron Finance has
valued this contingent liability based on assumptions for annual credit losses and prepayment rates of 0.25% and 7.5%, respectively.
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Leases
Rental expense approximated $110 million, $105 million and $101 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Future minimum rental
commitments for noncancelable operating leases in effect at the end of 2003 approximated $82 million for 2004; $61 million for 2005; $47
million for 2006; $25 million for 2007; $23 million for 2008; and a total of $156 million thereafter.
Environmental Remediation
Textron’s accrued estimated environmental liabilities are based upon currently available facts, existing technology and presently enacted laws
and regulations and are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties. Circumstances that can affect the reliability and precision of the accruals
include the identification of additional sites, environmental regulations, level of cleanup required, technologies available, number and financial
condition of other contributors to remediation, and the time period over which remediation may occur. Accrued liabilities relate to disposal costs,
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency oversight costs, legal fees, and operating and maintenance costs for both currently and formerly owned or
operated facilities. Textron believes that any changes to the accruals that may result from these factors and uncertainties will not have a material
effect on Textron’s financial position or results of operations. Based upon information currently available, Textron estimates potential
environmental liabilities to be in the range of $41 million to $146 million. At the end of 2003, environmental reserves of approximately
$78 million, of which $9 million are classified as current liabilities, have been established to address these specific estimated potential liabilities.
Textron estimates that its accrued environmental remediation liabilities will likely be paid over the next five to ten years.
Note 16 Supplemental Financial Information
Accrued Liabilities
Textron Manufacturing’s accrued liabilities are comprised of the following:
(In millions)

Customer deposits
Warranty and product maintenance contracts
Salaries, wages and employer taxes
Contract reserves
Other
Total accrued liabilities

January 3,
2004

December 28,
2002

$ 182
304
255
26
471

$ 193
295
233
130
473

$1,238

$1,324

Warranty and Product Maintenance Contracts
Textron provides limited warranty and product maintenance programs, including parts and labor, for certain products for periods ranging from
one to five years. Textron estimates the costs that may be incurred under warranty programs and records a liability in the amount of such costs at
the time product revenue is recognized. Factors that affect this liability include the number of products sold, historical and anticipated rates of
warranty claims and cost per claim. Textron periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty and product maintenance liabilities and
adjusts the amounts as necessary.
Changes in Textron’s warranty and product maintenance liability in 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
(In millions)

Accrual at beginning of year
Provision
Settlements
Adjustments to prior accrual estimates
Accrual at end of year

January 3,
2004

December 28,
2002

$ 295
150
(151)
10

$ 251
165
(156)
35

$ 304

$ 295

For 2002, the adjustments to prior accrual estimates include $31 million in costs for the recall, inspection and customer care program at
Lycoming described in Note 15.
Research and Development Costs

Company-funded research and development costs include amounts for company-initiated programs, the cost sharing portions of customerinitiated programs, and losses incurred on customer-initiated programs. Textron also carries out research and development under contracts with
others, primarily the U.S. Government. A significant portion of company-initiated programs includes independent research and development
related to government products and services that is recoverable through overhead cost allowances.
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Company-funded and customer-funded research and development costs are as follows:
(In millions)

2003

2002

2001

Company-funded
Customer-funded

$255
332

$204
379

$361
323

Total research and development

$587

$583

$684

Note 17 Segment Reporting
Textron has five reportable segments: Bell, Cessna, Fastening Systems, Industrial and Finance. See Note 1 regarding Textron’s reorganization of
its segments in 2003 and Textron’s principal markets, and pages 12 and 13 for products of the segments.
Textron’s reportable segments are strategically aligned based on the manner in which Textron manages its various operations. The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1. Textron evaluates segment
performance based on segment profit. Segment profit for Textron Manufacturing excludes interest expense, certain corporate expenses, special
charges, and gains and losses from the disposition of significant business units. Textron Finance includes interest income, interest expense and
distributions on preferred securities of Finance subsidiary trust, and excludes special charges as part of segment profit. To reflect the adoption of
SFAS No. 142 and the fact that Textron does not include amortization of goodwill in its internal evaluation of segment performance, Textron has
recast its segment data for comparability by reclassifying goodwill amortization out of segment profit in prior periods. Provisions for losses on
finance receivables involving the sale or lease of Textron products are recorded by the selling manufacturing division.
The following summarizes revenues by type of products:
Revenues
(In millions)

2003

Bell:
Rotor Aircraft
Other
Cessna: Fixed-Wing Aircraft
Fastening Systems
Industrial:
Fuel Systems and Functional Components
Golf and Turfcare Products
Fluid & Power
Automotive Trim
Other
Finance

2002

2001

$1,755
593
2,299
1,737

$ 1,636
599
3,175
1,650

$ 1,621
622
3,043
1,679

1,454
665
446
—
338
572

1,226
756
383
—
341
584

1,074
761
409
1,579
507
681

$9,859

$10,350

$11,976

Revenues
(In millions)

Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance

2003

2002

Segment Profit
2001

2003

2002

2001

$2,348
2,299
1,737
2,903
572

$ 2,235
3,175
1,650
2,706
584

$ 2,243
3,043
1,679
4,330
681

$ 234
199
66
141
122

$ 169
376
72
163
118

$ 93
344
70
280
203

$9,859

$10,350

$11,976

762

898

990

Special charges

(159)

(135)

(143)

Segment operating income
Gain on sale of businesses
Goodwill amortization
Corporate expenses and other, net
Interest expense, net

603
15
—
(119)
(98)

763
25
—
(114)
(108)

847
342
(91)
(152)
(162)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes
and distributions on preferred securities

$ 401

$ 566

$ 784

67

Property, Plant and
Equipment Expenditures*

Assets
(In millions)

2003

Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate
Discontinued operations

*

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

$ 1,480
1,565
1,464
2,532
6,333
1,716
—

$ 1,477
1,746
1,451
2,369
6,383
1,580
508

$ 1,483
1,717
1,541
2,671
6,084
1,938
687

$ 50
99
34
109
17
18

$ 29
92
43
123
17
14

$ 73
111
61
260
17
5

$15,090

$15,514

$16,121

$327

$318

$527

Includes capital expenditures financed through capital leases.
Amortization
(In millions)

Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Corporate

Depreciation

2003

2002

2001

$ 2
—
—
9
11
(4)

$ 1
—
4
9
10
2

$

$18

$26

$105

7
10
16
54
22
(4)

2003

2002

2001

$ 52
75
76
95
34
6

$ 48
78
70
105
27
4

$ 40
88
78
162
19
4

$338

$332

$391

Geographic Data
Presented below is selected financial information by geographic area of Textron’s operations:
Property, Plant and
Equipment**

Revenues*
(In millions)

United States
Canada
Latin America and Mexico
Germany
Asia and Australia
United Kingdom
France
Other

*

**

2003

2002

2001

2003

2002

2001

$6,135
364
484
822
474
317
350
913

$ 6,844
383
526
611
398
324
260
1,004

$ 7,713
688
824
612
499
363
311
966

$1,298
74
40
231
54
96
91
88

$1,408
63
28
198
41
108
86
72

$1,454
78
45
183
12
98
80
90

$9,859

$10,350

$11,976

$1,972

$2,004

$2,040

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer.
Property, plant and equipment are based on the location of the asset.

Revenues include sales to the U.S. Government of $1.4 billion in 2003 and $1.3 billion in 2002 and $1.2 billion in 2001. Revenues also include
sales to DaimlerChrysler, primarily through the Automotive Trim business, of $1.4 billion in 2001.
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Quarterly Data
(Unaudited)

2003

(Dollars in millions except per share amounts)

Revenues
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Total revenues
Segment profit
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance

Q4

Q3

2002
Q2

Q1

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

$

675
620
457
793
154

$

521
516
404
654
136

$

616
575
447
750
142

$

536
588
429
706
140

$

625
896
412
701
171

$

526
745
411
647
146

$

593
857
431
705
136

$

491
677
396
653
131

$

2,699

$

2,231

$

2,530

$

2,399

$

2,805

$

2,475

$

2,722

$

2,348

$

69
43
17
44
52

$

69
31
10
23
24

$

56
66
21
40
23

$

40
59
18
34
23

$

67
94
20
55
50

$

33
84
21
36
20

$

45
121
21
32
28

$

24
77
10
40
20

Total segment profit
Special charges

225
(65)

157
(42)

206
(24)

174
(28)

286
(68)

194
(33)

247
(20)

171
(14)

Total segment operating income
Gain on sale of businesses
Corporate expenses and other, net
Interest expense, net
Income taxes
Distribution on preferred securities of
manufacturing subsidiary trust, net of income
taxes

160
—
(38)
(26)
(13)

115
—
(19)
(26)
(23)

182
—
(30)
(22)
(38)

146
15
(32)
(24)
(33)

218
—
(28)
(23)
(50)

161
—
(26)
(30)
(22)

227
25
(31)
(25)
(70)

157
—
(29)
(30)
(31)

—

—

(7)

(6)

(7)

(6)

(7)

(6)

83

47

85

66

110

77

119

61

—

—

(22)

—

21

(6)

(14)

(4)

83

47

63

66

131

71

105

57

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(488)

Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of income taxes*
Net income (loss)
Earnings per common share
Basic:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of income taxes
Net income (loss)

$

83

$

47

$

$

.61
—

$

.35
—

$

—
$

Average shares outstanding (in thousands)
Diluted:
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle, net of income taxes
Net income (loss)
Average shares outstanding (in thousands)

.61

—
$

136,335
$

.60
—

$

.60
138,326

.34
—

$

.34
136,828

.63 $
(.16)

.47

$

$

.62 $
(.16)

.46
136,257

$

131

$

.49 $
(.01)

.80
.15

$

.48

—
$

135,991

—
$

66

—

135,380

—
$

$

—

135,627

—
$

.35

63

.49 $
(.01)

.48
137,059

.80
.15

$

.95
138,362

.56 $
(.04)

.52

$

$

.55 $
(.04)

.51
139,145

$

(431)

.85 $
(.10)

.44
(.03)

.75

(3.48)
$

139,486

—
$

105

—

137,848

—
$

$

—

137,173

—
$

.95

71

140,403

.85 $
(.11)
—

$

.74
141,599

(3.07)

.43
(.03)
(3.44)

$

(3.04)
141,961

Segment profit margins
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Segment profit margin
Common stock information
Price range: High
Low
Dividends per share

10.2%
6.9
3.7
5.5
33.8
8.3

$
$
$

57.70
39.45
.325

13.2%
6.0
2.5
3.5
17.6
7.0

$
$
$

45.53
38.07
.325

9.1%
11.5
4.7
5.3
16.2
8.1

$
$
$

38.69
27.46
.325

7.5%
10.0
4.2
4.8
16.4
7.3

$
$
$

45.45
26.85
.325

10.7%
10.5
4.9
7.8
29.2
10.2

$
$
$

44.92
32.49
.325

6.3%
11.3
5.1
5.6
13.7
7.8

$
$
$

45.81
34.41
.325

7.6%
14.1
4.9
4.5
20.6
9.1

$
$
$

53.17
44.60
.325

4.9%
11.4
2.5
6.1
15.3
7.3

$
$
$

51.10
38.98
.325

* Represents transitional goodwill impairment charge taken in the second quarter 2002 and retroactively recorded in the first quarter 2002 as
permitted. See Note 7 to consolidated financial statements.
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Selected Financial Information
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts and where otherwise noted)

Revenues
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance
Total revenues
Segment profit
Bell
Cessna
Fastening Systems
Industrial
Finance

2003

2002

2,235
3,175
1,650
2,706
584

2001

2,243
3,043
1,679
4,330
681

2,348
2,299
1,737
2,903
572

$

$

9,859

$ 10,350

$ 11,976

$ 12,589

$ 11,714

$

234
199
66
141
122

$

$

$

$

93
344
70
280
203

$

2,194
2,814
1,996
4,894
691

1999

$

169
376
72
163
118

$

2000

264
300
192
525
202

$

2,135
2,472
2,059
4,585
463

226
231
204
472
132

Total segment profit
Special charges

762
(159)

898
(135)

990
(143)

1,483
(483)

1,265
(66)

Total segment operating income
Gain on sale of businesses
Goodwill amortization
Corporate expenses and other, net
Interest expense, net
Income taxes
Distributions on preferred securities of manufacturing subsidiary
trust, net of income taxes

603
15
—
(119)
(98)
(107)

763
25
—
(114)
(108)
(173)

847
342
(91)
(152)
(162)
(284)

1,000
—
(87)
(164)
(152)
(299)

1,199
—
(73)
(143)
(29)
(353)

(13)

(26)

(26)

(26)

(26)

Income from continuing operations*

$

281

$

367

$

474

$

272

$

575

Per share of common stock
Income from continuing operations - basic*
Income from continuing operations - diluted*
Dividends declared
Book value at year-end
Common stock price: High
Low
Year-end

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2.07
2.05
1.30
26.81
57.70
26.85
57.19

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2.64
2.62
1.30
24.87
53.17
32.49
42.16

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

3.36
3.32
1.30
27.76
59.89
31.65
42.40

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1.89
1.86
1.30
28.24
74.94
41.44
46.50

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

3.82
3.74
1.30
29.67
97.00
68.44
76.69

Common shares outstanding (in thousands):
Basic average
Diluted average**
Year-end
Financial position
Total assets
Debt:
Textron Manufacturing
Textron Finance
Obligated mandatorily redeemable preferred securities of
subsidiary trusts:
Textron Manufacturing
Textron Finance
Shareholders’ equity
Textron Manufacturing debt to total capital (net of cash)
Investment data
Capital expenditures
Depreciation
Research and development
Other data

135,875
137,217
137,238

138,745
140,252
136,500

141,050
142,937
141,251

143,923
146,150
140,933

150,389
153,754
147,002

$ 15,090

$ 15,514

$ 16,121

$ 17,280

$ 17,261

$
$

2,027
4,407

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$
$

— $
26 $
3,690 $
30%

$
$
$

327
338
587

$
$
$

1,708
4,840

485 $
27 $
3,406 $
36%

318
332
583

$
$
$

1,930
4,188

485 $
28 $
3,934 $
36%

527
391
684

$
$
$

2,080
4,667

484 $
28 $
3,994 $
36%

517
374
721

$
$
$

1,762
4,551
483
29
4,377
32%

530
347
670

Number of employees at year-end
Number of common shareholders at year-end

43,000
19,000

* Before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in 2002.
** Assumes full conversion of outstanding preferred stock and exercise of stock options.
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48,000
20,000

50,000
21,000

69,000
21,000

67,000
22,000

EXHIBIT 21
CERTAIN SUBSIDIARIES OF TEXTRON
(AS OF JANUARY 3, 2004)
Set forth below are the names of certain subsidiaries of Textron Inc. Other subsidiaries, which considered in the aggregate do not constitute a
significant subsidiary, are omitted from such list.
NAME
---TEXTRON INC.
Avco Corporation
Textron Systems Corporation
Bell Helicopter Textron Inc.
Cadillac Gage Textron Inc.
Cessna Aircraft Company
Cone Drive Operations Inc.
David Brown (Delaware) Holdings Corp.
David Brown Union Pumps Co. (95%; 5% - Textron Inc.)
Greenlee Textron Inc.
HR Textron Inc.
Energy Mfg. Co., Inc.
Kautex Inc.
McCord Corporation
Kautex of Georgia Inc.
Textron Holdco Inc.
Micromatic Inc.
MAAG Pump Systems Textron Inc.
Mapri-Textron do Brasil S.A. (99%; 1% Associacao de Assistencia Belgo Mineira)
Tempo Research Corporation
Textron Atlantic Inc.
Textron Acquisition Limited
Avdel plc/Avdel plc Inc.
Textron Fastening Systems Limited
David Brown Group plc
David Brown Engineering Ltd.
David Brown Union Pumps Ltd.
Ransomes Investment Corporation
Cushman Inc.
Ransomes plc
Ransomes Jacobsen Limited
Textron Fluid and Power Systems Holdings Limited
Textron Limited
Kautex Textron (UK) Limited
Textron International Holding, S.L.
Bell Helicopter Textron Canada Limited
Textron Capital B.V.
Textron Fastening Systems Canada Limited
Textron France Holding S.A.R.L. (99.9%; 1 share - Textron Fastening Systems site
de Clichy S.N.C.)
Textron France S.A.R.L. (99.9%; 1 share - Textron Fastening Systems site de
Clichy S.N.C.)
David Brown Guinard Pumps S.A.S.
Textron Atlantic Holding GmbH
Textron Holding GmbH
Gustav Klauke GmbH (94.9%; 5.1% - Textron Atlantic Holding GmbH)
Kautex Textron Verwaltungs GmbH (94.8%; 5.2% - Textron Atlantic Holding
GmbH)
Kautex Textron GmbH & Co. K.G. (98%; 1% - Jacobsen E-Z-GO Textron
Vermietungs und Beteiligungs GmbH; 1% - Textron Holding GmbH)
Kautex Textron Benelux B.V.B.A. (99.9%; 1 share - Kautex
Textron Iberica S.L.)
Kautex Textron Bohemia spol. s.r.o.
Kautex Corporation
Kautex Textron de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. (99.9%; 0.1% - Textron
International Holding, S.L.)
Kautex Textron Japan GmbH
Textron Verbindungstechnik Beteiligungs GmbH (94.9%; 5.1% - Textron
Atlantic Holding GmbH)
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JURISDICTION
-----------Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Kansas
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Massachusetts
Rhode Island
Delaware
North Carolina
Brazil
Delaware
Delaware
England
England/Delaware
England
England
England
England
Delaware
Delaware
England
England
England
England
England
Spain
Canada
Netherlands
Canada
France
France
France
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Belgium
Czech Republic
Nova Scotia
Mexico
Germany
Germany

EXHIBIT 21
Textron Verbindungstechnik GmbH & Co. O.H.G. (99%; 1% - Jacobsen
E-Z-GO Textron Vermietungs und Beteiligungs GmbH)
Textron Fastening Systems site de Creteil S.A.S.
Textron Fastening Systems site de Ferte Frenel S.A.S.
Textron Fastening Systems site de Vieux Conde S.A.S.
Textron Fastening Systems Inc.
Elco Textron Inc.
Flexalloy Inc.
InteSys Technologies, Inc.
Ring Screw Textron Inc.
Textron Financial Corporation
Cessna Finance Corporation
Textron Financial Investment Corporation
Textron IPMP Inc.
Textron Innovations Inc.
Textron Providence Inc.
TRAK International, Inc.
Turbine Engine Components Textron (Newington Operations) Inc.
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Germany
France
France
France
Delaware
Delaware
Ohio
Massachusetts
Michigan
Delaware
Kansas
Rhode Island
Delaware
Delaware
Rhode Island
Delaware
Connecticut

EXHIBIT 23
Consent of Independent Auditors
We consent to the incorporation by reference in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Textron Inc. of our report dated January 29, 2004, included
in the 2003 Annual Report to Shareholders of Textron Inc.
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements: Form S-8 No. 333-101183 pertaining to the Textron
Savings Plan, Form S-8 No. 333-101180 pertaining to the 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan, Form S-3 No. 333-84599 pertaining to the $2 Billion
Shelf Registration, Form S-8 No. 333-78145 pertaining to the 1999 Long Term Incentive Plan, Form S-8 No. 333-50931 pertaining to the
Textron Canada Savings Plan, Form S-8 No. 333-07121 pertaining to the Elco Plans, Form S-8 No. 33-63741 pertaining to the Textron Savings
Plan, Form S-8 No. 33-57025 pertaining to the 1994 Long Term Incentive Plan, Form S-8 No. 33-38094 pertaining to the 1990 Long Term
Incentive Plan of Textron Inc., and Form S-8 No. 333-105100 pertaining to the 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan and in the related Prospectuses
and Prospectuses' Supplements of our report dated January 29, 2004, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Textron Inc.
incorporated by reference in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended January 3, 2004.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
February 25, 2004

EXHIBIT 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY
The undersigned, Textron Inc. ("Textron") a Delaware corporation, and the undersigned directors and officers of Textron, do hereby constitute
and appoint Terrence O'Donnell, Arnold M. Friedman, Michael D. Cahn and Ann T. Willaman, and each of them, with full powers of
substitution, their true and lawful attorneys and agents to do or cause to be done any and all acts and things and to execute and deliver any and all
instruments and documents which said attorneys and agents, or any of them, may deem necessary or advisable in order to enable Textron to
comply with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission in respect
thereof, in connection with the filing of Textron's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 3, 2004, including specifically,
but without limitation, power and authority to sign the names of the undersigned directors and officers in the capacities indicated below and to
sign the names of such officers on behalf of Textron to such Annual Report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, to any and all
amendments to such Annual Report, to any instruments or documents or other writings in which the original or copies thereof are to be filed as a
part of or in connection with such Annual Report or amendments thereto, and to file or cause to be filed the same with the Securities and
Exchange Commission; and each of the undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that such attorneys and agents, and each of them, shall do or
cause to be done hereunder and such attorneys and agents, and each of them, shall have, and may exercise, all of the powers hereby conferred.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Textron has caused this Power of Attorney to be executed and delivered in its name and on its behalf by the
undersigned duly authorized officer and its corporate seal affixed, and each of the undersigned has signed his or her name thereto, on this 25th
day of February, 2004.
TEXTRON INC.
By:

ATTEST:

/s/ Frederick K. Butler
---------------------------Frederick K. Butler
Vice President and Secretary

/s/ Lewis B. Campbell
------------------Lewis B. Campbell
Chairman,
President and Chief
Executive Officer

/s/ Lewis B. Campbell
------------------Lewis B. Campbell
Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer, Director

/s/ Joe T. Ford
------------Joe T. Ford
Director

/s/ H. Jesse Arnelle
-----------------H. Jesse Arnelle
Director

/s/ Paul E. Gagne
--------------Paul E. Gagne
Director

/s/ Kathleen M. Bader
------------------Kathleen M. Bader
Director

/s/ John D. Macomber
-----------------John D. Macomber
Director

/s/ Teresa Beck
------------Teresa Beck
Director

/s/ Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG
------------------------------Lord Powell of Bayswater KCMG
Director

/s/ R. Kerry Clark
---------------R. Kerry Clark
Director

/s/ Brian H. Rowe
--------------Brian H. Rowe
Director

/s/ R. Stuart Dickson
------------------R. Stuart Dickson
Director

/s/ Sam F. Segnar
--------------Sam F. Segnar
Director

/s/ Ivor J. Evans
--------------Ivor J. Evans
Director

/s/ Martin D. Walker
-----------------Martin D. Walker
Director

/s/ Lawrence K. Fish
-----------------Lawrence K. Fish
Director

/s/ Thomas B. Wheeler
------------------Thomas B. Wheeler
Director

/s/ Ted R. French
--------------Ted R. French
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

/s/ Richard L. Yates
-----------------Richard L. Yates
Vice President and Controller
(principal accounting officer)

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
I, Lewis B. Campbell, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Textron Inc. (the "Company") certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Textron Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: February 27, 2004

s/Lewis B. Campbell
--------------------------------------Lewis B. Campbell
Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)
I, Ted R. French, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Textron Inc. (the "Company") certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Textron Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: February 27, 2004

s/Ted R. French
--------------------------------------Ted R. French
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
TEXTRON INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Textron Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2004 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the Date hereof (the "Report"), I, Lewis B. Campbell, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
Textron Inc.
Date:

February 27, 2004

s/ Lewis B. Campbell
--------------------------------------Lewis B. Campbell
Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer

Exhibit 32.2
TEXTRON INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Textron Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2004 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the Date hereof (the "Report"), I, Ted R. French, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
Textron Inc.
Date:

February 27, 2004

s/Ted R. French
--------------------------------------Ted R. French
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

